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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ETEHES

Business review

In 2017, the Government of the People’s Republic of China
(“PRC” or “China”) continued to lead the global market in terms
of renewable energy investment. China remains the world’s
largest wind power market in terms of both new and total
installed capacity. In 2017, China added 15 Giga-Watt (“GW”)
of installed wind power capacity; and now has an aggregate
total of 164 GW. However, we have seen a drop in newly
installed capacity compared to previous years, mainly due to
restriction on new projects in the heavily curtailed Northern
provinces.

China's economy has improved along with the world
economy, and the demand for power continues to rise. The
National Energy Administration (“NEA”) and relevant energy
departments of all provinces and municipalities placed
primary focus on the implementation of the “Thirteenth Five-
Year Plan” and promulgated a number of favorable policies
and regulations on optimization of energy development,
enhancement of the existing capacity of power systems,
implementation of various pilot electricity transactions
mechanism, green certificate trading, etc. These new policies
played an important role in ameliorating curtailment and
reducing the amounts owed on subsidies to renewable energy
companies. Of particular note, in April 2017, the Notice on
Liquidation of Additional Subsidies for Electricity Tariff of
Renewable Energy (EARFARAIBEREREEN MMHILE RS
BT 1ERBAN) was issued by the National Development and
Reform Commission (“NDRC”), the Ministry of Finance and the
NEA. The notice requires the payment of subsidies owed to
renewable energy companies to be paid out for all projects from
the first to the sixth batch.

The Group updated and implemented a new business strategy
called “Grow - Advance - Sustain” in 2016. Therefore 2017
has been a critical year that linked our past achievements
with future development. While we continue to improve
the operations and profitability of our existing portfolio, we
also continue to develop new wind farms. We have started
constructing a wholly-owned 74 MW wind power project located
in Songxian County of Luoyang City in Henan Province, and
is expected to be completed in 2018. At the same time, we
have started to invest in distributed solar, and successfully
commissioning, at the end of 2017, our first wholly-owned 4 MW
distributed rooftop solar project on one of our parent company’s
commercial buildings.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT EE#H&EE

Business review (continued)

We believe that we have some of the highest quality renewable
energy projects in the country. China Renewable Energy
Investment Limited (“CRE” or the “Company”, and with its
subsidiaries, collectively, the “Group”) is a private developer
and focuses more on high returns for its shareholders. As a
result, the Group has been much more selective in deciding
in which project to invest. The Group currently has seven
wind farms and one distributed rooftop solar project under
operation with a total gross capacity of 664 Mega-Watt (“MW”)
(attributable capacity of 345 MW). In 2017, the Group’s wind
farms generated an average of 2,010 utilisation hours, 62 hours
above the national average of 1,948 hours. As a result, we
believe the Group is generating more cash per Mega-Watt-hour
(“MWh”) of installed capacity compared to the national average.
In 2017, the Group, including the associates, generated
HK$288.3 million of EBITDA or HK$836,000 per MW of installed
capacity.

The Group recorded revenue of HK$131.3 million. Together with
strong performance from our associates, the Group’s net profit
after tax attributable to the equity holders was HK$60.3 million
for the year ended 31 December 2017 as compared to HK$61.1
million in 2016. Wind resources improved in the second half of
the year, helping boost earnings for the second half compared
to the first half. Basic earnings per share reached HK2.56
cents. The Group has total assets of HK$2,489.6 million as at
31 December 2017 and its cash position remains healthy, with
cash in the bank of HK$300.1 million. Net asset value per share
is HK73.81 cents.

Prospects

Fighting climate change, increasing the percentage of
renewable energy compared to coal, and reducing smog
have become important issues for China's development.
Therefore, the government continues to proactively support
the renewable energy industry through various policies. The
monitoring and control system to prevent the overbuilding of
renewable energy in areas where the transmission capacity is
inadequate has been strengthened. Moreover, six provinces
with grid curtailment of over 20% have been prohibited from
new wind farm installations. The pace of construction in
building power grids has also been quickened. In addition to
measures to reduce curtailment, the government has quickened
the reimbursement of electricity tariff subsidies for renewable
energy companies, thereby reducing accounts receivables,
and is enforcing a quota system requiring the use of renewable
energy, as well as many other policies.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT EE#H&EE

Prospects (continued)

While the renewable energy industry has developed rapidly, we
believe that there is still significant potential for improvement
in technology, which should result in significant reduction
in the cost to generate power on a cost per kilo-Watt hour
(“kKWh”) basis. With a definite trend of replacing traditional
fossil fuels, the industry will continue to grow rapidly. Although
we are still faced with the impact of unfavorable factors such
as curtailment, we are pleased to see that these problems are
slowly being resolved.

Over the past year, we have proactively responded to the
many challenges and difficulties that have faced the renewable
energy industry. By improving our operating performance and
proactively dealing with curtailment issues, we have improved
operating performance and profitability despite less than
favorable wind condition.

On the development front, the Group has over 1.3 GW wind
project pipeline; however around 1.1 GW of the pipeline is in
Inner Mongolia, which is currently still experiencing significant
curtailment. As a result, the Group will only develop this
pipeline when it is satisfied that the curtailment problem will
be resolved. We have been mainly focusing our development
efforts on provinces with minimal or no curtailment for the
past few years. In the second half of 2017, construction of our
Henan Songxian 74 MW wind project has started. As always
with construction of first-class wind farms, considerable effort
has been made to control project costs while ensuring that
construction schedules, quality and safety standards are met.
Upon commissioning in the first half of 2018, the project will
further increase our net capacity by approximately 21%.

Although the Group has been mainly focused on the wind
industry, we have also been closely monitoring the development
of other renewable energy in terms of their technology
advancement, commercial and economic viability. It is noted
that solar power investment has increased substantially in
China with favorable supporting policies in recent years. Unlike
other renewable energy players that have been focusing on
utility-scale solar project development, the Group has decided
to focus more on distributed solar, where we believe we have
a competitive advantage given our parent company, HKC
(Holdings) Limited (“HKC"), is a real estate developer. The
Group has completed development on its first 4 MW distributed
rooftop solar project on one of HKC’s commercial buildings
located in Nanxun district of Huizhou City in Zhejiang Province.
The project was in commissioning ahead of schedule at the end
of 2017. Going forward, the Group may consider investing in
additional distributed solar projects, particularly in high power
demand provinces around the southern and eastern coastal
regions of China.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT EE#H&EE

Prospects (continued)

| am pleased to say that 2017 was a year of strong progress
for the company. In the coming years, we will continue to be
guided by our “Grow - Advance - Sustain” strategy to meet the
challenges ahead. Our ultimate goal is to create sustainable
and increasing value for our shareholders. With our first 4
MW distributed solar project completed in 2017, together with
another 74 MW wind project to be completed in 2018, we expect
earnings to continue improving. We recognise that we are the
stewards of our shareholders’ investments in the Company;
therefore, we strive to maintain a healthy balance sheet, uphold
our values in managing our businesses, and to communicate
frequently with our shareholders on important issues. Be
assured that CRE will continue to be a responsible long-term
investor-operator in the renewable energy industry for the years
to come.

Acknowledgements

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express my greatest
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and shareholders for the dedication and support you have
shown for CRE throughout the year under review.

OEIl Kang, Eric
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEREWE D

Financial Review

For the year ended 31 December 2017, China Renewable
Energy Investment Limited (“CRE” or the “Company”, and with
its subsidiaries, collectively, the “Group”) recorded HK$131.3
million in turnover from its renewable energy business. Although
wind resources were at a lower level compared to 2016, they
did improve in the second half of the year. Moreover, the
Group’s wind farms enjoyed lower overall curtailment compared
to last year. Hence, our wholly-owned and majority-owned wind
farms performed better, which led to a 5% increase in revenue
as compared to last year's HK$125.3 million. Through various
strategies and measures focused on improving quality and
economic efficiency, the gross profit for the period increased
20% to HK$45.7 million (2016: HK$38.2 million).

However, low wind conditions affected our wind farms
operations under our associates, leading to a drop in the overall
performance and lowered the net profit contribution to the
Group. The net profit from the associates was HK$67.6 million
as compared to last year's HK$72.0 million.

The Group’s net profit after tax attributable to the equity
holders of the Group was HK$60.3 million for the year ended 31
December 2017 as compared to HK$61.1 million for the same
period in 2016. This represents basic earnings per share of
HK2.56 cents, compared to 2016 basic earnings per share of
HK2.59 cents.

As at 31 December 2017, the Group’s total bank borrowings
was HK$440.3 million as compared to HK$465.4 million in 2016.
The difference was mainly due to the net effect of the draw
down of a new bank loan for the Henan Songxian wind project,
repayment of principal with existing project loans and currency
exchange differences.

The bank borrowings include interest-bearing RMB bank loans
to the Group’s wind farm projects in the People’s Republic
of China, with interest rates fixed at the People’s Bank of
China rates. The maturity dates for the Group’s outstanding
borrowings were spread over the next 14 years. There were
HK$88.9 million repayable within one year, HK$300.0 million
repayable within two to five years and HK$51.4 million
repayable over five years.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS EXEE

Financial Review (continued)

Liquidity and Financial Resources (continued)
The Group’s unrestricted bank deposits and cash were
HK$300.1 million as at 31 December 2017 as compared to
HK$214.1 million in 2016. Such increase was due to receipt
of a shareholder loan HK$220.0 million from Creator Holdings
Limited.

As the borrowings and incomes are in RMB, no hedging is
required. The Group did not use any financial instruments for
financial hedging purposes during the period under review.

Details of Charges in Group Assets

The Group’s subsidiaries have charged their assets including
wind power equipment, prepaid land lease payments and trade
receivables, worth approximately RMB786.9 million (equivalent
to HK$943.9 million) as security for the bank borrowings as at
31 December 2017. Assets, worth approximately RMB857.5
million (equivalent to HK$953.2 million), were charged as at 31
December 2016. The difference was due to the depreciation of
assets and fluctuation of the RMB currency.

Gearing Ratio

As at 31 December 2017, the Group’s net gearing ratio, which
was the total borrowings plus amount due to a shareholder less
unrestricted bank deposits and cash divided by total equity,
was 21% as compared to 16% as at 31 December 2016.

Contingent Liabilities
The Group did not have any contingent liabilities as at 31
December 2017 (Nil as at 31 December 2016).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS EEEim R o

Business Review

In 2017, China’s economy and power consumption grew
steadily. Total power consumption reached around 6,307,700
Giga-Watt-hours (“GWh”), representing an increase of 6.6% as
compared to 2016. Total wind power output was 305,700 GWh,
an increase of around 26.3% compared to 2016, accounting
for 4.8% of total power generation across the country. Total
solar power output was 118,200 GWh, an increase of around
78.6% compared to 2016, accounting for 1.9% of total power
generation across the country. The overall growth in electricity
demand and renewable energy output as a percentage of total
energy output continued to increase in 2017. This is expected
to continue during China’s 13th Five-Year Plan period. During
2017, the government and grid company announced a number
of policies and regulations to support the renewable energy
industry. The State Grid and the National Energy Administration
(“NEA”) announced goals to further reduce wind and solar
power curtailment from 20% in 2016 to less than 5% by 2020,
for which we have already seen some impact in 2017. Both wind
power and solar power curtailment decreased from around 17%
and 10% to around 12% and 6% respectively.

In the past year, the Group has actively responded to market
changes through innovation in all aspects of our business. In
particular, we focus on quality of development and operational
effectiveness. In 2017, we put in considerable effort to
strengthen and streamline operations, spare parts procurement,
and risk management in order to reduce our unit cost (“cost
per kWh of generation”) and to improve project economics. As
a result, despite wind resources that were below expectations,
we were able to achieve a similar level of power generation and
utilisation hours compared to 2016. In 2017, our wind farms
dispatched a total of 1,325.2 GWh as compared to 1,345.5 GWh
in 2016. The average utilisation hours was 2,010 hours (2,038
hours in 2016), 62 hours higher than the national average. Our
continued outperformance compared to the national average is
a strong positive indicator of the Group’s selective investment
approach and technical expertise in operating wind farms
efficiently.

In 2017, we made good progress both in terms of development
and construction of new projects. We began construction on our
wholly-owned Henan Songxian 74 MW wind project in the fourth
quarter of 2017. We expect the project to start commissioning
in mid 2018 and start contributing revenue to the Group in the
second half of 2018.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS EEEim R o

Business Review (continued)

The Group continues to adhere to our principle of investing
in only the highest quality renewable energy projects — those
projects with high potential return in regions not subject to
curtailment. We are particularly excited about the potential for
distributed solar and began exploring a 4 MW opportunity at
Nanxun in the second quarter of 2017. We obtained the final
approval from relevant authorities by the third quarter, began
construction, and put the project in commissioning ahead of
schedule and below budget by the end of the year.

Mudanjiang and Muling wind farms, located in Heilongjiang
province, have a total of 59.5 MW of wind power capacity. The
wind farms started commercial operation in the fourth quarter
of 2007. The Group holds majority stakes of 86% and 86.68%
respectively. Power dispatch was around 72.3 million Kilo-Watt-
hour (“KWh”), which was equivalent to 1,215 utilisation hours
in 2017. Power demand in the region has improved slightly. By
optimizing our operation and maintenance plan, we have also
increased our average wind turbine availability. In addition,
curtailment has declined. As a result, we achieved a much
better performance this year as compared to last year's 56.9
million KWh (or 956 utilisation hours) power dispatch.

Siziwang Qi Phase | & Il wind farm has a total of 99 MW of wind
power capacity and is wholly-owned by the Group. It is located
16 kilometres north of Wulanhua under Siziwang Qi of Western
Inner Mongolia. Commercial operation of Phase | and Il started
in January 2011 and January 2015 respectively. The wind farms
are the first two phases of a strategic 1,000 MW wind farm base
for the Group. Siziwang Qi Phase | & Il wind farm dispatched
approximately 166.2 million KWh (an equivalent to 1,679
utilisation hours) in 2017. Although wind turbine availability
has improved and curtailment level was similar to last year,
lower wind resources has led to a slight decrease in power
dispatch as compared to last year's 171.0 million KWh (or 1,724
utilisation hours).
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Business Review (continued)

The Group has a 40% effective equity interest in the 200
MW Danjinghe wind farm located in Hebei. The majority and
controlling shareholder is the wind division subsidiary of China
Energy Conservation and Environmental Protection Group
(collectively “CECEP”), which holds 60%. The entire wind
farm, which consists of three phases, started commercial
operation in September 2010. The power dispatched in 2017
was approximately 415.3 million KWh (an equivalent to 2,076
utilisation hours). As the project was obtained through the
national tendering process, the wind farm enjoys minimal
curtailment. Wind resources in the first half of 2017 were worse
than the first half of 2016 (especially in the months of February,
March and May 2017), although second half wind resources
returned to normal. Overall, power dispatch declined compared
to last year’'s 437.1 million KWh (or 2,185 utilization hours).

Changma wind farm, located in Gansu province, is a joint
venture with the wind division subsidiary of CECEP. The Group
has a 40% effective interest in the project company. The 201
MW wind farm started commercial operation in November 2010.
This project, also obtained through national tendering, enjoyed
minimal curtailment in 2017 and dispatched around 445.2
million KWh (an equivalent to 2,215 utilisation hours). Slightly
lower average wind resources led to a minor decrease in power
dispatch as compared to last year’'s 455.5 million KWh (or 2,266
utilisation hours).

Lunaobao wind farm is a joint venture with the wind division
subsidiary of CECEP, and is adjacent to the Danjinghe wind
farm. The Group has a 30% effective equity interest. The 100.5
MW wind farm commenced commercial operation in February
2011. Unlike Danjinghe, Lunaobao wind farm was not obtained
through the national tendering process; and, hence, does
not enjoy low curtailment. The power dispatched in 2017 was
around 226.2 million KWh (an equivalent to 2,251 utilisation
hours). Wind resources and curtailment in the region was similar
to 2016, therefore the power dispatch was similar to last year’s
225.0 million KWh (or 2,239 utilisation hours).
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Business Model & Risks Management
CRE’s main business is acting as an investor-operator in
China’s renewable energy sector, in which we secure, develop,
construct and operate power stations in order to provide
reliable electricity to customer. As one of the main external
investors in China’s renewable energy sector, the Group is well
positioned to contribute to the government’s plan for a low-
carbon economy.

Our Group strategy “Grow - Advance - Sustain” guides our
operations and development going forward. All investment
opportunities are evaluated by the Executive Committee and the
Board thoroughly based on a balance of the project economic,
environmental and social benefits. We plan to continue to
develop renewable energy projects and to look for growth
investment opportunities in new technologies. In CRE, every
KWh energy output counts. We therefore strive to innovate
and advance in all aspects of our business and operations
to continuously enhance our profitability with an ultimate
goal to create sustainable value and increasing return for
shareholders.

Risk management is the responsibility of everyone within the
Group; risk is inherent in our business and the market in which
it operates. Rather than being a standalone process, risk
management is integrated into our daily business process, from
project level day-to-day operation to corporate level strategy
development and investment decisions.

Through a bottom up approach, we identify and review
existing and emerging risks semi-annually. |dentified risks
are then monitored and discussed at the Group level. The
risk management process is overseen by the Executive
Committee and the Board as an element of our strong corporate
governance. Within CRE, all risks factors are classified under
6 different categories, (i) Policy and Regulations, (ii) Legal
and Compliance, (iii) Safety, Health and Environmental,
(iv) Financial, (v) Operational and (vi) Reputational and
are evaluated through assessing their consequences and
likelihood. With a continuous and proactive approach to
risk management, the Group is committed to identifying
material risks and then to managing these so that they can be
understood, minimised, mitigated or avoided.
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Outlook

China’s renewable energy industry continues to benefit from
previously announced policies. Curtailment, for example, was
reduced in 2017, a trend which we expect will continue in
2018. Reduced curtailment will improve project economics
in the Northern provinces. Reflecting that reduction, CRE’s
Heilongjiang wind farm has already experienced reduced
curtailment and improved earnings. We anticipate that our
projects in Inner Mongolia will start to benefit beginning in 2018.
The Group has and will continue to enhance our communication
with grid companies and will put in all necessary effort to
respond to grid requirements in order to minimize curtailment.
In 2017, we have conducted in-depth analysis of the regional
electricity markets and various pilot market schemes, such as
those for cross-regional power supply as well as direct power
supply for large energy consumers. Overall, we are seeing more
companies joining such schemes and the rules and guidelines
are becoming more clear and mature. When the timing is
right, we may start joining such schemes in order to further
maximise power generation, lower curtailment, and enhance our
profitability.

On the negative side, we note that subsidies for the industry
are being reduced for new projects given technological
improvement has reduced capital costs. In addition, finding
new projects is becoming increasingly difficult given quotas
on the number of new renewable projects that are allowed
in regions where curtailment remains a problem. Moreover,
construction challenges are increasing given more stringent
land and forestry approvals and higher environmental
protection requirements.

Over the next few years, the Group will focus on certain
selective regions based on detailed assessments of the
resources as well as the potential grid curtailment trend.
In 2018, our Henan Songxian 74 MW wind project should
be completed. Efforts will be made to control project costs
by ensuring that construction schedules are met and that
the project is commissioned on time. After the successful
completion of our first 4 MW distributed rooftop solar project,
we intend to look for other distributed solar projects in China,
and possibly Hong Kong. We believe we have a competitive
advantage given our parent company is a property developer.
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Outlook (continued)

In addition to our pipeline of wind projects currently under
wind measurement, we are also evaluating new opportunities
in wind and solar. We are currently assessing the potential for
distributed wind. Unlike utility scale wind, there are no quotas
restricting distributed wind development. Moreover, these
projects are connected directly to the low voltage demand side
of the grid, with very limited chances of curtailment. In June
2017, the NEA issued a “Notice on Requirements in relation
to Acceleration of Construction of Distributed Wind Power
Projects”, a notice that is expected to promote the healthy
development of distributed wind power projects.

CRE is encouraged by our growth over the past 10 years.
Our focus has been on profitability rather than growth. We
have some of the country’s most profitable wind farms. Going
forward, we will continue to focus on profitable projects and will
be closely monitoring the development of the renewable energy
sector in various markets and will not rule out the possibility of
investing in other emerging market for growth in the future when
the timing is right. Yet China will remain the primary market that
we will focus on. As such, we will build on our past successes
and will continue to pursue more renewable projects in the
country.

In the near term, we expect that the transition to cleaner and
more efficient sources of energy and reform of the power
sector will bring new opportunities to independent power
producers such as CRE. The energy business is one that
rewards expertise, patience, commitment and innovation. With
over 10 years of experience in the renewable energy industry,
and with a critical mass of renewable energy projects, we
have the resilience and confidence to maintain steady growth
in our business. We will continue to grow by developing our
own project pipeline and will consider strategic alliances with
an aim to create sustainable, stable and increasing returns
for shareholders as we work towards a smarter and cleaner
tomorrow.
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Outlook (continued)

As at the end of December 2017, the Group’s operations
in Hong Kong and Mainland China employed a total of 85
employee. Our core requirement is to ensure that we attract,
retain and deploy employees with the capabilities needed
to secure, develop, construct and operate our assets. In
2017, we have strengthened our resources and capabilities
through a combination of external recruitment and internal
transfers of staff. These have enabled us to enhance
performance through common standards and processes in
safety, project management and asset management. The
Group has also appointed technical consultants on contract
terms when deemed necessary for the development of new
projects and for operation of existing projects. All employees
are remunerated according to the nature of their jobs, their
individual performances, the Group’s overall performance, and
the prevailing marketing conditions.

As one of the earliest main investors in China’s renewable
energy sector since 2006, the Group has been heavily involved
in environmental protection and support for the low carbon
development of China. CRE strives to continuously improve and
evolve in the renewable energy sector to adapt to the changing
expectation of our stakeholders while balancing the needs of
our shareholders, environment and the communities we operate
in.

The Group has over 664 MW of operating wind farms and
distributed solar project in Hebei, Heilongjiang, Gansu, Inner
Mongolia and Zhejiang provinces. Most of our projects are
located in remote northern regions. They greatly benefit the
economic development of the local area through investment,
by reducing local pollution and carbon emissions, and by
contributing to the local community through the hiring of
local staff who are given fair market based remuneration
packages. In 2017, CRE’s operating assets complied with all
local environmental related regulatory requirements. With a
total electricity generation of 1,325.2 GWh, we have reduced
approximately 431,000 tons of coal consumption and 1,025,000
tons of carbon emission. For our Songxian project that is still
being constructed in 2018, we will monitor the environmental
performance of the construction sites through regular
measurements, site supervision, and on-site audits by both CRE
internal staff and independent parties.
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Outlook (continued)

Environmental, Social and Governance Issues
(continued)

We place importance on creating positive relationships with
stakeholders through understanding and addressing their
expectations. As one of the main foreign investors in the China
renewable energy industry, we continue to maintain close
contacts with our stakeholders, including but not limited to the
Government (e.g. the Development and Reform Commission
and the Energy Administration at both national and provincial
level), local authorities (e.g. environmental and land bureau)
and State Grid Corporation through various meetings to
facilitate their understanding of our business, operations and
development direction.

The Group will continue to support the low carbon development
in China though investing in various renewable energy projects.
At the same time, we will explore other means to further
contribute to the communities we operate in as the Group grows
larger and profitability increases.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENGREEE

Mr. OEI Kang, Eric

(Executive Director, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. OEl Kang, Eric, aged 47, has been appointed as Executive
Director, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Company
since 10 April 2008. He also holds several directorships in
other members of the Group and the chairman of the Executive
Committee of the Company. Mr. OEl was educated in the USA
and obtained a Bachelor’'s Degree in Economics (with a minor
in Electrical Engineering), and a Master's Degree in Business
Administration. Earlier in his career, he worked with Peregrine
Securities Ltd. and PCCW Limited in Hong Kong, the LG Group
in Seoul and McKinsey & Co. in Los Angeles, USA. Mr. OEl is
currently an Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer of
HKC (Holdings) Limited (“HKC”, together with its subsidiaries,
the “HKC Group”), the shares of which are listed on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the "Stock
Exchange") and the controlling shareholder of the Company. He
is also a director of certain subsidiaries of HKC. Mr. OEl is also
the director and the shareholder of Claudio Holdings Limited,
the controlling shareholder of HKC.

Mr. LEUNG Wing Sum, Samuel

(Executive Director and Chief Financial Officer)

Mr. LEUNG Wing Sum, Samuel, aged 54 has been appointed as
Executive Director and Chief Financial Officer of the Company
since 1 December 2008. He joined the Group in April 2008 as
Qualified Accountant of the Company. He also holds several
directorships in other members of the Group and is a member of
the Executive Committee of the Company. Mr. LEUNG has been
appointed as Executive Director of HKC since 1 September
2015. He is currently the Chief Financial Officer of HKC and
also a director of certain subsidiaries of HKC. Mr. LEUNG is a
certified practising accountant of CPA Australia. Mr. LEUNG
obtained a Master’s Degree in Business from RMIT University
of Australia. He has over 20 years’ experience in auditing
and finance management with an international audit firm and
other major conglomerates in Hong Kong. Prior to joining the
Group, Mr. LEUNG was a director of internal control and risk
management of HKC.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT EEZENSHEEE

Mr. WONG Jake Leong, Sammy

(Executive Director)

Mr. WONG Jake Leong, Sammy, aged 57, has been appointed
as Executive Director of the Company since 1 January 2014.
He has been instrumental in raising funds for the Group. Mr.
WONG is the Investor Relations Director of the Group, and is
currently serving as a member of the Executive Committee
of the Company. He is also a Director of certain subsidiaries
of the Group. Since 2007, Mr. WONG has joined HKC, and is
an Executive Director of HKC. He also serves as a Director of
certain subsidiaries of the HKC Group.

Mr. WONG received a Bachelor’'s degree in the geophysical
sciences from the University of Chicago and an MBA from
the Yale School of Management. Before Yale, he worked as a
petroleum geologist at Sohio Petroleum. After Yale, Mr. WONG
became an investment banker at Kidder, Peabody in New
York, where he was involved in project finance. He moved to
Hong Kong with Bear Stearns, and was involved in a variety of
corporate finance activities, including some of the first H share
IPOs out of China. Mr. WONG then worked in equity research at
Societe Generale where he was in charge of the research efforts
in Shanghai; and later as vice President and head of China
Research at Credit Suisse in Hong Kong. Before joining HKC,
Mr. WONG served as a Chief Financial Officer for DVN Holdings
Limited (now known as “Frontier Services Group Limited”),
where he was involved in fund raising and introducing strategic
investors to the company.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT EEZENSHEEE

Mr. YU Hon To, David

(Independent Non-executive Director)

Mr. YU Hon To, David, aged 69, has been appointed as
Independent Non-executive Director of the Company since
10 April 2008. He is also a member of the Audit Committee,
Nomination Committee and Remuneration Committee of
the Company. Mr. YU is a fellow member of the Institute
of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales and an
associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. He has extensive experience in the
fields of auditing, corporate finance, financial investigation
and corporate management. He was formerly a partner of an
international accounting firm.

Mr. YU is currently an independent non-executive director of
the following companies listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange, namely China Resources Gas Group Limited (stock
code: 1193), Haier Electronics Group Co., Ltd. (stock code:
1169), Keck Seng Investments (Hong Kong) Limited (stock
code: 184), Media Chinese International Limited (which is also
listed in Malaysia; Hong Kong stock code: 685, Malaysia stock
code: 5090), One Media Group Limited (stock code: 426) and
Playmates Holdings Limited (stock code: 635). Mr. YU is also
an independent non-executive director of New Century Asset
Management Limited, the manager of New Century Real Estate
Investment Trust (stock code: 1275), a company listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

Mr. YU was an independent non-executive director of Bracell
Limited (formerly known as “Sateri Holdings Limited”) (stock
code: 1768), Great China Holdings Limited (stock code: 141)
and Synergis Holdings Limited (stock code: 2340) (companies
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange).
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT EEZENSHEEE

Mr. TIAN Yuchuan

(Independent Non-executive Director)

Mr. TIAN Yuchuan, aged 53, has been appointed as
Independent Non-executive Director of the Company since
23 April 2013. He is also a member of the Audit Committee,
Nomination Committee and Remuneration Committee of
the Company. Mr. TIAN is the President of DDR Capital
Management LLC. He holds a Bachelor of Arts Degree from
Beijing Foreign Studies University. Mr. TIAN also obtained an
executive education program certificate from Cheung Kong
Graduate School of Management in 2009 and completed a
program in leadership and public policy at University of Oxford
in 2012. He has over 31 years of experience in multinational
business, corporate management, international equity
investment and corporate finance. Mr. TIAN was the executive
director and chief executive officer of CITIC Dameng Holdings
Limited (stock code: 1091), a company listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange. He also held senior positions in several
subsidiaries of CITIC Group between 1986 and 2004. Mr. TIAN
was employed as the Senior Vice President, Corporate Strategy
and Development and served as a director of some subsidiaries
of HKC between April 2006 to March 2008.

Mr. ZHANG Songyi

(Independent Non-executive Director)

Mr. ZHANG Songyi, aged 62, has been appointed as
Independent Non-executive Director of the Company since 1
January 2016. He is also a member of the Audit Committee,
Nomination Committee and Remuneration Committee of the
Company. He obtained a Juris Doctor degree from Yale
University in 1985. Mr. ZHANG currently serves in senior
management and advisory capacities in several companies,
including acting as the chairman of Mandra Capital and a
director of SINA Corporation and Athenex, Inc., companies
listed on the NASDAQ Stock Market. Mr. ZHANG is currently an
independent non-executive director of China Longyuan Power
Group Corporation Limited, the shares of which are listed on the
main board of the Stock Exchange. He is also a non-executive
director of Jimu Group Limited (formerly known as “Ever Smart
International Holdings Limited”), the shares of which are listed
on the GEM of the Stock Exchange. Mr. ZHANG was previously
an Independent Non-executive Director of the Company from
April 2008 to April 2013.
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Corporate Governance Practices

China Renewable Energy Investment Limited (the “Company”,
and with its subsidiaries, collectively, the “Group”) is committed
to good corporate governance principles and practices and its
board of directors (the “Directors” or the “Board”) recognises
that it is essential to safeguard the interests of shareholders,
customers and employees and uphold accountability,
transparency and responsibility of the Company.

The Company has applied the principles and complied with
the code provisions and certain recommended best practices
set out in the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”),
contained in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) during the year ended
31 December 2017, save for the deviations with considered
reasons as explained in the following relevant paragraphs.

Board of Directors

The Company has at all time during the year ended 31
December 2017 maintained a balanced board with strong
independent element. The Board currently comprises six
Directors with three Executive Directors and three Independent
Non-executive Directors. Each Director possesses expertise
and experience and provides checks and balances for
safeguarding the interests of the Group and the shareholders
as a whole. In addition, the Company had maintained three
Independent Non-executive Directors which formed at least
one-third of the full Board. Biographical details of the Directors
and their relationships, where applicable, are set out in pages
18 to 21 of this Annual Report.

During the year, the Board at all times met the requirements
of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at least
three Independent Non-executive Directors with at least one
Independent Non-executive Director possessing appropriate
professional qualifications, or accounting or related financial
management expertise. The independence of the Independent
Non-executive Directors was assessed in accordance with
the applicable Listing Rules. Each of the Independent Non-
executive Directors has provided to the Company an annual
confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules. The Company considers that all of them are
independent.
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Board of Directors (continued)

According to the Code Provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the
roles of chairman and chief executive officer (“CEQO”) should
be separate and performed by different individuals. Under the
current organisation structure of the Company, the functions
of CEO are performed by the Chairman, Mr. OEI Kang, Eric,
with support from the other Executive Directors. The Board
considers that this structure will not impair the balance of
power and authority between the Board and the management
of the Company, and has been effective in discharging its
responsibilities satisfactorily and facilitating the Company’s
operation and business development. The Board will review the
structure from time to time to ensure it continues to meet the
principle and will consider segregation of the roles of chairman
and CEO if and when appropriate.

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the
Group and is collectively responsible for promoting the success
of the Group by directing and supervising the Group’s affairs
and formulating business strategies with a view to maximising
its financial performance and shareholders’ value.

The Board has delegated various responsibilities and powers
to the Board committees to assist it in efficiently implementing
those functions specified in written terms of reference.

Decisions relating to the long-term objectives and viability of
the Company, and any acquisitions or disposal of transactions
and investments of any kind with value exceeding the authority
of the Executive Committee set out in its terms of reference or
the threshold for discloseable transactions for the Company as
defined in the Listing Rules from time to time are reserved for
the Board; whereas decisions on matters set out in the terms of
reference of the Executive Committee and those not specifically
reserved for the Board are delegated to the Executive
Committee and management, as applicable.

Directors are provided with sufficient resources to seek
independent professional advice in performing their duties
at the Company’s expense and are encouraged to consult
with the Company’s senior management independently. The
management provides monthly management accounts of the
Group to the Directors to apprise them of the Group’s latest
performance and financial position.
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Board of Directors (continued)

Directors are requested to disclose to the Company at the time
of his appointment and in a timely manner for any change,
the number and nature of offices held in public companies
or organisations and other significant commitments. Such
changes will be updated and published in the annual and
interim reports as appropriate.

The Company has arranged appropriate liability insurance to
indemnify the Group’s Directors for their liabilities arising out of
corporate activities. The insurance coverage is reviewed on an
annual basis.

All new appointment of Directors and nomination of Directors
proposed for re-election at the annual general meeting are
first considered by the Nomination Committee. The Nomination
Committee will assess the candidate or incumbent on criteria
such as integrity, experience, skill and ability to commit time
and effort to carry out the duties and responsibilities. Having
due regard for the benefits of diversity of the Board, the
Nomination Committee will then be put recommendations to the
Board for decision. Details of the role and function as well as a
summary of the work performed by the Nomination Committee
are set out under the heading of “Nomination Committee”
below.

In accordance with the articles of association of the Company
(the “Articles of Association”), the nearest to but not less than
one-third of the Directors shall retire from office by rotation but
are eligible for re-election by shareholders at the annual general
meeting provided that every Director is subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years. New appointments to
the Board are also subject to re-election by shareholders at the
next following annual general meeting.

All Independent Non-executive Directors of the Company
were appointed with no specific term, but are subject to the
aforesaid rotation requirement in the Articles of Association,
accomplishing the same purpose as being appointed for a
specific term pursuant to Code Provision A.4.1 of the CG
Code. The rotating Directors who are subject to retirement and
re-election at 2018 annual general meeting are set out on page
51 of this Annual Report.
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Board of Directors (continued)

The Board adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board
Diversity Policy”) on 8 July 2013.

Below is the summary of the Board Diversity Policy:

The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having
a diverse Board, and sees increasing diversity at Board level as
an essential element in maintaining a competitive advantage. All
appointments of the members of the Board are made on merit,
in the context of the skills and experience the Board as a whole
requires to be effective. In designing the Board composition,
the Company is committed to equality of opportunity in all
aspects and does not discriminate on the grounds, including
but not limited to, ethnicity, gender, age, cultural and religious
background.

The Nomination Committee discussed and agreed the
measurable objectives for achieving diversity on the Board
and recommended them to the Board for adoption. During the
year, the Committee reviewed the existing composition of the
Board and received and accepted the progress report from
the management in relation to identified business skills and
experience required and their ranking and the action plan for
recruiting new Board member. It also monitored the review of
the Company’s recruitment process to reinforce its commitment
to the principle of equal opportunity.

The Directors meet from time to time to discuss and exchange
ideas on the affairs of the Company. The Board has set up
various Board Committees, among others, the Audit Committee,
the Nomination Committee, the Remuneration Committee and
the Executive Committee for overseeing particular aspects
of the Group’s affairs. The terms of reference of the Audit
Committee, the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration
Committee are available on both the websites of the Company
and the Stock Exchange.
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Board of Directors (continued)

During the year, the following meetings of the Board, the Audit
Committee, the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration
Committee were held and the attendance of the individual
Directors at these meetings is set out in the table below:

==

FR - BFEE BERLZBE® REEZ
REELETTIER  SEENZRFER 2L

FERERTX

Number of meetings attended/
Number of meetings eligible to attend

HESRYA SERLESEUE

Audit Remuneration Nomination
Name of Directors Board Committee Committee Committee
EEnE Exg BRZEEE SMzEES REZEE
Executive Directors H{TES
Mr. OEI Kang, Eric =Ml%4 4/4 2/2 (Note PH¥E)  1/1 (Note Fiiz)  1/1 (Note M &)
Mr. LEUNG Wing Sum, Samuel 245k % 4 44 2/2 (Note FfizE) N/AT i N/ATE A
Mr. WONG Jake Leong, Sammy Z1ER &4 4/4 2/2 (Note Fff3E) N/AR i N/AR i
Independent Non-executive Directors BY FH{TEE
Mr. YU Hon To, David 8122 L& 4/4 4/4 11 11
Mr. TIAN Yuchuan B E)II% 4 4/4 4/4 11 11
Mr. ZHANG Songyi &8 7t & 3/4 3/4 1/1 1/1

Note: The Executive Directors attended the relevant meetings as invitees.

Notices of not less than fourteen days are given for all regular
board meetings to provide all Directors with an opportunity to
attend and include matters in the agenda for a regular meeting.
For committee meetings, reasonable notice is generally given.
The agenda and accompanying board papers are dispatched
to the Directors or committee members at least three days
before the meetings to ensure that they have sufficient time
to review the papers and be adequately prepared for the
meetings. When Directors or committee members are unable
to attend a meeting, they are advised of the matters to be
discussed and given an opportunity to make their views known
to the Chairman and CEO prior to the meeting.

Minutes of the board meetings and committee meetings are
recorded in sufficient detail on the matters considered by the
Board and the committees and the decisions reached, including
any concerns raised by the Directors. Draft minutes of each
board meeting and committee meeting are sent to the Directors
for comments within a reasonable time after the date of the
meeting. All Directors have access to the Company Secretary,
who is responsible for ensuring that the board procedures are
complied with and advising the Board on compliance matters.
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Board of Directors (continued)

The Chairman and CEO acknowledged the significance of
promoting a culture of openness and debate among the Board
members. To facilitate the effective contribution of Independent
Non-executive Directors, the Chairman and CEO held a meeting
with Independent Non-executive Directors without the other
Executive Directors present in June 2017.

Remuneration Committee

The Company has established a Remuneration Committee
with written terms of reference. The Remuneration Committee,
chaired by an Independent Non-executive Director, currently
comprises three members namely Mr. YU Hon To, David,
Mr. TIAN Yuchuan and Mr. ZHANG Songyi, all of whom are
Independent Non-executive Directors.

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for making
recommendations to the Board on the Company’s remuneration
policy and structure for Directors and senior management,
and reviewing their remuneration packages. In arriving at its
recommendations, the Remuneration Committee will consult
with the Chairman and CEO whenever it thinks fit and take
into consideration factors such as the remuneration paid by
comparable companies, skill, knowledge, time commitment
and responsibilities of Directors. The Remuneration Committee
has the responsibility, powers and discretion to determine,
with delegated responsibility, the remuneration packages of
individual Executive Directors and senior management.

During the year under review, the Remuneration Committee held
one meeting to review, inter alia, the remuneration policy and
structure of Directors including those retired and re-elected at
the 2017 annual general meeting of the Company and approve
the year-end bonus and salary increment of the Executive
Directors. No Director was involved in deciding his own
remuneration. The attendance records of each member at the
meeting of the Remuneration Committee are set out on page 26.
Details of the Directors’ and senior management’s remuneration
for the year are set out in note 32 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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Nomination Committee

The Company has established a Nomination Committee with
written terms of reference. The Nomination Committee, chaired
by an Independent Non-executive Director, currently comprises
three members namely Mr. YU Hon To, David, Mr. TIAN
Yuchuan and Mr. ZHANG Songyi, all of whom are Independent
Non-executive Directors. The Nomination Committee held one
meeting during the year, and the attendance details of each
member are set out on page 26.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing the
structure, size and composition of the Board at least annually,
identifying suitable candidates for directorship, assessing
the independence of Independent Non-executive Directors,
and making recommendations to the Board on any proposed
changes to the Board to complement the Company’s corporate
strategy.

During the year, the work performed by the Nomination
Committee includes the following:

o reviewing the structure, size and composition of the
Board;

o reviewing the structure of board committees;

° assessing the independence of Independent Non-
executive Directors and sufficient number of independent
directors to maintain a balanced board;

o making recommendation to the Board relating to the re-
appointment of the retiring Directors; and

° reviewing the progress report from the management in
relation to the Board Diversity Policy.

The Company had provided the Nomination Committee
sufficient resources to perform its duties. Where necessary,
the Nomination Committee could seek independent
professional advice, at the Company’s expense, to perform its
responsibilities.
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Audit Committee

The Company has established an Audit Committee with written
terms of reference which have been updated from time to time
to align with the code provisions set out in the CG Code. The
Audit Committee, chaired by an Independent Non-executive
Director, currently comprises three members namely Mr. YU
Hon To, David, Mr. TIAN Yuchuan and Mr. ZHANG Songyi, all of
whom are Independent Non-executive Directors.

The principal responsibilities of the Audit Committee are to,
inter alia, review and supervise the Group’s financial reporting
process, internal control and risk management procedures, as
well as oversee the adequacy of the accounting and financial
reporting resources. While recognised corporate governance
is the collective responsibility of all Directors, the Board has
delegated the corporate governance functions to the members
of Audit Committee who are in an objective and independent
position to oversee the corporate governance compliance.

During the year under review, the Audit Committee held two
meetings together with senior management and external auditor
and two private meetings with the external auditor without
the management’s presence. The attendance details of each
member are set out on page 26. The major work performed by
the Audit Committee during the year included reviewing interim
and annual financial statements, internal audit reports on the
internal controls and risk management matters, the Company’s
policies and practices on corporate governance as well as
reviewing and recommending re-appointment of external
auditor.

The Company has adopted a whistleblowing guideline
for employees to raise concerns, in confidence, with the
designated executive who is accountable to the Audit
Committee about possible improprieties in financial reporting,
unlawful activities, or activities violating the Group’s Code of
Conduct and Business Ethics or otherwise amounting to serious
improper conduct and to ensure protection from possible
retaliation against any of our employees who has reported
concerns in good faith.
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Executive Committee

The Company has established an Executive Committee with
the key initiatives to manage the Group’s business activities,
and oversee the operating performance and financial position
of the Group and all strategic business units. The Executive
Committee comprises all Executive Directors of the Company
and chaired by Mr. OEl Kang, Eric.

During the year under review, the Executive Committee met
regularly to review the performance of various business units
of the Group, coordinate overall resources, made financial
and operation decisions delegated by the Board, review and
develop investment strategy and policies of the Company and
make relevant recommendations to the Board.

Delegation by the Board

The management, consisting of the Executive Directors of the
Company and executives, is delegated with responsibilities
for implementing the strategy and direction as adopted by
the Board from time to time, and conducting the day-to-day
operations of the Group. Executive Directors and executives
meet regularly to review the performance of the businesses
of various business units of the Group as a whole, co-
ordinate overall resources and make financial and operation
decisions. The Board also gives clear directions as to their
powers of management including circumstances where
management should report back, and will review the delegation
arrangements on a periodic basis to ensure that they remain
appropriate to the needs of the Group.

Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers set out in Appendix
10 to the Listing Rules (the “Model Code”) as its own code
of conduct regarding Directors’ securities transactions.
Having made specific enquiries, the Company has obtained
confirmation from all Directors that they have complied with the
required standards set out in the Model Code during the year
ended 31 December 2017.

The Company has also adopted a code for dealing in the
Company’s securities by relevant employees, who are likely to
be in possession of unpublished inside information in relation to
the securities of the Group, on no less exacting terms than the
Model Code.
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Directors’ Responsibility for the
Financial Statements

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing
the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2017
which give a true and fair view of the affairs of the Company
and the Group and of the Group’s results and cash flows. In
preparing the financial statements, the Directors have adopted
generally accepted accounting standards in Hong Kong and
suitable accounting policies and applied them consistently,
made judgements and estimates that are prudent, fair and
reasonable and prepared the financial statements on a going
concern basis.

The statement of the Company’s auditor about their reporting
responsibilities on the financial statements of the Company is
set out in the Independent Auditor’'s Report on pages 63 to 69.

Auditors’ Remuneration

For the year ended 31 December 2017, the fees in respect
of audit and non-audit services provided to the Group by
the auditor amounted to approximately HK$1,494,000 and
HK$615,000 respectively. The non-audit services consist of
interim results review.
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Directors’ Training

For the year ended 31 December 2017, all Directors have
participated in continuous professional development to
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. The training
programmes included seminars and courses, reviewed the
updated laws, rules and regulations and materials on topics
relevant to the director’s duties and responsibilities. A summary
of training received by Directors during the year ended 31
December 2017 according to the records provided by the
Directors is as follows:

Name of Directors

EEEH
RBE_ZE—tF+__A=+—HILFE 28
EXC2EBEEXEER  UERITEHAZN
e o IBIIFH BB E A g MR - mE&IA
2 RAUEBROARBVEARESREMRE
B - REEEREZBIIRKE  EFREE—
E—tF+_A=+—RHIFEGEXZHEIH
C: 3 UNNE

Training on corporate governance,

regulatory development and other relevant topics

EEgE TEER  EERERHEEREEZEI
Executive Directors $I1TEE

Mr. OEl Kang, Eric =M/l %4 4
Mr. LEUNG Wing Sum, Samuel 243kt 4 v
Mr. WONG Jake Leong, Sammy =18 R &4 v
Independent Non-executive Directors B kI ITESE

Mr. YU Hon To, David §1£[E %4 4
Mr. TIAN Yuchuan B EJIIE4 4
Mr. ZHANG Songyi 3R 5E 4 4

The Company continuously updates Directors on the latest
developments in the statutory and regulatory regime and
the business environment to facilitate the discharge of their
responsibilities. In addition, the Directors are regularly
encouraged to enroll in a wide range of professional
development courses and seminars regarding the Listing Rules
and other regulatory requirements to enhance their awareness
of good corporate governance practices.
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Risk Management and Internal Control
The Board is responsible for the Group’s risk management
and internal control systems and reviewing their effectiveness,
while management is charged with the responsibility to design,
implement and monitor the risk management and internal
control systems to manage risks and compliance.

Risk Management Model

[\ Ba B I B A BREE 12
FEREEERALE Y ARETERNPELR
g5 LRATERA  MERBAGE R - 9T
RERBRERRANBELRSAEERR RS
FEE -

B EEER

The Board / Audit Committee
BEExg EXZEE

Senior Management
BREEE
T T T

(Own and Manage Risks)

(REREERR) (EEERE )
Financial Control
AT i
Management Internal BT B Y
el Control Risk Management
Measures AR
EIRELE ST et +
W ﬂBm:L%I?EIE@ Compliance
ERES

As the first line of defense, operational management is
responsible for maintaining effective internal controls and
for executing risk and control procedures on day-to-day
operation. Management of Head Office establishes various risk
management and compliance functions to provide direction on
the importance of risk management and monitor the first line of
defense controls. The Internal Control and Risk Management
(“ICRM”) Department reviews and provides independent
assurance on the effectiveness of risk management and internal
control systems of the Group.
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Risk Management and Internal Control [E S K& AEPEEE @)

(continued)

Internal Control Framework A BR EEfE HE 2R

The Group has in place an integrated internal control framework A< % @B 2 & i # COSO (Committee of
that is consistent with the COSO (Committee of Sponsoring  Sponsoring Organisations of the Treadway
Organisations of the Treadway Commission) framework as ~ Commission)fE2R — B2 #R & MBEPEL IR IRME » &%

illustrated below: BT

Control Environment

ERES

° Set the right tone of the Group influencing control consciousness and risk awareness of the staff.
Y ASEERNERER  NtBENEEEHLERZA -

o Factors include integrity, ethical values, competence, delegation of authority and responsibility.
REEARST  BEEE - BiEeh EERECTHEZFRE -

° Foundation for all other components of internal control.

1ERPTA E M A BREE I AR BR 0 B £ -

Risk Assessment

[2\ B B A

o Identification, evaluation and analysis of the key risks underlying the achievement of the Group’s
objectives, including the risks relating to the changing regulatory and operating environment; conducted
regularly, forming the basis for determining control activities.
EH#E  AERATEERAEEAREENEIZRR(BEAHEEEKERBTENEAR) - WAER
i B R E B o

Control Activities

ELIEEE

° Policies and procedures for ensuring management directives are carried out and necessary actions are
taken to address the risks that may hinder the achievement of the Group’s objectives.
HEBRREIEZF  BREEBZIEREUATARKRBETHRENASHELAEBEHNA R AR -

° Control activities include authorisations, approvals, verifications, performance reviews, segregation of
duties, asset security, access control, documentation and records.
ERSEERE B B BB - BEED EERE - FEUEH - XHFEREES -

Information and Communication

EMREM

° Pertinent information is identified, captured and provided to the right person in a timely manner.
ERER - IR AEE ATREEEER -

° Channels of communication across the Group and with external parties are established.
BUYAREESIMPAZEAREIRALZBRERE -

° Channels of communication exist for people to report suspected malpractices or improprieties relating to
the Group.
BRI REARNEEEBEANEREMH A TETRRLUBBERE

Monitoring

B

° Combination of ongoing and separate evaluations of control system’s performance.
FE R ARG A BT RGTHIER ©

° Management and supervisory activities.
EIRNERTIE-

° Internal audit activities.

REEE T -
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Risk Management and Internal Control
(continued)

The actions of management and its demonstrated commitment
to maintaining a high standard of corporate governance
practices within the Group are transparent to all. The Group
strives to conduct all business affairs based on good business
ethics and accountability. We have in place a formal Code
of Conduct & Business Ethics that is communicated to all
staff members. We aim to build risk awareness and control
responsibility into our culture and regard them as the foundation
of our risk management and internal control systems.

The risk management and internal control systems are designed
to monitor the Group’s ability to achieve its business objectives;
and can provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance
against material misstatement or loss.

We maintain an effective internal audit function, the ICRM
Department, whose main features include:

(i)  independence from operational management;

(i)  fully empowered auditors with access to all data and every
operation of the Group;

(iii) adequate resources and well qualified and capable staff;

(iv) risk-based auditing, concentrating on areas with
significant risks or where significant changes have been
made.

Management has an ongoing process to identify and evaluate
the significant risks facing the Group and to prioritise resources
to manage those that arise. Mitigation strategies and plans
with respect to each key risk identified are developed and
implemented with regular review and update, which include
establishing or enhancing internal controls.

Heads of the departments, projects and business units regularly
review and analyse the key risks associated with achieving
the objectives of their particular departments, activities and
businesses to provide reasonable assurance that internal
controls are both embedded and effective within their areas of
accountability.
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Risk Management and Internal Control
(continued)

The Board maintains sound and effective risk management and
internal control systems through the following:

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

36

The Board reviews the Group’s strategic plans and
objectives on an annual basis.

An organisational structure with defined lines of
responsibility and delegation of authority is devised.

Systems and procedures are in place to identify and
evaluate risks on an ongoing basis. Senior executives
review the risk assessment process and monitor the
effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems.

Appropriate policies and key control activities are
maintained with regular review on their effectiveness.

Financial performance is analysed against budget with
variances being accounted for and appropriate actions
taken to rectify deficiencies.

Senior executives ensure compliance with relevant laws,
regulations, standards and ordinances, including Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards, the Listing Rules and
the Companies Ordinance, under their responsibility.

The ICRM Department reports directly to the Audit
Committee and the CEQO, and carries out independent
reviews on the adequacy and effectiveness of the
Group’s risk management and internal control systems in
accordance with its annual audit plan approved by the
Audit Committee. Key audit findings and implementation
progress of internal control recommendations are
regularly reported to the Board through the Audit
Committee. Head of the ICRM Department also serves as
the contact person under the Whistleblowing Guideline of
the Company.
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Risk Management and Internal Control
(continued)

The Executive Directors of the Company conduct reviews
of the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems, and submit to the Audit Committee a
certification of compliance for effectiveness and efficiency of
operations, reliability of financial reporting, and compliance with
applicable laws and regulations bi-annually. The scope of this
review covers the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications
and experience, training programmes and budget of the
Group’s accounting, internal audit and financial reporting
functions.

The Audit Committee regularly reviews the audit findings and
implementation progress of internal control recommendations,
and opinion of the ICRM Department on the performance of
risk management and internal control systems of the Group.
External auditor also reports on any control issues identified in
the course of their audit work.

Taking the above into consideration, the Audit Committee
reviews the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems at least once each year and reports to
the Board on such reviews.

The Board has, through the Audit Committee, reviewed
and considered the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems effective and adequate for the year ended 31
December 2017. No significant areas of concern that might
affect the operational, financial, and compliance controls and
risk management function of the Group were identified.
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Risk Management and Internal Control
(continued)

Inside Information

With respect to procedures and internal controls for the
handling and dissemination of inside information, the Company:

(i) is aware of the obligations under the Securities and
Futures Ordinance, the applicable Listing Rules and other
statutory regulations with regard to the timely and proper
disclosure of inside information, announcements and
financial disclosures and authorises their publication as
required.

(i) has adopted and implemented its Inside Information
Disclosure Policy.

(iii) has in place a Code for Securities Dealing for governing
the securities transactions of those employees who,
because of their positions, are likely to have access to
confidential or inside information.

(iv) identifies and authorises members of the Group’s senior
management to act as the Company’s spokespersons and
respond to external enquiries.

Company Secretary

The Company Secretary reports to the Chairman and CEO
on Board or committee matters. He is an employee of HKC
(Holdings) Limited ("HKC"), the holding company of the
Company, who serves both the Company and HKC. All
Directors have direct access to the advice and services of the
Company Secretary for the ongoing discharge of their duties
and responsibilities. For the financial year ended 31 December
2017, the Company Secretary took more than 15 hours of
relevant professional training organised by the Stock Exchange
and various professional bodies.

Constitutional Documents of the
Company

The Company has published its updated and consolidated
version of Memorandum and Articles of Association at the
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company. During the
year, there was no alteration on the constitutional documents of
the Company.
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General Meeting

The last annual general meeting of the Company was held
on 23 May 2017 (the “2017 AGM”). The Chairman and CEO
chaired the 2017 AGM. The external auditor attended the 2017

BRERE
ARFL—ERRBFAGR -F—LFHA
SHERBF(ZE—LtERRBFAG]) -

ESE

RIOTBEEEE_T—LERRBEFAST

AGM to answer questions about the conduct of the audit, the & - IMNEXEENTERF T —+FREBEF K
preparation and content of the auditor’s report, the accounting €& @ UM EBEZY - REMRE 2 HEHE A
policies and auditor independence. B BETHCR R EAVE 1 2 1R o

The attendance record of the individual Directors at the 2017 KBEZHZER-_Z—+EREBEARS Y PELEE
AGM is set out in the table below: FanT

Name of Directors 2017 AGM Attended
EERR HE-Z—tFRRBFEAR
Executive Directors HI{TES

Mr. OEl Kang, Eric =M/l %4 4
Mr. LEUNG Wing Sum, Samuel 243kt 4 v
Mr. WONG Jake Leong, Sammy =18 R &4 v
Independent Non-executive Directors B FEHITEE

Mr. YU Hon To, David 81&/E 5t 4 4
Mr. TIAN Yuchuan B EJI| %4 X
Mr. ZHANG Songyi 3R 288% 4 X
Note: Independent Non-executive Directors are required to attend general  ffiF : By IFMITEEBRBELETRE FTTFANEXEA6.71E

meetings pursuant to code provision A.6.7 of the CG Code. All Independent
Non-executive Directors were encouraged to attend the general meeting
to inter-face with shareholders of the Company but some of them were not
in a position to attend the 2017 AGM due to overseas commitment and
prearranged business engagements.
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Shareholders’ Rights

40

Shareholders can put forward their proposals at an
extraordinary general meeting. Procedures for the
shareholders of the Company to convene an extraordinary
general meeting is provided for under Article 58 of
the articles of association of the Company ("Articles of
Association").

Under Article 58 of the Articles of Association, any
member(s) holding not less than one-tenth of the paid up
capital of the Company shall have the right, by written
requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary, to
require an extraordinary general meeting to be called by
the Board for the transaction of any business specified
in such requisition (“Requisitionists”). The written request
must state the resolution, preferably accompanied by
a statement of not more than one thousand words with
respect to the matter referred to in the proposed resolution
for the Company’s reference and consideration, signed by
the all Requisitionists concerned.

The written request must be deposited at the head office
of the Company at 9/F., Tower 1, South Seas Centre, 75
Mody Road, Tsimshatsui East, Kowloon, Hong Kong, for
the attention of the Company Secretary.

The request will be verified with the Company’s branch
share registrar and transfer agent in Hong Kong (the
“Branch Share Registrars”). Upon the Branch Share
Registrars’ confirmation that the request is proper and in
order, the Company will convene an extraordinary general
meeting within two months after the deposit of such
requisition, and will serve sufficient notice in accordance
with the statutory and regulatory requirements to all
members of the Company.

The procedures for the shareholders of the Company
to propose a person for election as a Director are
available and accessible on the Company’s website at
www.cre987.com.
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Communication with Shareholders

The Board believes regular and timely communication with
shareholders forms part of the Group’s effort to help our
shareholders understand our business better. Copies of
the annual reports and interim reports of the Company are
distributed to its shareholders in accordance with statutory
and regulatory requirements and also to interested parties
recorded in the Company’s mailing lists. The publications
of the Company, including financial reports, circulars and
announcements, are also available on the Company’s website
at www.cre987.com.

The Company acknowledges that general meetings are good
communication channel with the shareholders. At the general
meeting, each substantially separate issue is considered by a
separate resolution, including election of individual directors,
and the poll procedures are clearly explained. The Chairman
and CEO, other members of the Board, the Chairmen of the
relevant Board Committees and the external auditor of the
Company attended the annual general meeting to interface
with, and answer questions from the shareholders of the
Company.

Shareholders can send their enquiry to the Board by the
following ways:

Post 9/F., Tower 1, South Seas Centre, 75 Mody Road,
Tsimshatsui East, Kowloon, Hong Kong
E-mail: info@cre987.com

Fax @ (852) 2722 1323
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RE - HERERHRE

China Renewable Energy Investment Limited (the “Company”
or “CRE”, and with its subsidiaries, collectively, the “Group”)
is pleased to present its annual Environmental, Social and
Governance Report (the “ESG Report”) with disclosure
reference made to the Environmental, Social and Governance
Reporting Guide (the “ESG Reporting Guide”) as contained in
Appendix 27 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
(the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The ESG Report covers the
financial year ended 31 December 2017.

This ESG Report describes the Group’s environmental, social
and governance management approach, strategy, priorities and
objectives. It explains how the Group complies with the “comply
or explain” provisions of the ESG Reporting Guide. This ESG
Report covers the Group’s governance on the Environmental
and Social aspect. The corporate governance aspect is
addressed in more details in the Corporate Governance Report.

As one of the earliest investors in China’s renewable energy
sector since 2006, the Group has been heavily involved in
environmental protection and in reducing carbon emissions
in China. CRE strives to continuously improve and evolve in
the renewable energy sector in order to adapt to the changing
expectations of our stakeholders while balancing the needs
of our shareholders, the environment and the communities we
operate in.
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Environmental

The Group has seven wind farms and one distributed rooftop
solar project under operation with a total gross capacity of
664 MW in Hebei, Heilongjiang, Gansu, Inner Mongolia and
Zhejiang provinces. All our operating wind projects are located
in remote northern regions, which greatly benefit the economic
development of the local area through investment, by reducing
local pollution and carbon emissions, and by contributing to
the local community through the hiring of local staff who are
given fair market based remuneration packages. In 2017,
CRE’s operating assets complied with all local environmental
related regulatory requirements. With a total electricity
generation of 1,325.2GWh (2016: 1,346.2GWh), we have
reduced approximately 431,000 tons (2016: 437,288 tons) of
coal consumption and 1,025,000 tons (2016: 1,040,747 tons)
of carbon dioxide (CO,) emission. For our Songxian project
under construction in progress in 2017, we are monitoring the
environmental performance of our construction sites through
regular measurements, site supervision, and on-site audits by
both CRE internal staff and independent parties.

We place importance on creating positive relationships with
stakeholders through understanding and addressing their
expectations. As one of the main foreign investors in China’s
renewable energy industry, we continue to maintain close
contacts with our stakeholders, including but not limited to the
Government (e.g. the Development and Reform Commission
and the Energy Administration at both national and provincial
level), local authorities (e.g. environmental and land bureau)
and the State Grid Corporation through various meetings to
facilitate their understanding of our business, operations and
development direction.
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Environmental (continued)

The Group will continue to support the reduction in carbon
emissions in China though investing in various renewable
energy projects. At the same time, we will explore other means
to further contribute to the communities we operate in as the
Group grows larger and as profitability increases.

The Group does not generate any hazardous waste and water
consumption is minimal.

The Group applies the following energy saving measures in the
workplace:

- Lights and electrical appliances in living area or
workplace must be turned off when not in use.

- Staff is reminded to switch off lights and air-conditioning
in the meeting room and the computer at the workstation
when it is not in use.

- The room temperature is maintained at 25°C to save
energy.

- Video and telephone conferencing instead of face-to-face
meetings are arranged where possible.

- The Group encourages employees to reduce the use
of paper by assessing the necessity of printing, by
encouraging duplex printing where appropriate, and by
reusing the blank side of single-side printed paper.

Under the KPIs A1.1 to A1.6 of the ESG Reporting Guide,
the Company is required to disclose the data on emissions,
greenhouse gas emissions, total hazardous waste, total non-
hazardous waste and description of measures to mitigate
emissions and reduce hazardous and non-hazardous waste.

Also, under the KPIs A2.1 to A2.5 of the ESG Reporting Guide,
the Company is required to disclose the data on the energy
consumption and water consumption and the description of
energy use efficiency initiatives, water efficiency initiatives and
total packaging material used.
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Environmental (continued)

Further, under the KPlI A3.1 of the ESG Reporting Guide,
the Company is required to disclose the description of the
significant impacts of activities on the environment and natural
resources and the actions taken to manage them.

As the principal activity of the Company is renewable energy
business (including wind power and distributed solar energy
generation business), the Company viewed that the KPls A1.1
to A1.6, KPIs A2.1 to A2.5 and KPI A3.1 of the ESG Reporting
Guide are not material to the principal activities of the Company
and have not disclosed in this report.

Social

The Group regards people as its most important asset. Over
the years, the Group has put considerable effort to provide a
safe and healthy staff environment for its employees. The Group
offers a comprehensive and competitive package of benefits to
attract and retain talent.

The Group has adopted an “Employee Handbook” which
sets out the practices and policies of human resources. The
Employee Handbook is in compliance with the Labor law of
the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"), Labour Contract
Law, the Hong Kong employment laws and other relevant laws
and regulations. The Employee Handbook covers areas such
as compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion,
working hours, rest periods, diversity, and other policies for the
benefit of the employees of the Company.

The Group is an equal opportunity employer and does
not discriminate on the basis of personal characteristics.
Regardless of race, color, descent, ethnic background,
ethnic origin, gender, age, nationality, disability, veteran
status, citizenship and religion, all job applicants and current
employees enjoy equal opportunities and fair treatment. The
Group values the input and contributions made by employees of
all backgrounds.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group has
complied with all the relevant rules and regulations.

IRIB (#)

BEAN - RIBCGRE - @ REATREIES) WS
RBBIERASY  ARBIARBEB DL RER
AARBRNEARERERREEARATENTT
Eb o

HRARAIEREABERRER(BFERE
ROMAKRGREEEERR) ARBARBCRE
HERERBERES) NBARATERAIAE
A1.6 - BRBEBUEIZA2 AEA25 R AREBIEZR
ABTHARRETEXBMEUBENTE - W&
ABERNTLARKE -

\ié

=

AEEBATRREREENEE - ZFK - K
SE-EBNREERHEZE2REBEMIMER
5o AREREZEMABFHOEFGFE - X
el RBEAT -

AEECEEE [EEFM] > EFHINANE
REBREE - ZEEFMAFEHEARKME
(THESEE - SBARE - BERRBED R
HRRARER - BEFMRERELMRE
BEEBT - ITH - KEERE  ZHEUEUAREH
AprlEBRAEAMBRER -

AEBEEHETFERENEE - TERAEAR
B BwEk B M4 BERE=R - BKE
R ER - Fie 0 B BK - RMEASD

AREBRRFHMME - FETHERBANRRARE
EZATERERATRHE AEEERERS

ENEENMARBREEHNER

HE_Z—+tF+A=+—HLFE  F%5H
BEETAAERBRARRD -

45



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT IRiE - 4+t E2NEBRE

Social (continued)

The Group is committed to providing a safe, effective and
congenial work environment. Adequate arrangements, training
and guidelines are implemented to ensure the working
environment is healthy and safe. Different safety-related
initiatives and measures have been rolled out in the Company’s
operations. Risk assessments are also conducted to identify
risks in special working environments, while detailed safety
instructions have been formulated and communicated to
workers, including both employees and contractors as part of
their safety training sessions and pre-work risk assessment.
Safety officers are appointed to coordinate and communicate
safety-related matters to all workers on site.

The Company offers its employees comprehensive health care
coverage and also provides medical insurance coverage.

The Group encourages employees to attend training and
development programs to strengthen their job skills, to enhance
their professionalism, to improve their operational efficiency and
productivity, and to develop their potential and other talents.
In addition, the Group encourages and assists employees
to further develop their technical or professional standards
knowledge by sponsoring them for professional membership.
All applications for membership fee reimbursement will be
considered depending on their degree of importance to
the employee’s job and their relevance to the operational
requirements of the employee’s department. Continuous
professional development training for directors and senior
management are required and the Group encourages them to
attend training programs organised by various professional
bodies.

The Group’s employment practices has strictly complied with
the Labor Contract law of PRC, the Hong Kong employment
laws and other relevant laws and regulations to avoid child
or forced labour and other potential irregularities. During
recruitment, all job applicants are required to complete a job
application form and declare that all personal data provided
(including age and personal particulars) are true and correct.
The Group undertakes a detailed job reference check, if
needed.
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Social (continued)

The Group is committed to ensuring that its supply chain
management is socially responsible. The Group has adopted
procurement procedures and practices to identify eligible
bidders through a detailed assessment of prospective bidders.
Factors considered include company size, qualifications,
financial strength, previous track record and whether various
safety, environmental and quality related internal systems and
qualifications (e.g. ISO) are in place. Qualified parties are then
allowed to participate in the procurement process.

Suppliers are chosen based on the supplier’'s ability to
guarantee satisfactory product quantity and quality, price
and ability to deliver services on time. The Group closely
monitors supplier’s performance and provides feedback where
necessary.

Maintaining high quality and standards are crucial to the
Group’s sustainable development. Reliability, safety, and
quality of our energy generation are crucial to the Group’s
success. Therefore, maintaining high availability and operating
our wind and solar assets efficiently to maximize our energy
generation are the Group’s major priorities.

During the construction of wind and distributed solar project,
the main equipment procured such as wind turbines and solar
panels are required to have completed all necessary testing
and qualifications certification in accordance with national
standards. At the same time, the Group has undertaken
production control and quality assurance examination of the
procured equipment to make sure of its product quality so
as to protect the interests of shareholders and customers.
The Group puts considerable effort in dealing with the core
issues that make us competitive as a renewable energy
operator, including safety, health, environmental and quality
standards, and operation & maintenance capability. The Group
continuously reviews its construction to ensure it is consistent
with the original project design. With regard to the quality of
construction and health and safety standards, the Group strictly
adheres to national and local standards and the respective
codes for construction inspection and acceptance.
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Social (continued)

The Group has issued the “Code of Conduct & Business
Ethics” (the “Code”) to all the directors and employees of the
Group and the Code has been uploaded on to the Company’s
website. The Code sets out the principles to guide the directors
and employees of the Group to conduct business affairs in
accordance with the highest business ethical standards. The
Group strives to preserve honesty, fairness and impartiality. In
accordance with the “Whistle-blowing Guideline”, all employees
can report for investigation any suspected bribery, extortion,
fraudulent and money laundering cases. Once confirmed,
it will be reported to the police or other regulatory bodies
for prosecution. The Group has also issued a “Policy on
Advantages Handling” with regard to guidelines for soliciting,
accepting or offering advantages and gifts by the directors
and employees. The Policy also provides guidelines for the
avoidance of any potential conflicts of interest or breaches of
any local laws, rules or regulations.

The Group strictly complied with the aforesaid principle,
relevant laws, rules and regulations throughout the year ended
31 December 2017.

The Group is committed to participating in the community
where we operate with an aim to improve the community’s
wellbeing. Through the hiring of locals using market compatible
remuneration packages, the Group is able to share its
operational returns with the local community and to contribute
back to the society.

The Group will explore other means to contribute more to the
environment and society once the Group achieves higher
profitability. To create shared values with the community and
stakeholders, the Company will continue to consider ESG
factors in selecting future investment projects.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEREE

The directors (the “Directors” or the “Board”) of China
Renewable Energy Investment Limited (the “Company”) have
pleasure in presenting to shareholders of the Company (the
“Shareholders”) their report together with the audited financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively,
the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2017.

Principal Activities and Geographical
Analysis of Operations

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activity of the Group is renewable energy business. The
activities of its principal subsidiaries and associated companies
are set out in pages 141 to 142 of the consolidated financial
statements. An analysis of the Group’s performance for the
year ended 31 December 2017 by geographical and business
segments is set out in note 5 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Results and Appropriations

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2017
are set out in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income on pages 70 to 71.

The Board has recommended the payment of a final dividend of
HKO.4 cents (2016: Nil) per ordinary share for the year ended 31
December 2017 to Shareholders whose names appear on the
register of members of the Company on Friday, 8 June 2018.
Subject to the approval of Shareholders at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company which will be held on
Tuesday, 29 May 2018 (“2018 AGM”), the final dividend will be
paid on Friday, 22 June 2018.

Business Review

Business Risk

As a long term investor-operator in the renewable energy
sector, the Group is subject to Chinese government supportive
policies, climate, economy and other execution risks.

Foreign Exchange Risk

Most of the Group’s assets are denominated in Renminbi. The
Group conducts a majority of its business operations in the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”). The major portion of
revenue, expenses and debits are denominated in Renminbi.
Fluctuations in the exchange rates of Renminbi would have
limited impact on the Group’s operations.
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Business Review (continued)

Compliance with the relevant laws and
regulations

The Group have complied with the relevant laws and regulations
during the year.

Relationships with Employees, Customers
and Suppliers

The Group has a good relationships with its customers which
are the grid companies. Through regular communication
channels, the Group ensure the electricity dispatched can be
invoiced. For the suppliers, they are mainly the maintenance
providers, they provide services to our wind farms to ensure the
safety systems and the wind farms are operating reliably.

Please also refer to pages 10 to 12 for business review on the
Group’s operation and wind farms.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment
of the Group during the year are set out in note 13 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Share Capital
Details of movements in the share capital of the Company
during the year are set out in note 21 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Pre-emptive Rights

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the articles
of association of the Company (“Articles of Association”) and
there is no restriction against such rights under the laws of the
Cayman lIslands.

Reserves

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the
Company during the year are set out in note 22 and note 31
respectively to the consolidated financial statements.

Distributable Reserves

Distributable reserves of the Company as at 31 December
2017, calculated in accordance with the Companies Law of the
Cayman Islands (as revised), amounted to HK$1,089.92 million
(2016: HK$1,095.08 million).
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Five-year Financial Summary

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on pages 143 to
144,

Donations
During the year, the Group made no charitable and other
donations (2016: Nil).

Directors

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report
were:

Executive Directors

Mr. OEI Kang, Eric (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. LEUNG Wing Sum, Samuel (Chief Financial Officer)
Mr. WONG Jake Leong, Sammy

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. YU Hon To, David

Mr. TIAN Yuchuan

Mr. ZHANG Songyi

At 2018 AGM, Mr. LEUNG Wing Sum, Samuel and Mr. TIAN
Yuchuan will retire from office by rotation in accordance with
Article 85 of the Articles of Association and being eligible, will
offer themselves for re-election to serve for another term.

The Company has received from each Independent Non-
executive Director an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) and the Company
considers all of them to be independent.

Directors’ Service Contracts

No Director proposed for re-election at the 2018 AGM has a
service contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries
which is not determinable by the Group within one year without
payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation).
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Share Option Schemes

The Company’s existing share option scheme was adopted on
27 May 2008 (the “CRE Option Scheme”). Particulars of the CRE
Option Scheme are set out below:

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

52

Purpose

The principal purposes are to recruit and retain high
calibre Eligible Persons (as defined below) and attract
human resources that are valuable to the Group or
any entity in which any member of the Group holds an
equity interest (“Invested Entity” or “Invested Entities”),
to recognise the significant contributions of the Eligible
Persons to the growth of the Group or Invested Entities
by rewarding them with opportunities to obtain ownership
interest in the Company and to further motivate and
give incentives to these Eligible Persons to continue to
contribute to the long term success and prosperity of the
Group or Invested Entities.

Eligible Persons

Any employee (whether full time or part time), senior
executive or officer, manager, director (including
executive, non-executive and independent non-executive
director) or consultant of any members of the Group or any
Invested Entity who, in the sole discretion of the Board,
have contributed or will contribute to the growth and
development of the Group or any Invested Entity.

Maximum number of shares available for issue
The total number of shares of the Company available for
issue under the CRE Option Scheme is 76,353,475 shares
which represent 3.23% of the issued share capital of the
Company as at the date of this Annual Report.

Maximum entitlement of each Eligible Person

The total number of shares of the Company issued and to
be issued upon exercise of options (whether exercised or
outstanding) granted in any 12-month period to:

(i) each Eligible Person must not exceed 1% of the
shares of the Company in issue; and

(ii) a substantial shareholder or an independent non-
executive director of the Company must not exceed
0.1% of the shares of the Company in issue and not
exceed HK$5 million in aggregate value.
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Share Option Schemes (continued)
Share options of the Company (continued)

(e)

(f)

(9)

(h)

()

Period within which the shares must be taken up
under an option

An option must be exercised within ten years from the date
on which it is granted or such shorter period as the Board
may specify at the time of grant.

Minimum period, if any, for which an option must
be held

At the time of the grant of an option, the Board must
specify the minimum period(s), if any, for which an option
must be held before it can be exercised.

Period open for acceptance of an option and
amount payable upon acceptance

An offer of the grant of an option shall remain open for
acceptance for a period of ten business days from the
date of offer and a consideration of HK$1.0 must be paid
upon acceptance.

Basis of determining the subscription price of an
option

The exercise price must be at least the higher of (i) the
closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of grant;
(ii) the average closing prices of the shares as stated in
the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of grant;
and (iii) the nominal value of a share.

Remaining life

CRE Option Scheme has a life of ten years and will
expire on 27 May 2018 unless otherwise terminated in
accordance with the terms of the CRE Option Scheme.

No share option is outstanding under the CRE Option Scheme
as at 31 December 2017.

No share option was granted, exercised, cancelled nor lapsed
during the year ended 31 December 2017 under the CRE
Option Scheme.
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Directors’ Interests in Securities

At 31 December 2017, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of
its associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the

Securities

and Futures Ordinance (the “SFQ”)) as recorded in

the register required to be kept under section 352 of the SFO or
as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by

Directors

of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) set out in

Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules adopted by the Company were

as follows:

EENESFZER

R-FE—tF+-A=1t—H BEFRAEALQA
TETBRABRARAHEAEMABEE(EE
REHFLBMEGEO(TESFRBEERGI ) EXVER)
ZBn - BB REFTHEEYCRERAR
AREES M EGRIIEB2GRREATHFELZ
Brfz@amRe  REREBEARAMRAE
REMRAMEE BB LEMETAESTETES
RHRESTA(RESTR D ZREMNEART]
KX P e s FORRINT

Number of Approximate
shares and percentage of
underlying existing issued
Nature of shares of share capital
Name of Director interest the Company of the Company
ERNVNE|
ERARRG R RECBTRAE
Bl ERMEE HERGHA BHBED
Mr. OEl Kang, Eric Corporate 2,046,390,9721 86.539
=M A NG|
Joint 32,279,326° 1.365
[
Notes: BisE
1. Since as at 31 December 2017, HKC (Holdings) Limited (“HKC") 1. RZZE—+t&F+=-A=+—H BARBBE
was held as to approximately 65.55% by Claudio Holdings Limited RER)BRAR(IEEZER]) A Claudio
(“Claudio”) (via its wholly-owned subsidiaries, Creator Holdings Holdings Limited ([ Claudio])#%%5 #65.55% (i%
Limited (“Creator”) and Genesis Capital Group Limited (“Genesis”)), BEEWBARAEZEEERAR(I8IE])
a company wholly-owned by Mr. OEl Kang, Eric, Mr. OEl Kang, RERIEEARAR([EAI])) - MClaudio
Eric is deemed to be interested in the same parcel of shares of the ERAERERE  ENEERRERESRE
Company in which HKC is interested. The corporate interest of Mr. BEEESZA—MARARD G -
OEI Kang, Eric includes (i) an interest in 1,275,682,050 shares of the EMAEZAREZBENEAERMBFZ
Company and 254,967,058 underlying shares in respect of warrants 1,275,682,050 8 A< 2 B ik 17 1 25 & B2 7K 2 B BT
issued by the Company held by HKC; (ii) an interest in 154,278,990 BITRIRAEE A B8 2 254,967,058 A% 48 B8 A% 15 1
shares of the Company and 30,183,798 underlying shares in respect 5 ¢ (i) BlZEFTHEE 2 154,278,990 A A 7] f& 15 #E
of warrants issued by the Company held by Creator; and (iii) an = R EARRBITEITRRIEZEHR 230,183,798
interest in 276,065,897 shares of the Company and 55,213,179 RRABREAR D M2 : K (ifi)ZEAIFTHE 2 276,065,897
underlying shares in respect of warrants issued by the Company RN A RIS ok R BN R FTEBTRREE A
held by Genesis. #,255,213,179R AR RR 19 ax o
2. The joint interest of Mr. OEI Kang, Eric represents an interest in 2. =R EZ ARARSERRAKR I ZTFRELLT

54

26,899,439 shares of the Company and 5,379,887 underlying shares
in respect of warrants issued by the Company jointly held with his
wife, Mrs. OEI Valonia Lau.
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Directors’ Interests in Securities
(continued)

EENEFZER(

45

n

Number of Approximate
shares and percentage of
underlying existing issued

Name of shares of the  share capital of

associated Nature of associated the associated

corporation Name of Directors interest corporation corporation
1HAEEEE
LR Z R 5 REERITRE
HEEEER EEnE ERMEE RAEBRRGEE BHABE D
HKC (Holdings) Mr. OEl Kang, Eric Corporate 346,657,938 65.551
Limited P NS)
FEER(ER) Joint 8,720,9872 1.649
BRAF] H[FA
Mr. WONG Jake Leong, Sammy  Personal 5,145,000° 0.973
=HEREE & A

Notes: BiEE -

1. The corporate interest of Mr. OEl Kang, Eric represents (i) an 1. s EEZRARAEREBENORERNRE Z
interest in 203,445,407 shares of HKC held by Creator; and (i) an 203,445,407 BB ER MRS  R(i)EAIFT
interest in 143,212,531 shares of HKC held by Genesis. Both Creator 2143212531 BB EX B MR - AlE R
and Genesis are wholly-owned subsidiaries of Claudio, a company A1 AClaudioz 2&MB A 7] » MClaudiol
wholly-owned by Mr. OEI Kang, Eric. =LA EHER -

2. The joint interest of Mr. OEl Kang, Eric represents an interest in 2. =Mz HRAESIERER EFRE 4 +H
8,720,987 shares of HKC jointly held with his wife, Mrs. OEI Valonia F#5H 28,720,987 R BB RAR MRS -

Lau.

3. The personal interest of Mr. WONG Jake Leong, Sammy represents 3. EHERAAEZEAEZIENS5,145000 B HE

an interest in 5,145,000 shares of HKC. BRI R
Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year was the B EXEBEEI RAFEERNEMER > &AAQ

Company, its subsidiaries, its fellow subsidiaries, its parent
company or its other associated corporations a party to any
arrangement to enable the Directors and chief executives of the
Company (including their spouse and children under 18 years
of age) to hold any interests or short positions in the shares

or underlying shares in, or debentures of, the Company or its s

specified undertakings or other associated corporation.
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Directors’ Right to Acquire Shares or
Debentures

Save as disclosed under the heading “Directors’ Interests in
Securities” above, at no time during the year was the Company
or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement that
enabled the Directors or any of their spouses or children under
the age of 18 to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition
of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body
corporate.

Directors’ Interests in Competing
Businesses

None of the Directors or their respective associate(s) was
interested in any business which competes or is likely to
compete, either directly or indirectly, with the business of the
Group during the year.

Directors’ and Controlling
Shareholders’ Interests in Contracts

of Significance

Save as disclosed in note 23 “Bank borrowings” and note
28 “Related party transactions” to the consolidated financial
statements, the transactions with HKC and its subsidiaries
and in which Mr. OEl Kang, Eric was interested, no contract of
significance to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries
was a party and in which a Director had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or
at any time during the year.
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Substantial Shareholders’ Interests in
Securities

As at 31 December 2017, the following persons (other than
a Director or chief executive of the Company) had interests
or short positions in the shares and underlying shares of the
Company as recorded in the register required to be kept under
section 336 of the SFO:

Long positions in the shares and underlying

NN
B '
e g L i
FTERRREZ 2R

RZZE—+F+_A=+—8 ' ZARAREE
F R EIRGEISCIFR T ETHEE 2 ELMAT
Lk UWTAL(BEERARREBEITHRAER
IM AR B2 B0 K A8 B8 B 15 7 HE A R A sk

2

RADBRDREERD 2HFR

shares of the Company

Approximate

Number of percentage of
shares and the existing
underlying issued share
shares of capital of
Name Nature of interest the Company the Company
ERRARE
ARAF R EBRITRA
wE/EB BEMNE REERGEE BMABE D
Mrs. OEI Valonia Lau Family 2,046,390,972' 86.539
2Lt ENi
Joint 32,279,3262 1.365
A
Claudio Holdings Limited Corporate 2,046,390,9723 86.539
NS
HKC (Holdings) Limited Beneficial owner 1,5630,649,108* 64.729
EERR(ER)BERAR EREAA
Genesis Capital Group Limited Beneficial owner 331,279,076° 14.009
FERIEEBR QA EREAA
Creator Holdings Limited Beneficial owner 184,462,788° 7.801
BlEEEAR AR EnlAA
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Substantial Shareholders’ Interests in

Securities (continued)
Long positions in the shares and underlying
shares of the Company (continued)

Notes:

1. Mrs. OEI Valonia Lau is deemed to be interested in the same parcel of
shares of the Company in which Mr. OEl Kang, Eric is taken to be interested
(as detailed in “Directors’ Interests in Securities” section above).

2. The joint interest of Mrs. OEl Valonia Lau represents an interest in
26,899,439 shares of the Company and 5,379,887 underlying shares in
respect of warrants issued by the Company jointly held with Mr. OEI Kang,
Eric.

3. Claudio is beneficially interested in 65.551% of the issued share capital of
HKC (via its wholly-owned subsidiaries, Creator and Genesis) and thus,
is deemed to be interested in the same parcel of shares of the Company
in which HKC is interested. In addition, as Creator and Genesis are
wholly-owned subsidiaries of Claudio, and thus, Claudio is deemed to be
interested in the same parcel of shares of the Company in which Creator
and Genesis are interested.

4. The beneficial interest of HKC includes an interest in 1,275,682,050 shares
of the Company and 254,967,058 underlying shares in respect of warrants
issued by the Company.

5. The beneficial interest of Genesis includes an interest in 276,065,897
shares of the Company and 55,213,179 underlying shares in respect of
warrants issued by the Company.

6. The beneficial interest of Creator includes an interest in 154,278,990
shares of the Company and 30,183,798 underlying shares in respect of
warrants issued by the Company.

Save as disclosed above, at 31 December 2017, the Company
had not been notified by any person, other than Directors and
chief executive of the Company, who had interests or short
positions in the shares and underlying shares of the Company
which are required to record in the register required to be kept
by the Company under section 336 of Part XV of the SFO.
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Bonus Warrant Issue

On 19 May 2017, the Company issued 471,274,368 warrants
(Warrant Code: 1677) on the basis of one bonus warrant
for every 5 existing shares of the Company held by the
Shareholders (the “Bonus Warrant(s)”). Each Bonus Warrant
entitles its holder to subscribe for one new ordinary share
of HK$0.01 each in the share capital of the Company (“new
Shares”) at a subscription price of HK$0.230 (subject to
adjustment) at any time during 19 May 2017 to 18 May 2018.
Details of issuance of Bonus Warrants were disclosed in the
announcements dated 14 March 2017, 28 April 2017 and 18
May 2017 (the “Announcements”) respectively and the circular
in relation thereof dated 13 April 2017 (the “Circular”).

From the date of issue of Bonus Warrants to 31 December
2017, 8,320,601 new Shares were issued upon the exercise of
8,320,601 Bonus Warrants by the public Shareholders and the
total subscription monies received amount to approximately
HK$1,914,000. As disclosed in the Announcements and the
Circular, the Company intends to apply the subscription
monies mainly on renewable energy projects of the Group.
The Company will also apply such subscription monies for
the future business development and general working capital
of the Group, including but not limited to the settlement of
trade payables and other payables. As at 31 December 2017,
462,953,767 Bonus Warrants remained outstanding.

Major Transaction

On 5 July 2017, &% BeEEBMR AR (Songxian HKE Wind
Power Limited), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
entered into the Wind Turbine Agreement and the Turbine
Tower Agreement with #/LiEZERER KD BR AT (Zhejiang
Windey Co., Ltd.*) and IWERHPEFRHHEBR AT (Shandong
CRRC Tongli Steel Structure Co., Ltd.*) respectively to acquire
certain wind power generation equipments, including wind
turbines and turbine towers (the “Acquisition”). The contract
sum for the Wind Turbine Agreement was RMB284,715,668
(approximately HK$327,223,717) and the contract sum for the
Turbine Tower Agreement was RMB47,433,260 (approximately
HK$54,515,046).

Details of the Acquisition were disclosed in the announcement
dated 5 July 2017 and the circular in relation thereof dated 25
August 2017,

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of the
Company’s Listed Securities

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the Company'’s listed securities during the
year ended 31 December 2017.
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Management Contract

Apart from those disclosed under the heading “Related
Party Transactions” in note 28 to the consolidated financial
statements, no contracts concerning the management and
administration of the whole or any substantial part of the
business of the Company were entered into or existed during
the year.

Major Customers and Suppliers

The percentages of the Group’s purchases and sales for the
year attributable to its major suppliers and customers are as
follows:

Purchases
The largest supplier 19%
Five largest suppliers in aggregate 62%

Sales

During the year, the Group had two customers only and the
percentages of the Group’s sales attributable to the major
customers are as follows:

65%
35%

The largest customer
The remaining customer

None of the Directors, any of their associates, or Shareholders
(which to the knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5%
of the Company’s issued share capital) had any interest in the
Group’s customers noted above.

Corporate Governance
The Company’s corporate governance practices are set out in
the Corporate Governance Report on pages 22 to 41.

Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors

The Company has adopted the Model Code as its own code of
conduct regarding Directors’ securities transactions. Specified
employees who are likely to be in possession of unpublished
inside information of the Group are also subject to compliance
with guidelines on no less exacting terms than the Model Code.
A Code for Securities Dealings by Employees has also been
adopted in this regard.
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Retirement Benefits Schemes

Information on the Group’s retirement benefits schemes is set
out in note 9 to the consolidated financial statements.

Sufficiency of Public Float

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, as at the
date of this report, there is sufficient public float of more than
25% of the Company’s issued shares as required under the
Listing Rules.

Permitted Indemnity Provisions

Pursuant to the Articles of Association of the Company, every
Director and other officers of the Company shall be indemnified
and secured harmless out of the assets and profits of the
Company from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses,
damages and expenses which he/she may incur or sustain in or
about the execution of the duties of his/her office or otherwise
in relation thereto, provided that the indemnity shall not extend
to any matter in respect of any fraud or dishonesty which may
attach to any of said persons. The Company has arranged
appropriate liability insurance to indemnify the Group’s
Directors for their liabilities arising out of corporate activities.
The insurance coverage is reviewed on an annual basis.

Review of the Annual Report by Audit
Committee

The audit committee of the Company currently comprises three
independent non-executive Directors with written terms of
reference in accordance with the requirements of the Listing
Rules, and reports to the Board.

The audit committee has reviewed the audited consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2017.

Auditor

The consolidated financial statements for the year have been
audited by Messrs. PricewaterhouseCoopers who retire and,
being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment. A resolution
for the re-appointment of Messrs. PricewaterhouseCoopers as
auditor of the Company is to be proposed at the 2018 AGM.
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Update on Directors’ Information
Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, change in the
information of the Directors since the date of the 2017 Interim
Report is set out below:

(Independent Non-executive Director)

Mr. ZHANG became a non-executive director of Jimu Group
Limited (formerly known as “Ever Smart International Holdings
Limited”) (stock code: 8187), with effect from 11 December
2017.

(Independent Non-executive Director)

Mr. YU resigned as an independent non-executive director of
Synergis Holdings Limited (stock code: 2340) with effect from
1 January 2018.

On behalf of the Board
China Renewable Energy Investment Limited
OEIl Kang, Eric

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 19 March 2018
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

B R RET RS

_a

pwc

Independent Auditor’s Report

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CHINA RENEWABLE ENERGY
INVESTMENT LIMITED
(incorporated in Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Opinion

What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of China Renewable
Energy Investment Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(the “Group”) set out on pages 70 to 142 which comprise:

° the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2017,

o the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for
the year then ended;

o the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the
year then ended;

o the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then
ended; and

o the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which
include a summary of significant accounting policies.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give
a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of
the Group as at 31 December 2017, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have
been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT BB HE RS

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the
Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with the Code.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion
on these matters.

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as
follows:

- Impairment assessment of property, plant and equipment,
intangible assets and prepaid land lease payments related
to power plants in the Mainland China.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT BV & H R

Key Audit Matters (continued)

Key Audit Matter
BARFTER

FARETEE %)

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BRAMNES N EEEARESE

Impairment assessment of property, plant and
equipment, intangible assets and prepaid land
lease payments related to power plants in the
Mainland China
RERENEEHEREAYE  BBEREE -
R FAM it H & FOETRERE

BYEAE

Refer to note 2.9 and 4a to the consolidated financial
statements
B2 MR M BRME2. 9Kk M4a

As at 31 December 2017, the Group’s non-current
assets principally comprised property, plant and
equipment, intangible assets and prepaid land lease
payments related to power plants in the Mainland
China.

RZZE—+tF+_A=+—H8 AKENERBEET
ERFEHEPBRAENEERBAODE MBS RHRE -
BREERKEN T HHEERK -

Management assessed whether there was any
impairment of the carrying values of property, plant
and equipment, intangible assets and prepaid land
lease payments by calculating the recoverable
amount under value-in-use method, where
applicable. The impairment assessment requires
management to exercise significant management
judgment and estimates, among other things,
estimating correspondingly tariff rates, future sales
volume and discount rate.
ERERERBEREENE(NER)GFE LK SE
MR WS RERE  BEEENREM DEER
WEREEESFEEMRE - REFHEREREER
EXREEABMES  BR(ETEE)EFEERE -
RKIHE MBI E -
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Our procedures in relation to management’s impairment
assessment of property, plant and equipment, intangible
assets and prepaid land lease payments related to
relevant power plants in the Mainland China included:
EIRESFERED RSB Rk EEHAAEEE
e R R  BEEENAREN T EERCETRER G2
HEAEREFEE

o Assessed the impairment assessment methodology
used by the management to estimate value in use;

HEEEEGEEREERERANG T ZETHE

° Assessed the reasonableness of the key
assumptions based on our knowledge of the
relevant business and industry and with the
involvement of our valuations specialists;
%#ﬁﬁ%ﬁ@%%ﬁﬁ%%T%&ﬁﬁﬁﬁ%%%
28 - AR RR S BIETIME

o Reconciled input data to supporting evidence,
such as approved budgets and considered the
reasonableness of these budgets;
R AEEXFEER (B ENTES
WL TEENEEM

7)1 17 %

o Evaluated the management’s sensitivity analysis to
assess the potential impact of reasonable possible
downside changes in the key assumptions.
HEREFED NGRS TEITTE - AT EARRER
BHPESEA RN T2 BEXE -

We found the assumptions made by management in
relation to the value in use assessment to be supportable
based on available evidence.

BEBEREER - KMER - EREECAEENG S EMAE
HERREEXHF -

The significant inputs have been appropriately disclosed
in note 4a.
HEEERABELENT4aP S IRIKE -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT BB HE RS

Other Information

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the
information included in the annual report other than the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this
regard.

Responsibilities of Directors and Those
Charged with Governance for the
Consolidated Financial Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give
a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing
the Group’s financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT BV HE RS

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We
report our opinion solely to you, as a body, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions
of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements (continued)

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use
of the going concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may
cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention
in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We
remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a
statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate
with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, related safeguards.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT BV HE RS

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements (continued)

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of
most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the key
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s
report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our
report because the adverse consequences of doing so would
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits
of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Pong Fei Ho.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 19 March 2018
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
e EHERBR

For the year ended 31 December 2017
HE-_Z—+H&+-_A=1+—BLLFE

2017 2016
—E—+tF —E—RF
Note HK$'000 HK$°000
B aE FBRT FAET
Revenue = 5 131,343 130,998
Cost of sales SHE AN 6 (85,661) (87,152)
Gross profit EF 45,682 43,846
Other income E A 5 12,319 162
Administrative expenses 1THE A 6 (25,325) (22,755)
Operating profit F—Pig ]| 32,676 21,253
Finance income U3 ON 7 2,545 3,612
Finance costs BhE A AN 7 (32,487) (31,894)
Finance costs — net BhE AN — 558 7 (29,942) (28,282)
Share of profits less losses of associates [ {4 A 7% FIE 12 17 67,580 72,009
Profit before income tax FTBHANER 70,314 64,980
Income tax expense FrfSfisk 10 (9.364) (6,834)
Profit for the year AE B F 60,950 58,146
Other comprehensive income/(loss)  Hit2EUW A~ (E518)
ltems that may be reclassified AREREHHIEE
subsequently to profit or loss Bm2IEE
Currency translation differences FEHIREZRE 123,916 (92,015)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) AEEHMZEBA
for the year, net of tax (1) » HIRBE 123,916 (92,015)
Total comprehensive income/(loss) AEEZEBA(EE)EE
for the year 184,866 (33,869)
Profit/(loss) attributable to: AT FEMRB R, (BE) -
Equity holders of the Company RATIERFTB A 60,330 61,098
Non-controlling interests FEIEAR = 620 (2,952)
60,950 58,146
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME #HR&eZ2HiEHER

For the year ended 31 December 2017
HE-_Z—+H&+-_A=1+—BLLFE

2017 2016
—E—+F AN S
Note HK$'000 HK$’000
Bt 5 FHERT FABT
Total comprehensive income/(loss) UTEEZEBA
attributable to: (B8 &8
Equity holders of the Company RATEREFEE A 184,413 (31,068)
Non-controlling interests FEPE R 453 (2,801)
184,866 (33,869)
Earnings per share attributable to AEERQNFEBFAA
equity holders of the Company EHERER
for the year (expressed in (B AEWLTIR)
HK cents per share)
Basic earnings per share BREXEF 11(a) 2.56 2.59
Diluted earnings per share BREBERER 11(b) 2.54 2.59
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

SeBEESER

As at 31 December 2017
RZZE—+F+=ZA=+—H

2017 2016
—E—+tF —E-REF
Note HK$'000 HK$°000
B aE FET FHTT
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets FREBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - B RERE 13 911,598 910,853
Construction in progress HEIR 14 36,089 7,319
Prepaid land lease payments TEfS T E R 15 11,925 12,089
Intangible assets R EE 16 5,392 4,057
Prepayments and other receivables TE A 3 B A B R 18 166,411 18,188
Interests in associates RERE RN 2 s 17 931,364 878,111
Total non-current assets kRBEEALE 2,062,779 1,830,617
Current assets REEE
Inventories FE 9,050 5,939
Trade and other receivables JFEE LT B 350 e L A FE UK 18 117,730 78,319
Short-term bank deposits FRASRITIE R 19 - 13,475
Cash and cash equivalents RekBEeFEY 20 300,060 200,704
Total current assets REEEARE 426,840 298,437
Total assets EEHSE 2,489,619 2,129,054
EQUITY =
Capital and reserves attributable to ZAQATEZIFEA
equity holders of the Company EBRERRRE
Share capital N 21 23,647 23,564
Reserves & 22 1,721,779 1,542,629
Equity attributable to equity holders ZAF#ZFEFAE AEILGER
of the Company 1,745,426 1,566,193
Non-controlling interests FiERR R (2,069) (2,522)
Total equity DA 1,743,357 1,563,671
72 China Renewable Energy Investment Limited | Annual Report 2017



CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET #Z#E8BEABEX

As at 31 December 2017
RZZE—+F+=ZA=+—H

2017 2016
—E—+tHF ZE—RF
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
M E FHBxT FHEIT
LIABILITIES =N
Non-current liabilities kRBEE
Bank borrowings RITIER 23 351,335 383,018
Deferred income tax liabilities EEFTSTAE 25 32,772 31,518
Total non-current liabilities kRBABHERE 384,107 414,536
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade and other payables JE AT BR 3R B2 E A B AT 3R 26 46,958 68,433
Current portion of bank borrowings RITIEFKENERED 23 88,931 82,414
Amount due to a shareholder e —BIRERFIR 24 226,169 -
Current income tax liabilities BT asE 97 -
Total current liabilities RENEEEEE 362,155 150,847
Total liabilities EEH5 746,262 565,383
Total equity and liabilities EakBEREE 2,489,619 2,129,054
OEIl Kang, Eric LEUNG Wing Sum, Samuel
= @l RUHZ
Director Director
EE EE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

%—!A < =4 %
7177 N = | *Eﬁx@]

For the year ended 31 December 2017
BE-F—+tF+-A=t+—ALFE

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

RARERREAEL
Non-
Share Share  Exchange  Retained controlling Total
capital  premium reserve  earnings Total interests equity
Bx  ROEE EXRE REEN BE FEREE W REAE
HK§000  HK$000  HK$000  HKSO00  HK$000  HK$000  HK$'000
TEL TEL THET THET TEL TEL TEL
Balance at 1 January 2016 RZB-RE-B-Az&8 23,564 892,905 34,481 655,737 1,606,687 279 1,606,966
Profit for the year REERR - - - 61,098 61,098 (2,952) 58,146
Other comprehensive loss: H2EESE:
Currency translation differences [EAE=E - - (92,166) - (92,166) 151 (92,015)
Total comprehensive loss 2EFBAE - - (92166) 61098 (31,088)  (2801)  (33,869)
Transactions with owners BREFAETZRS
Dividend paid BRRE - - - (9,426) (9,426) - (9,426)
Balance at 31 December 2016 R=Z-~E+=f
=t-Rz&H 23,564 892,905 (57,685) 707,409 1,566,193 (2,522) 1,563,671
Balance at 1 January 2017 R-BE-tE-F-Az&H 23,564 892,905 (57,685) 707,409 1,566,193 (2,522) 1,563,671
Profit for the year KEERR - - - 60,330 60,330 620 60,950
Other comprehensive income:  Eft2EKA :
Currency translation differences [EXAEZ% - - 124,083 - 124,083 (167) 123,916
Total comprehensive income  ZHKAAE - - 124,083 60,330 184,413 453 184,866
Transactions with owners HERAETZRS
Dividend paid BRRE - - - (7,094) (7,094) - (7,094)
Exercise of warrants IERREE 83 1,831 - - 1,914 - 1,914
Balance at 31 December 2017 R=F-+&+=f
=t-Az&H 23,647 894,736 66,398 760,645 1,745,426 (2,009) 1,743,357
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
meERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2017
HE-_Z—+H&+-_A=1+—BLLFE

2017 2016
—E—t5F ZE—RF
Note HK$'000 HK$°000
B aE FBRT FAET
Cash flows from operating activities K& EZBHHERE
Cash generated from operations KEFSIRE 29 162,249 86,815
Mainland China taxation paid BB R EER IR (9,285) (6,657)
Net cash generated from operating EEEE SR e F 5
activities 152,964 80,158
Cash flows from investing activities REFEZRERE
Interest received 2 HFE 2,626 3,539
Addition to prepayments N RiEUN (156,476) -
Purchase of property, A HRERR
plant and equipment (23,069) (5,298)
Purchase of construction in progress ~ BAGEREIE (28,862) (5,071)
Purchase of intangible assets BARFEE (42) (6)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEME - SRR
plant and equipment Fr8 3R 55 162
Decrease/(increase) in short-term MERIT R (3 0)
bank deposits 13,475 (9,505)
Dividends received from associates B E A RIAR B - 66,570
Net cash (used in)/generated from WEEE(FTR),/ g
investing activities REFRE (192,293) 50,391
Cash flows from financing activities ®EEFEBZRERE
Proceeds from exercise of share TR SRR ERE 2 FT1S 3K IR
warrants 1,914 -
Increase in amount due to a shareholder [E1 A% 5 ZR 1B 1 A 220,000 -
Repayment of bank borrowings BEERITER (89,088) (82,141)
Proceeds from bank loan IRITERFIBRIA 28,290 23,170
Interest paid BEAFE (26,855) (31,801)
Dividend paid B E (7,094) (9,426)
Net cash generated from/(used in) BEEBE(FTA)
financing activities e FRE 127,167 (100,198)
Net increase in cash and BRERREESEYRMNER
cash equivalents 87,838 30,351
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January R—A—BZE& X
IREEEBY 200,704 181,250
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes [ER& ) > 2 11,518 (10,897)
Cash and cash equivalents at R+=—HA=+—H2
31 December REeERESZEEY 300,060 200,704
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
a M B RAR M

76

General information

China Renewable Energy Investment Limited (the
“Company” or “CRE”) is an exempted company
incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability.
The address of the registered office is Cricket Square,
Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111,
Cayman Islands.

The Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the
“Group”) are principally engaged in renewable energy
business. The Group has operations mainly in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC").

The shares of the Company are listed on the Main Board
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“the Stock
Exchange”). The ultimate holding company is Claudio
Holdings Limited, a company incorporated in the British
Virgin Islands.

These consolidated financial statements are presented in
thousands of units of Hong Kong dollars (HK$ thousand
or HK$’000), unless otherwise stated. These consolidated
financial statements were approved for issue by the board
of directors of the Company on 19 March 2018.

Summary of significant accounting
policies

The principal accounting policies applied in the
preparation of these consolidated financial statements
are set out below. These policies have been consistently
applied to all the years presented unless otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation
The consolidated financial statements of CRE have
been prepared in accordance with all applicable
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRS”) and disclosure requirements of Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been
prepared under the historical cost convention.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
HKFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires management to exercise
its judgement in the process of applying the Group’s
accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree
of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions
and estimates are significant to the consolidated
financial statements, are disclosed in Note 4.

Changes in accounting policy and disclosures
(a) Amended standards adopted by the Group

HKAS 7 (Amendments)  Statement of cash flows

HKAS 12 (Amendments)  Income taxes

HKFRS 12 (Amendments) Disclosure of interest in
other entities

The adoption of the above amendments to
standards has no significant effects on the
Group'’s financial information.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #& B EH|EMEE

2 Summary of significant accounting 2 FEEHHIEHRE @)
policies (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued) 2.1 REEE (@)

Changes in accounting policy and disclosures SHBREBRINE(E)

(continued)

(b) New standards, amendments to standards (b) RZZE—tF—A—HRBZH
and interpretations have been issued but are BREEDBEMAEMAERERE
not effective for the financial year beginning BENEIR B IR 2 AR - ZER|
on 1 January 2017 and have not been early CRIES
adopted
The following standards, amendments to ITAEBEEMAEMNEREZZ—N
standards and interpretations have been F—A—Ba U ERB 2 AEH
published and are mandatory for the Group’s ST HIM s HIE R SR
accounting periods beginning on or after 1 MEZN S B W0 4R 1R R AN 2 #ER) -
January 2018 or later periods, but the Group ERANERT 2

has not early adopted them:

Effective for

accounting
periods
beginning
on or after
RTHAHHz
Cl-pA-Hy
HAR &
HKAS 28 (Amendments) Investments in associates and joint ventures 1 January 2018
BB GTERIE285% (BT ) e haEhEZRE —E-N\F—-H-H
HKAS 40 (Amendments) Transfers of investment property 1 January 2018
BAGIREAFEI05 (BT R) REME EE —E-N\F—-HA—-H
HKFRS 1 (Amendments) First time adoption of HKFRS 1 January 2018
BEEMBRERANFIRETAR) BRRBEBUBREER —Z-N\F—-H—H
HKFRS 2 (Amendments) Classification and Measurement of Share-based 1 January 2018
Payment Transactions
BEAMBWERAERBITAR) UROINRGZHBERGE —E-N\F—-H—-H
HKFRS 4 (Amendments) Applying HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments with 1 January 2018
HKFRS 4 Insurance Contracts
BEEMBWEEAEAHRETER) EREBUBRELEFSFeMIAR —Z-N\F¥—-H—-H
BEMBREENFRERRAL
HKFRS 9 Financial instruments 1 January 2018
BRI HREERFESR SRIE —E-N\F—-H—-H
HKFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with customers 1 January 2018
BRI BRELAE155 EPAHEA —Z-N\F¥—-H—-H
HK (IFRIC) - Interpretation 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance 1 January 2018
Consideration
FE(ARVBRE2REZREY) INERHEBERENHE —Z-N\F—-H—H
—REE22R
HKFRS 16 Leases 1 January 2019
BRI BIRELAE 165 HE e =
HK (IFRIC) - Interpretation 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments 1 January 2019
B (AR BHRERELRES) FrSHiRsE 2 THEE L —Z-NAF-HA—H
—R2EE23%
HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 Sale or contribution of assets between an investor To be announced
(Amendments) and its associate or joint venture
BEABIWEERE105 R REEFRHBESEEPEANEELREIRA (SN

BB ERE28H (BFTAK)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting
policies (continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)
Changes in accounting policy and disclosures
(continued)

(b)

78

New standards, amendments to standards
and interpretations have been issued but are
not effective for the financial year beginning
on 1 January 2017 and have not been early
adopted (continued)

The Group has not early adopted the new
standards, amendments to standards and
interpretations, which have been issued but are
not effective for the financial year beginning
1 January 2017.

Further information about those new standards,
amendments to standards and interpretations
that are not yet effective but are expected to be
applicable to the Group is set out below:

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments addresses the
classification, measurement and derecognition
of financial assets and financial liabilities,
introduces new rules for hedge accounting and
a new impairment model for financial assets.
The Group has decided not to adopt HKFRS 9
until it becomes mandatory on 1 January 2018.

The Group does not expect the new standard to
have a significant impact on the classification
and measurement of its financial assets and
financial liabilities.

The Group has assessed on a forward
looking basis on the expected credit losses
associated with its financial assets carried at
amortised cost. The impairment methodology
applied depends on whether there has been
a significant increase in credit risk. The
impairment provision is determined based on
the 12-month expected credit losses which are
not expected to be financially material to the
Group.

The new standard also introduces expanded
disclosure requirements and changes in
presentation. These are expected to change
the nature and extent of the Group’s disclosures
about its financial instruments particularly in the
year of the adoption of the new standard.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #& B EH|EMEE

2 Summary of significant accounting

policies (continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

PEIBLRE

(b)

BREBRAR |

New standards, amendments to standards
and interpretations have been issued but are
not effective for the financial year beginning
on 1 January 2017 and have not been early
adopted (continued)

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with

Customers

The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants has issued a new standard for the
recognition of revenue. This will replace HKAS
18 which covers revenue arising from the sale
of goods and the rendering of services and
HKAS 11 which covers construction contracts.

The new standard is based on the principle
that revenue is recognised when control of
a good or service transfers to a customer.
The application of HKFRS 15 may result in
the identification of separate performance
obligations which could affect the timing of the
recognition of revenue. Certain costs incurred
in fulfilling a contract which are currently
expensed may need to be recognised as an
asset under HKFRS 15.

The Group has assessed the effects of applying
the new standard on the consolidated financial
statements and has not identified any material
financial impact to the Group.

HKFRS 16 Leases

HKFRS 16 was issued in January 2016. It will
result in almost all leases being recognised on
the balance sheet, as the distinction between
operating and finance leases is removed.
Under the new standard, an asset (the
right to use the leased item) and a financial
liability to pay rentals are recognised. The
only exceptions are short-term and low-value
leases.

The accounting for lessors will not significantly
change.

The standard will affect primarily the accounting
for the Group’s operating leases. As at the
reporting date, the Group has non-cancellable
operating lease commitments of HK$679,000.
However, the Group has not yet determined to
what extent these commitments will result in the
recognition of an asset and a liability for future
payments and how this will affect the Group’s
profit and classification of cashflows.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting

policies (continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

80

(b)

New standards, amendments to standards
and interpretations have been issued but are
not effective for the financial year beginning
on 1 January 2017 and have not been early
adopted (continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases (continued)

Some of the commitments may be covered
by the exception for short-term and low-value
leases and some commitments may relate to
arrangements that will not qualify as leases
under HKFRS 16.

The standard is mandatory for first annual
reporting period beginning on or after January
2019. At this stage, the Group does not intend
to adopt the standard before its effective date.

2.2 Consolidation
(a) Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured
entity) over which the Group has control. The
Group controls an entity when the Group is
exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns
from its involvement with the entity and has the
ability to affect those returns through its power
over the entity. Subsidiaries are consolidated
from the date on which control is transferred to
the Group. They are deconsolidated from the
date that control ceases.

The Group uses the acquisition method
of accounting to account for business
combinations. The consideration transferred
for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair
values of the assets transferred, the liabilities
incurred to the former owners of the acquiree
and the equity interests issued by the Group.
The consideration transferred includes the
fair value of any asset or liability resulting
from a contingent consideration arrangement.
Acquisition-related costs are expensed as
incurred. ldentifiable assets acquired and
liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a
business combination are measured initially at
their fair values at the acquisition date.
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2 FESTHERBE @)

2.2 EEE(H)
(a) MIBAT(4HE)

2 Summary of significant accounting
policies (continued)
2.2 Consolidation (continued)
(a) Subsidiaries (continued)

TEBLRERREARAR |

The Group recognises any non-controlling
interest in the acquiree on an acquisition-by-
acquisition basis. Non-controlling interests
in the acquiree that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to a
proportionate share of the entity’s net assets in
the event of liquidation are measured at either
fair value or the present ownership interests’
proportionate share in the recognised amounts
of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All
other components of non-controlling interests
are measured at their acquisition date fair
value, unless another measurement basis is
required by HKFRS.

The excess of the consideration transferred,
the amount of any non-controlling interest in
the acquiree and the acquisition-date fair value
of any previous equity interest in the acquiree
over the fair value of the identifiable net assets
acquired is recorded as goodwill. If this is
less than the fair value of the net assets of the
subsidiary acquired in the case of a bargain
purchase, the difference is recognised directly
in the profit or loss.

In the Company’s balance sheet, investments
in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less
impairment. Cost includes direct attributable
costs of investment. It is adjusted to reflect
changes in consideration arising from
contingent consideration amendments. The
results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the
Company on the basis of dividend received and
receivable.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting

policies (continued)
2.2 Consolidation (continued)

82

(a)

(b)

Subsidiaries (continued)

Inter-company transactions, balances and
unrealised gains on transactions between
group companies are eliminated. Unrealised
losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment
of the transferred asset. Accounting policies
of subsidiaries have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the
policies adopted by the Group.

Impairment testing of the investments in
subsidiaries is required upon receiving
a dividend from these investments if the
dividend exceeds the total comprehensive
income of the subsidiary in the period the
dividend is declared or if the carrying amount
of the investment in the separate financial
statements exceeds the carrying amount in
the consolidated financial statements of the
investee’s net assets including goodwill.

Changes in ownership interests in
subsidiaries without change of control
Transactions with non-controlling interests that
do not result in a loss of control are accounted
for as equity transactions - that is, as
transactions with the owners of the subsidiary
in their capacity as owners. The difference
between fair value of any consideration paid
and the relevant share acquired of the carrying
value of net assets of the subsidiary is recorded
in equity. Gains or losses on disposals to non-
controlling interests are also recorded in equity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #& B EH|EMEE

2 Summary of significant accounting

policies (continued)
2.2 Consolidation (continued)

PEIBLRE

(c)

(d)

BREBRAR |

Disposal of subsidiaries

When the Group ceases to have control, any
retained interest in the entity is remeasured
to its fair value at the date when control is
lost, with the change in carrying amount
recognised in profit or loss. The fair value is
the initial carrying amount for the purposes
of subsequently accounting for the retained
interest as an associate, joint venture or
financial asset. In addition, any amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive
income in respect of that entity are accounted
for as if the Group had directly disposed of
the related assets or liabilities. This may mean
that amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit
or loss.

Associates

Associates are all entities over which the
Group has significant influence but not control,
generally accompanying a shareholding of
between 20% and 50% of the voting rights.
Investments in associates are accounted for
using the equity method of accounting. Under
the equity method, the investment is initially
recognised at cost, and the carrying amount
is increased or decreased to recognise the
investor’s share of the profit or loss of the
investee after the date of acquisition. The
Group’s interests in associates include goodwill
identified on acquisition. Upon the acquisition
of the ownership interest in an associate, any
difference between the cost of the associate
and the Group’s share of the net fair value of the
associate’s identifiable assets and liabilities is
accounted for as goodwill.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #& B E|ETKHIEE

2 FESTHERBE @)

2.2 EEE(H)
(d) B&RAT(HF)

2 Summary of significant accounting
policies (continued)
2.2 Consolidation (continued)
(d) Associates (continued)

If the ownership interest in an associate is
reduced but significant influence is retained,
only a proportionate share of the amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive
income are reclassified to profit or loss where
appropriate.

The Group’s share of its associates’ post-
acquisition profits or losses is recognised in the
profit or loss, and its share of post-acquisition
movements in other comprehensive income
is recognised in other comprehensive income
with a corresponding adjustment to the carrying
amount of the investment. When the Group’s
share of losses in an associate equals or
exceeds its interest in the associate, including
any other unsecured receivables, the Group
does not recognise further losses, unless it has
incurred legal or constructive obligations or
made payments on behalf of the associate.

The Group determines at each reporting date
whether there is any objective evidence that the
investment in the associate is impaired. If this
is the case, the Group calculates the amount
of impairment as the difference between the
recoverable amount of the associate and its
carrying value and recognises the amount
adjacent to “share of profits less losses of
associates” in the income statement.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the
Group and its associates are eliminated to the
extent of the Group’s interest in the associates.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless
the transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting
policies of associates have been changed
where necessary to ensure consistency with the
policies adopted by the Group.

Gains or losses on dilution of equity interests in
associates are recognised in the profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting

policies (continued)

2.3 Segment reporting
Operating segments are reported in a manner
consistent with the internal reporting provided to
the chief operating decision-maker (“CODM”). The
CODM, who is responsible for allocating resources
and assessing performance of the operating
segments, has been identified as the directors of the
Company who make strategic decisions.

2.4 Foreign currency translation

(a)

(b)

TEBLRERREARAR |

Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the financial statements of
each of the Group’s entities are measured
using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates (“the
functional currency”). The Group’s functional
currency is Renminbi and the Group’s
presentation currency is Hong Kong dollars to
facilitate analysis of the financial information of
the Group, which is listed in Hong Kong.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated
into the functional currency using the exchange
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions
or valuation where items are remeasured.
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting
from the settlement of such transactions and
from the translation at year-end exchange rates
of monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies are recognised in the
profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting

policies (continued)
2.4 Foreign currency translation
(continued)
(c) Group companies
The results and financial position of all the
group entities (none of which has the currency
of a hyperinflationary economy) that have
a functional currency different from the
presentation currency are translated into the
presentation currency as follows:

86

(i)

(i)

(iil)

assets and liabilities for each balance
sheet presented are translated at the
closing rate at the date of that balance
sheet;

income and expenses for each
statement of comprehensive income are
translated at average exchange rates
(unless this average is not a reasonable
approximation of the cumulative effect
of the rates prevailing on the transaction
dates, in which case income and
expenses are translated at the dates of the
transactions); and

all resulting exchange differences are
recognised in other comprehensive
income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #& B EH|EMEE

2 Summary of significant accounting

policies (continued)
2.4 Foreign currency translation
(continued)
(c) Group companies (continued)
Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on
the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated
as assets and liabilities of the foreign entity
and translated at the closing rate. Cumulative
exchange differences arising are recognised in
other comprehensive income.

(d) Disposal of foreign operation and partial
disposal
On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is,
a disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a
foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss
of control over a subsidiary that includes a
foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss
of significant influence over an associate that
includes a foreign operation), all of the currency
translation differences accumulated in equity
in respect of that operation attributable to the
equity holders of the Company are reclassified
to profit or loss.

In the case of a partial disposal that does
not result in the Group losing control over a
subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, the
proportionate share of accumulated currency
translation differences are re-attributed to non-
controlling interests and are not recognised in
profit or loss. For all other partial disposals (that
is, reductions in the Group’s ownership interest
in associates that do not result in the Group
losing significant influence) the proportionate
share of the accumulated currency translation
difference is reclassified to profit or loss.

2.5 Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment, comprising leasehold
improvements, plant and machinery, motor vehicles
and furniture, fixtures and equipment are stated at
historical cost less accumulated depreciation and
accumulated impairment losses. Historical cost
includes expenditure that is directly attributable to
the acquisition of the items.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #& B E|ETKHIEE

2 Summary of significant accounting 2 FEEHHIEHRE @)

policies (continued)
2.5 Property, plant and equipment 2.5 ¥ - BBERZRE#E)

(continued)

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is
calculated using the straight-line method, to write
off their cost less the residual values over their
estimated useful lives or remaining useful lives for
those second-hand assets and the estimated useful
lives are as follows:

Electricity utility plants Shorter of the remaining
operation period or
20 years

Other plant and machinery 5 years

Leasehold improvements Shorter of the remaining
lease period or 5 years

Furniture, fixtures and 3-5 years
equipment
Motor vehicles 3-5 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each
balance sheet date.

Subsequent costs are included in the carrying
amount of the asset or recognised as a separate
asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable
that future economic benefits associated with the
item will flow to the Group and the cost of item can
be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the
replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and
maintenance are charged in the profit or loss during
the financial period in which they are incurred.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down
immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s
carrying amount is greater than its estimated
recoverable amount (Note 2.9).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by
comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount
and are recognised within other gains/losses, net in
the profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting
policies (continued)

2.6

2.7

2.8

PEIBLRE

Construction in progress

All costs directly attributable to the construction of
property, plant and equipment and intangible assets
including borrowing costs during the construction
period are capitalised as the costs of the assets,
which are classified as construction in progress.
On completion, the construction in progress is
transferred to property, plant and equipment at cost
less accumulated impairment losses, if any. No
depreciation is provided on construction in progress
until such items as the relevant assets are completed
and available for intended use.

Prepaid land lease payments

Prepaid land lease payments represent prepayments
for leasehold land held under operating leases,
which are stated at cost and subsequently are
amortised in the profit or loss on a straight-line
basis over the period of the lease or when there is
impairment, the impairment is expensed in the profit
or loss.

Intangible assets

(a) Concession right
Concession right acquired in a business
combination is recognised at fair value at the
acquisition date. The concession right has
a finite useful life and is carried at cost less
accumulated amortisation and impairment.
Amortisation is calculated using the straight-
line method over its concession right period of
shorter of the remaining operation period or 20
years.

(b) Computer software

Computer software separately acquired is

shown at historical cost. Computer software

acquired in a business combination is

recognised at fair value at the acquisition date.

Amortisation is calculated using the straight-

line method to allocate the cost of computer

software over its estimated useful live of 2-5

years.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #& B E|ETKHIEE

2 FESHBREREE@®)
29 RIBAT - BE N NFIRIE

2 Summary of significant accounting

policies (continued)
2.9 Impairment of investments in

subsidiaries, associates and
non-financial assets

Assets are reviewed for impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An
impairment loss is recognised for the amount by
which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is
the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell
and value in use. For the purposes of assessing
impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels
for which there are separately identifiable cash flows
(cash-generating units). Assets other than goodwill
that suffered impairment are reviewed for possible
reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.

2.10 Financial assets

The Group classifies its financial assets in the
following categories: financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss and loans and receivables.
The classification depends on the purpose for which
the financial assets were acquired. Management
determines the classification of its financial assets at
initial recognition.
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(a) Financial assets at fair value through (a) AT EHREZRIEZS
profit or loss REE
Financial assets at fair value through profit or BAFEEERRIEZE/E
loss are financial assets held for trading. A ERAFIEEEZCRIEE - M
financial asset is classified in this category if AZEZENRTEHALE
acquired principally for the purpose of selling AlZemEESREHAALER -
in the short term. Derivatives are classified as BRIEFETEIEEH - BRAIPTET A
held for trading unless they are designated as BOBRFIEEE - WHAIEE
hedges. Assets in this category are classified WMEHER T ZEAREE - &
as current assets if expected to be settled eNBARBEE  SASEA
within 12 months; otherwise, they are classified ETRIEE -
as non-current.

(b) Loans and receivables (b) EXRREWRK

Loans and receivables are non-derivative
financial assets with fixed or determinable
payments that are not quoted in an active
market. They are included in current assets,
except for the amounts that are settled or
expected to be settled more than 12 months
after the end of the reporting period. These are
classified as non-current assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Su
o

\‘nmar?l of significant accounting
ICIesS (continued)

.10 Financial assets (continued)

Regular purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade-date — the date on which
the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.
Investments are initially recognised at fair value
plus transaction costs for all financial assets not
carried at fair value through profit or loss. Financial
assets carried at fair value through profit or loss are
initially recognised at fair value, and transaction
costs are expensed in the profit or loss. Financial
assets are derecognised when the rights to receive
cash flows from the investments have expired or
have been transferred and the Group has transferred
substantially all risks and rewards of ownership.
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
are subsequently carried at fair value. Loans and
receivables are subsequently carried at amortised
cost using the effective interest method.

Gains or losses arising from changes in fair value
of the “financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss” category are presented in the profit or loss in
the period in which they arise. Dividend income from
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
is recognised in the profit or loss when the Group’s
right to receive payments is established.

The Group assesses at each balance sheet date
whether there is objective evidence that a financial
asset or a group of financial assets is impaired.

2.11Financial guarantee policy

PEIBLRE

Financial guarantee contracts are contracts that
require the issuer to make specified payments to
reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a
specified debtor fails to make payments when due,
in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.
Such financial guarantees are given to banks,
financial institutions and other bodies on behalf of
subsidiaries or associates to secure loans, overdrafts
and other banking facilities.

Financial guarantees are initially recognised in
the financial statements at fair value on the date
the guarantee was given. Subsequent to initial
recognition, the Group’s liabilities under such
guarantees are measured at the higher of the initial
amount, less amortisation of fees recognised in
accordance with HKAS 18, and the best estimate of
the amount required to settle the guarantee. These
estimates are determined based on experience
of similar transactions and history of past losses,
supplemented by management’s judgement. The fee
income earned is recognised on a straight-line basis
over the life of the guarantee. Any increase in the
liability relating to guarantees is reported in the profit
or loss within other operating expenses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #& B E|ETKHIEE

2

92

Summary of significant accounting

policies (continued)

2.12Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined using the first-
in, first-out (FIFO) method. Net realisable value is
the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of
business, less applicable variable selling expenses.

2.13Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are recognised
initially at fair value and subsequently measured
at amortised cost using the effective interest
method, less provision for impairment. A provision
for impairment of trade and other receivables is
established when there is objective evidence that
the Group will not be able to collect all amounts due
according to the original terms of the receivables.
Significant financial difficulties of the debtor,
probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or
financial reorganisation, and default or delinquency
in payments are considered indicators that the trade
receivable is impaired. The amount of the provision is
the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the present value of estimated future cash flows,
discounted at the original effective interest rate. The
amount of the provision is recognised in the profit
or loss. When a trade receivable is uncollectible, it
is written off against other gains/losses, net in the
profit or loss. Subsequent recoveries of amounts
previously written off are credited to other gains/
losses, net in the profit or loss.

2.14Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables are initially measured at
fair value and subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method.

2.15 Cash and cash equivalents
In the consolidated cash flow statement, cash and
cash equivalents include cash in hand, deposits
held at call with banks, other short-term highly liquid
investments with original maturities of three months
or less, and bank overdrafts.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRRME

2 Summary of significant accounting 2 FESHBEME 4w

policies (continued)

2.16 Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental
costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares
or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of
tax, from the proceeds.

2.17 Current and deferred income tax

The tax expense for the period comprises current
and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the profit
or loss, except to the extent that it relates to
items recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also
recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, respectively.

The current income tax charge is calculated on
the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively
enacted at the balance sheet date in the countries
where the Company’s subsidiaries and associates
operate and generate taxable income. Management
periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns
with respect to situations in which applicable tax
regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes
provisions where appropriate on the basis of
amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the
liability method, on temporary differences arising
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and
their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial
statements. However, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if they arise from the initial recognition of
goodwill, the deferred income tax is not accounted
for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset
or liability in a transaction other than a business
combination that at the time of the transaction
affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss.
Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates
(and laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the balance sheet date and are expected
to apply when the related deferred income tax asset
is realised or the deferred income tax liability is
settled.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #& B E|ETKHIEE

2 Summary of significant accounting 2 FESHBEME 4w
policies (continued)

2.17 Current and deferred income tax 217 EHIRIELEFT S (&)
(continued)
Deferred income tax assets are recognised to the EIEFTIS T E B AR K B Al L EVIS 1
extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will ERRA MM ZERE KR
be available against which the temporary differences TER o

can be utilised.

Deferred income tax is provided on temporary RIEFTS BT BLH B A7) B & A &)
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries KREEA TR EZEmMEE  HEAE
and associates, except for deferred tax liability B S ERERE 2B ORR - B
where the timing of the reversal of the temporary TR EREATER R KA AL B[O
difference is controlled by the Group and it is BB B ERIBRIN o

probable that the temporary difference will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset EEAOERSI BTSN - L EE
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset MIBEERIEEANIEBEAE  BIELT
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and FriStiEE R BB TR — T 5%
when the deferred income taxes assets and liabilities ME— RN TG TREERENE R
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation BRZERAER  MEERFHEE
authority on either the taxable entity or difference BEEBHE  AETEMEHEERSE
taxable entities where there is an intention to settle BT F LAY -

the balances on a net basis.

2.18 Borrowings 2.18 f& =X
Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, ERVIEEAFEINIREEERZK
net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings RIBERER o B H 1% 1% 8 85 A 5|
are subsequently stated at amortised cost; any IR - TS RIB (B S AN B [
difference between the proceeds (net of transaction BE 2 E A ZENERBRAEEREF
costs) and the redemption value is recognised in the KA BHRNIER -

profit or loss over the period of the borrowings using
the effective interest method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are RIERMENMINBRERIBY K
recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the 2 RLE B AT RERIRER 2 1B N HERR
extent that it is probable that some or all of the facility BERZRGRA - PILBERT » &
will be drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred AéeRCEZRNERALL - ME
until the draw-down occurs. To the extent there is no EEBEIBEBETR DR RE B IR
evidence that it is probable that some or all of the ZAke  BRABEBRERNEARDE
facility will be drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a SZEMNFIE - WHREE 28R
prepayment for liquidity services and amortised over MY o

the period of the facility to which it relates.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities BRIEREBBREKTBEAEZEE
unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer REEHEEHBREEL @A - &
settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after BfER D EAERBAERS -

the balance sheet date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #& B EH|EMEE

2 Summary of significant accounting 2 FEEHHIEHRE @)

policies (continued) .
2.19 Borrowing costs 2.19 B A

General and specific borrowing costs directly
attributable to the acquisition, construction or
production of qualifying assets, which are assets that
necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the
cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary
investment of specific borrowings pending their
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from
the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period
in which they are incurred.

Borrowing costs incurred for the construction of any
qualifying asset are capitalised during the period of
time that is required to complete and prepare the
asset for its intended use. Other borrowing costs are
expensed.

2.20 Employee benefits

(a) Employee leaves entitlements
Employee entitlements to annual leave are
recognised when they accrue to employees. A
provision is made for the estimated liability for
annual leave as a result of services rendered by
employees up to the balance sheet date.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and
maternity leave are not recognised until the time
of leave.

TEBLRERREARAT | —T—LFFR

EERRBEARKBRERNHENEES
BREEREAEASIHEREZAR
REEWE  BRIEEN BRI
FEERKA - GEARFTEEZRA -
BEEEEHEAEAEARHENRER
Ik e

EREERBIEEEREEHAZ
ERREMRMZRERA - BEA
ERERMeZ BRI

PG EL A SRR AN L A AR S 3K

BRI A EREEEEMERK
K NEERTREZEREREY
BEME o BABBRKA T A -

220 BEEH

(a) EBEEZRY
BERZFZFBRINERARE
BRMHER - ARAHEREREE
BERAERZRBMEL ZFR

2B EFELEYE -
BEERERBEIERNEERRE
BT R HER -

95




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting
policies (continued)
2.20 Employee benefits (continued)

(b) Defined contribution plans

96

(c)

The Group participates in a mandatory
provident fund scheme (“MPF”) and employee
pension schemes established by municipal
government in the PRC for the eligible
employees in Hong Kong and the PRC
respectively.

The Group’s and the employees’ contributions
to the MPF comply with the related statutory
requirements. The Group has no further
payments obligations once the contributions
have been paid. The Group’s contributions to
the MPF are expensed as incurred and are not
reduced by contributions forfeited by those
employees who leave MPF prior to vesting fully
in the contributions. Prepaid contributions are
recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash
refund or a reduction in the future payments is
available. The asset of MPF is held separately
from those of the Group in independently
administered funds.

The Group’s contribution to the employee
pension schemes in the PRC is at a percentage
in compliance with the requirements of
respective municipal governments.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable when
employment is terminated by the Group before
the normal retirement date, or whenever an
employee accepts voluntary redundancy
in exchange for these benefits. The Group
recognises termination benefits at the earlier
of the following dates: (a) when the Group
can no longer withdraw the offer of those
benefits; and (b) when the entity recognises
costs for a restructuring that is within the
scope of HKAS 37 and involves the payment
of termination benefits. In the case of an offer
made to encourage voluntary redundancy, the
termination benefits are measured based on
the number of employees expected to accept
the offer. Benefits falling due more than 12
months after the end of the reporting period are
discounted to their present value.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #& B EH|EMEE

2 Summary of significant accounting

policies (continued)
2.21Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a
present legal or constructive obligation as a result
of past events, it is probable that an outflow of
resources will be required to settle the obligation,
and a reliable estimate of the amount can be made.
In respect of the potential obligations to dismantle
the wind farms at the end of their useful lives, the
Group would assess the obligations continuously
based on the latest changes in the laws and
regulations and make provision when the recognition
criteria are met.

Where there are a number of similar obligations,
the likelihood that an outflow will be required in
settlement is determined by considering the class
of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised
even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to any
one item included in the same class of obligations
may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation using a pre-tax that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the
provision due to passage of time is recognised as
interest expense.

2.22 Revenue recognition

PEIBLRE

Revenue comprises the fair value of the
consideration received or receivable for the provision
of services in the ordinary course of the Group’s
activities. Revenue is shown net of business tax
within the Group and after eliminating sales within the
Group.

The Group recognises revenue when the amount
of revenue can be reliably measured, it is probable
that future economic benefits will flow to the entity
and specific criteria have been met for each of the
Group’s activities as described below. The amount of
revenue is not considered to be reliably measurable
until all contingencies relating to the sale have
been resolved. The Group bases its estimates on
historical results, taking into consideration the type of
customer, the type of transaction and the specifics of
each arrangement.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #& B E|ETKHIEE

2 Summary of significant accounting 2 FEEHHIEHRE @)
policies (continued)

2.22 Revenue recognition (continued) 2.22 W TR ER (&)

(i)  Revenue from renewable energy is recognised (i) REBERRZWRERELE
based on power dispatch during commercial PEEER - RESEEHE
operation. Commercial operation starts when HRENEELZES([EEE])
obtaining a Power Purchase Agreement, JEEREERFEL L E2RE
safety certificate from the State Electricity NEIT240 R ETR - A g
Regulatory Commission (“SERC”) or Provincial FIREEEE - EIhER LA
Grid Authority, and 240 hours commissioning. HIfA S IS E R R AE N
Revenue attributable to the sales of electricity HE W - By - R
generated during construction and testing RS 8Y -

period is not included in the electricity sales
revenue, but is offset against the cost of
property, plant and equipment.

(i) Interest income is recognised on a time (i) FLEUACAE R F AR R
proportion basis using the effective interest DIEAERER -
method.
(iii) Dividend income is recognised when the right (i) PRB M A P T ST UK R s
to receive payment is established. R o
2.23 Operating leases as lessee 223 REHE(ERABEA)
Leases in which a significant portion of the risks HHEERBEEREHEZBRATSRA
and rewards of ownership are retained by the BBz BEE  HREAKER
lessor are classified as operating leases. Payments & o RIBLEHRE S 2 ZE (EHRk
made under operating leases (net of any incentives BHBAERRZ EMEREZ)NHEH
received from the lessor) are charged to the profit NABFEEBREHR -
or loss on a straight-line basis over the period of the
lease.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #& B EH|EMEE

2 Summary of significant accounting 2 FEEHHIEHRE @)

policies (continued)
2.24 Contingent liabilities 224 HREME

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that
arises from past events and whose existence will
only be confirmed by the occurrence of one or more
uncertain future events not wholly within the control
of the Group. It can also be a present obligation
arising from past events that is not recognised
because it is not probable that outflow of economic
resources will be required or the amount of obligation
cannot be measured reliably.

A contingent liability is not recognised but is
disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial
statements. When a change in the probability of an
outflow occurs so that the outflow is probable, it will
then be recognised as a provision.

2.25 Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders
is recognised as a liability in the Group’s and the
Company’s financial statements in the period in
which the dividends are approved.

3 Financial risk management
3.1 Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of
financial risks: foreign exchange risk, interest rate
risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s
major financial instruments include trade and other
receivables, cash and cash equivalents, trade and
other payables, bank borrowings and amount due to
a shareholder. Details of these financial instruments
are disclosed in the respective notes.

It is the policy of the Group not to enter into deviate
transactions for speculative purposes.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 Financial risk management (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
The Board of Directors focuses on the
unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to
minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s
financial performance. The Board of Directors
reviews and agrees policies for managing each of
these risks and they are summarised below.

100

(a)

(b)

Foreign exchange risk

The Group operates mainly in Hong Kong and
Mainland China and is exposed to foreign
exchange risk arising from future commercial
transactions and monetary assets and liabilities
that are denominated in a currency that is not
the Group’s functional currency.

The Group currently does not have any
foreign currency hedging policy. However, the
management of the Group monitors the foreign
exchange exposure closely and will consider
hedging significant foreign currency exposure
should the need arise.

As at 31 December 2017, if US dollars
and Hong Kong dollars had strengthened/
weakened by 5% against Renminbi
respectively, with all other variables held
constant, the Group’'s profit before tax
would have been HK$936,000 lower/higher
respectively (2016: HK$2,855,000 higher/
lower).

Interest rate risk

The Group’s main interest rate risk arises
from bank borrowings and amount due to a
shareholder with variable rates, which expose
the Group to cash flow interest rate risk. The
Group’s results and operating cash flows are
dependent on changes in market interest rates.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #& B EH|EMEE

3 Financial risk management (continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

PEIBLRE

(b)

(c)

BREBRAR |

Interest rate risk (continued)

The Group does not use any derivative
contracts to hedge its exposure to interest
rate risk. However, management will consider
hedging significant interest rate exposures
should the need arise.

As at 31 December 2017, if interest rates had
been 100 (2016: 100) basis points higher/lower
and all other variables were held constant, the
Group’s profit before income tax would have
decreased/increased by HK$5,074,000 (2016:
HK$3,034,000).

Credit risk

The Group is exposed to credit risk in its short-
term bank deposits, cash and cash equivalents,
prepayments and trade and other receivables,
and financial guarantee provided for credit
facilities granted to certain associates.

The carrying amounts of short-term bank
deposits, cash and cash equivalents and trade
and other receivables represent the Group’s
maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to
its financial assets.

To manage the credit risk associated with
short-term bank deposits, cash and cash
equivalents, most of the deposits are placed
with certain state-owned banks in the PRC
which are high-credit-quality financial
institutions and banks with high credit rankings
in Hong Kong.

To manage the credit risk associated with trade
and other receivables, the Group adopts risk
control measures to assess the credit quality,
to determine credit limits and approve credit of
customers, taking into account their financial
position and past experience. The Group has
monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up
action is taken to recover overdue debts.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 Financial risk management (continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

102

(c)

(d)

Credit risk (continued)

The Group is exposed to significant
concentration of credit risk in terms of electricity
sales as the Group’s sales of electricity were
made to state-owned provincial power grid
companies. The Group normally does not
require collateral from trade debtors. It normally
grants credit terms of 30 days to these power
grid companies. However, part of the trade
receivables due from the power grid companies
relate to government subsidy which are subject
to the government allocation of the tariff
surcharge for renewable energy. Based on past
experience and industry practice, these tariff
premiums are generally paid in 6 to 12 months
from the date of the sales recognition. Ageing
analysis of the Group’s trade receivables is
disclosed in Note 18. Management makes
periodic collective assessment as well as
individual assessment of the recoverability of
trade and other receivables based on historical
payment records, the length of the overdue
period, the financial strength of the debtors and
whether there are any disputes with the relevant
debtors. The Group’s historical experience
in collection of trade and other receivables
falls within the recorded allowances and the
directors are of the opinion that adequate
provision for uncollectible receivables has been
made.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group is unable
to meet its current obligations when they fall
due. The Group measures and monitors its
liquidity through the maintenance of prudent
ratios regarding the liquidity structure of
the overall assets, liabilities, loans and
commitments of the Group. The Group also
maintains a conservative level of liquid assets
to ensure the availability of sufficient cash
flows to meet any unexpected and material
cash requirements in the course of ordinary
business.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #& B EH|EMEE

MRERERE#)
3.1 R EZE#E)
(d) FRBESERE)

3 Financial risk management (continued) 3
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(d) Liquidity risk (continued)

During the year, the Group complied with all
externally imposed loan covenant requirements
to which it was subject.

The following table details the Group’s
contractual maturity for its financial liabilities
at the balance sheet date. The table has been
drawn up with reference to the undiscounted
cash flows of financial liabilities based on the
earliest date on which the Group is required to
pay. Except for bank borrowings, balances due
within 12 months equal their carrying balances
as the impact of discounting is not significant.

REERN  AEEERAEBR
SMEPEEE AR ER o

TERHNAEENEERSRA
BZAHMEHE - TR2ZELR
BEZRBARERERAEH
AEEABFA LT BRME
B [RIRITERIN  ARBRF
BRI+ ZEARIEZ
EHASNERREE -

Between Between
Less than 1and 2 and Over

1 year 2 years 5 years 5 years Total

—-fr —-EZf ZERF IFHUEL @t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TAET FHT FHT FHT TAT
At 31 December 2017 R-ZT—+4F

+-A=+—H

Bank borrowings RITIER 111,282 120,640 221,718 57,432 511,072
Trade and other FERTRR

payables HoAth FEFT 3R 46,958 - - - 46,958

Amount due to a B —BRRFIE

shareholder 226,169 - - - 226,169

Financial guarantee ~ BIH#ER 100,758 - - - 100,758
At 31 December 2016 R -Z—X4

+-A=+—H~

Bank borrowings RITER 106,182 101,842 267,264 76,866 552,154
Trade and other FEfTBR R

payables HAh R 68,433 - - - 68,433

Financial guarantee  BII5#ER 106,714 — - - 106,714
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #& B E|ETKHIEE

MEERERE#)

3 Financial risk management (continued) 3
3.2 EXEBER

3.2 Capital risk management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern in order to provide returns for shareholders
and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain
an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of
capital.

The Group monitors capital by reviewing the capital
structure. The capital structure of the Group consists
of debt and equity attributable to equity holders of
the Company, as shown in the consolidated balance
sheet. The Group considers the cost and the risk
associated with the capital. In order to maintain or
adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the
amount of dividends paid to shareholders, issue new
shares or conduct shares buy-back.

The Group maintains its gearing ratio within the
reasonable range according to the Group’s strategy.

The gearing ratios as 31 December 2017 and 2016
were as follows:

AEBERBEAZRE RREAREE
HEwEAE MR RERRTE ABR
e WHERFRENEARRBRMA
EEZKA

AEEBEBRFNEARBERERN -
HUMGEEERBRAT  AEEZ
BARBRREEHERARARERTA
AEERES - AREEEEESKA
RECHBRE - REFINARER
R AEELERHBABRRIMNZ
BEEE - BITHROIETRNDE
8] o

AEBRBERE  S$AKEELRA
BHEREFNAELEN -

RZZE—+tFRER_ZT—XF+-A
=t+—HZEABBELERET :

2017 2016

—ZE—tHF —T—RF

HK$'000 HK$°000

FET FHTT

Current portion of bank RITIEFRBVERER

borrowings 88,931 82,414
Bank borrowings RITER 351,335 383,018
Amount due to a shareholder FES — B FRIA 226,169 -
Total borrowings BR4RTE 666,435 465,432
Less: Cash and cash equivalents & : Z]RE& RIS EHED (300,060) (214,179)
Net debt position BTG F AR 366,375 251,253
Total equity HEmAAEE 1,743,357 1,563,671
Gearing ratio BERBEEE 21.0% 16.1%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #& B EH|EMEE

3 Financial risk management (continued)
3.3 Fair value estimation
The Group has no assets and liabilities that are
measured at fair value at 31 December 2017 and
2016.

The carrying values of trade and other receivables,
bank deposits, cash and cash equivalents, trade and
other payables approximate their fair values due to
their short maturities. The carrying values of variable
rate borrowings approximate their fair values as the
impact of discounting using the relevant rate is not
significant.

4 Critical accounting estimates and
judgements

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and
are based on historical experience and other factors,
including expectations of future events that are believed to
be reasonable under the circumstances.
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106

Critical accounting estimates and
judgements (continued)

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning
the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by
definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The
estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are
discussed below.

(a) Estimated impairment of property,
plant and equipment, intangible
assets, prepaid land lease payments
and interests in associates
The Group tests whether property, plant and
equipment, intangible assets, prepaid land lease
payments and interests in associates engaged in the
renewable energy businesses (“Renewable Energy
Projects”) have suffered any impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the carrying amount may not be recoverable in
accordance with the relevant accounting policies.
The Group reviews certain indicators of potential
impairment such as operating performance, actual
electricity dispatched, tariff of electricity and other
general market conditions, where applicable.

If an indication of impairment is identified, the need
for recognising an impairment loss is assessed by
comparing the carrying amount of the assets, to the
higher of (i) the fair value less cost to sell, and (ii)
the value-in-use of the cash-generating units. The
value-in-use of the cash-generating units represents
estimated future cash flows from the continuous use
of the assets, and requires complex assumptions
and estimates such as future electricity dispatched,
tariff of electricity and discount rates. The discount
rates used to discount the estimated future cash
flows are based on the relevant industry sector risk
premium and the gearing ratio.
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4 BEAESTHERHAE @)
(a) W% - MEBERRE  BREE

4 Critical accounting estimates and

judgements (continued)
(a) Estimated impairment of property,

plant and equipment, intangible
assets, prepaid land lease payments
and interests in associates (continued)
During the year, the Group has performed
impairment assessment on the Renewable
Energy Projects with impairment indicators. The
value-in-use calculation was based on the key
assumptions, including (i) average annual tariff
increment at approximately 2% (2016: 2%) based on
management’s expectation on market development
and general inflation, and (ii) Projection of volume
of electricity dispatched based on the operational
feasibility reports and historical performances. The
pre-tax discount rates applied to the cash flow
projections are 11.43% — 11.84% per annum.

Based on the impairment assessment, the
recoverable amounts of cash-generating units are
higher than their respective carrying amounts.

Judgements is required in the area of impairment.
If there is a significant adverse change in the
key assumptions, it may be necessary to have an
impairment charge to the income statement.

With all other variables held constant, if there is an
average annual tariff increment at 1% (2016: 1%)
throughout the operating period, the recoverable
amount would be less than the carrying amount by
HK$5,250,000 (2016: HK$14,494,000). Similarly,
with all other variables held constant, if the volume
of electricity dispatched is 10% (2016: 10%) less
than management expectation, the recoverable
amount would be less than the carrying amount by
HK$24,685,000 (2016: HK$32,224,000).
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4 Critical accounting estimates and

108

(b)

(c)

(d)

judgements (continued)

Useful lives and residual value of
property, plant and equipment
Management of the Company and its subsidiaries
determine the estimated useful lives, residual value
and related depreciation charges for its property,
plant and equipment. This estimate is based on
projected wear and tear incurred during power
generation. This could change significantly as a
result of technical renovations on power generators.
Management will adjust the estimated useful lives
where useful lives vary with previously estimated
useful lives. It is reasonably possible, based on
existing knowledge, that outcomes within the
next financial year that are different from current
assumptions could require material adjustments
to the carrying amount of property, plant and
equipment.

Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in Hong Kong
and the PRC. Significant judgement is required in
determining the provision for income taxes. There
are many transactions and calculations for which
ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the
ordinary course of business. The Group recognises
liabilities for potential tax exposures based on
estimates of whether additional taxes will be due.
Where the final tax outcome of these matters
is different from the amounts that were initially
recorded, such differences will affect the income
tax and deferred tax provision in the period in which
such determination is made.

Allowances for bad and doubtful
debts

The policy for allowance of bad and doubtful
debts of the Group is based on the evaluation of
collectability and ageing analysis of receivables
and management’s judgement. A considerable
amount of judgement is required in assessing the
ultimate realisation of these receivables, including
the creditworthiness and the past collection history of
each customer.
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Revenue and other income

The amount of each significant category of revenue and
other income recognised during the year is as follows:

REMBRRME

W 2 B2 B A U A
AT NIRRT BRI Z
SEWT -

2017 2016

—EB—tF —T-RE

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHT FHET

Sales of electricity BEHIEE 131,343 125,337
Value-added tax refund EBRE 6,514 5,661
Others HAith 5,805 162
143,662 131,160

Sales of electricity were all generated by the wind power
plants of the Group. The Group has a single reportable
segment which is wind power segment. As the Group does
not have significant material operations outside the PRC,
no geographic segment information is presented.

For the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group’s
revenue for reportable segment from external
customers of HK$131,343,000 (2016: HK$125,337,000,
HK$130,998,000 after including value-added tax refund) is
only attributable to the China market.

For the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group has
two customers with revenue exceeding 10% of the
Group’s total revenue (2016: two customers). Revenues
from the customers amounted to HK$84,969,000
and HK$46,374,000 (2016: HK$91,792,000 and
HK$39,206,000) respectively.
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HE-_ZT—+F+-_A=+—HBIF
B AEBEXBIABTEZAZHRS I
U 3% 4 131,343,000 T (= F — /X F ¢
125,337,000 70 * BIEEEMREMEZE A
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HE-_Z—+F+-A=+—HItEE " K
EEEMEBREF(ZE—X"F  MEEF)
Frifli s Bm AN BB 2 10% - KRB
ZERP ZWam o Bl A84,969,0007%8 7T &
46,374,000 7L (ZF — 734 : 91,792,000
77T 139,206,000/ 7T ) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #& B E|ETKHIEE

6 Expenses by nature 6 EMEESZEX
2017 2016
—E—+tF —E-REF
HK$'000 HK$’000
FET FAET
Auditor’s remuneration ZERE &
— Audit services —BZARTE 1,494 1,494
— Non-audit services —IEEZRT 615 400
Amortisation of prepaid land lease FERT L Hb 78 & SR 8
payments (Note 15) (HtaF15) 1,074 1,092
Amortisation of intangible assets B EEEE
(Note 16) (KizE16) 435 413
Depreciation of property, plant and ~ #% - #e2 R REITE
equipment (Note 13) (Hta#13) 70,068 72,351
Net exchange loss/(gain) P& 5 g8, (e ) B 58 715 (943)
Employee benefit expenses (including EEBAE X (BFEEEHS)
directors’ emoluments) (Note 9) (K17E9) 17,987 17,353
Operating lease rental KEMEERS 1,285 1,595
Repair and maintenance expenses HIENRERE 2,287 2,103
Corporate expenses TEMS 1,081 862
Legal and professional fees ERERBEER 1,427 475
Management service fee EERGE 1,106 990
Other expenses HihFAx 11,412 11,722
Total cost of sales and HEM AR RITHE 8%
administrative expenses 110,986 109,907
7 Finance income and costs 7 BiEWANRRE KA
2017 2016
—E—tF ZE—RF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Finance costs: BhE AN
— interest expenses on —SRITERZFEBHAX
bank borrowings (26,738) (31,894)
— interest expenses on amount — BT —RBRERFRIE 2 &
due to a shareholder M (6,169) -
(32,907) (31,894)
Less: amounts capitailised B BER b2 420 -
(32,487) (31,894)
Finance income: iR N
— interest income on bank deposits —RITEFESAEHLA 2,545 3,612
Finance costs — net BEKAR—FHE (29,942) (28,282)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

8 Five highest paid individuals 8
The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest
in the Group for the year include two directors (2016:
three) whose emoluments are reflected in the analysis
presented on note 32. The emoluments payable to the
remaining three (2016: two) individuals during the year are

REMBRRME

TEEEMEAL

AEE AEERELEESHFALEERS
(CZ—XRE:ZR)EE BEZHEER
HsE322 5 2 S i R B o AN R FE A
BRT=R(ZT—F : WB)EABIALZ M
EOMET

as follows:
2017 2016
—E—t5 ZE-RF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHETT
Basic salaries, housing allowances,  HA&#H& - (EFEEAL
other allowances and benefits E 2 R B S
in kind 2,727 1,985
Bonuses TE4L 467 433
Retirement scheme contributions BRIRETEIH R 148 36
3,342 2,454
The emoluments fell within the following bands: MEFERDTET :

No of individuals

AE
2017 2016
—E—+tF —E-RF
Emoluments band (in HK dollar) Bl & B (B T)
HK$nil - HK$1,000,000 Z% 7T — 1,000,000 7T 1 1
HK$1,000,001 - 1,000,001%& 7T —
HK$2,000,000 2,000,000 7T 2 1
9 Employee benefit expenses 9 EERFABX
2017 2016
—E—tF ZE—XRF
HK$'000 HK$°000
FET FET
Wages, salaries and other benefits TE - FekHMEF 15,763 15,263
Provision for unused annual leave REAF R EE 119 26
Pension costs — defined contribution  BIRE KA — EEEH TS
plan (Note a) (Kizta) 2,105 2,064
17,987 17,353
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

9 Employee benefit expenses 9

(continued)
Notes:
(a) The Group’s contribution to the employee pension scheme in the
PRC is at a percentage in compliance with the requirements of
respective municipal governments. The Group also participates
in the MPF scheme under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance for employees employed under the
jurisdiction of the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance. The MPF
scheme is a defined contribution retirement scheme administered
by independent trustees. Under the MPF scheme, the employer
and its employees are each required to make contributions to the
scheme at 5% of the employee’s relevant income, subject to a cap of
monthly relevant income of HK$30,000 with effect from 1 June 2014
(HK$25,000 before 1 June 2014). Contributions to the scheme vest
immediately.

(b)  Contributions totaling HK$27,000 (2016: HK$27,000) were payable
under the MPF scheme at 31 December 2017.

REMBRRME

EEEFB @

s -

ANEEMPEESEKSHBIEL 2 ERTIRE
HEATBRAREZBDEREL - XEBTRER
B G ATRE T BRI AZ BB RMIEHEE
ZEBRMEHESTE - aEEHERAB YL
ERABTEBEZ TEHTRAKTE - RIFERES
B EBEREEYEERBREBEBRAZS%MA
FTEIERHERR - S A 2R A _£R A30,000
BL(BZE—NFEAA—BER)(ZZ—HF
NA—HZB1A25000/47T) o MEEIEH 2 4
RENBS SR ©

(a)

RZZT—+F+=fB=+—0 REBESE
BT 2 HHRA 27,0008 (T — X F -
27,000/%7T) °

7=
10 Income tax expense 10 M |
No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as HRAEBEBE_T—EEFR T —RF
the Group has no assessable profit for the years ended TAZ=T—HALFEYEERTEN - &
31 December 2017 and 2016. Mainland China income tax WEA BB NS HIEL AR EPjE@E:Fﬁ?ﬁE‘
includes corporate income tax which has been provided B (RIEREMSHR) R BIAREL 2 M B
on the estimated assessable profits of subsidiaries REZfAEHERBUGF] - #225% (= F— X
operating in the Mainland China at 25% (2016: 25%). F o 26%) 2 BERIELEE - EMTIRRE
Withholding tax was provided for undistributed profits of :FEP%‘EQET&H%%QETZ*%»EEH ’
certain subsidiaries and associates in the PRC at a rate of 125%810% (=T —7NF : 10%) 2 B 1E
5% or 10% (2016: 10%). R
2017 2016
—E—tF —T—RF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHET
Current income tax BNERFR1S T (1,082) -
Withholding tax on dividends BREARE 2B (9,201) (6,657)
Deferred income tax credit/(expense), EIEFTEHE R, () FEE
net (Note 25) (KiiE25) 919 (177)
Income tax expense FTSfis (9,364) (6,834)
Note: st -
The share of income tax expense of associates amounting to FE(REE AT 2 TSR S H 519,682,000/ T (=&
HK$19,682,000 (2016: HK$21,277,000) is included in the Group’s share of —N4E 121,277,000/ 70) JyET AN EE 2 FE(G S A T
profits less losses of associates. S MRUETE o
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10 Income tax expense (continued) 10 FTEH X H @)
The tax on the Group’s profit before income tax differs REBAGHANRHN 2B - BEATREKX
from the theoretical amount that would arise using the B MEGFEMSZERBRBZZBOT ¢

taxation rate of PRC as follows:

2017 2016
—E—+tF ZE—RF
HK$'000 HK$°000
FET FAET
Profit before income tax FFr 5 %5 A& A 70,314 64,980
Less: Share of profits less losses W EEBERFZ
of associates i KRB 18 (67,580) (72,009)
2,734 (7,029)
Tax calculated at the tax rate, 25% H25%(ZF—7RF : 25%)

(2016: 25%) FTHE A (684) 1,758
Effect of different tax rates TR E 2 8 1,879 4,093
Expenses not deductible for Itk b3

taxation purpose (2,977) (1,905)
Income not subject to tax AR 2 A 529 653
Tax losses not recognised REER 2 TIAEE - (2,818)
Utilisation of previous unrecognised B R ER Z TR IEEE

tax losses 1,922 -
Withholding tax on dividends and BENTRMB AR EAR

undistributed profits of associates B 27 B AER D B FE

and subsidiaries (10,033) (8,615)
Income tax expense FriS®isz (9,364) (6,834)
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11 Earnings per share 1
(a) Basic
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing
the profit attributable to equity holders of the
Company by the weighted average number of
ordinary shares in issue during the year.

REMBRRME

BRER
(a) EF

BREABMNIDREBEARRRERFA
AR TR RS 81T BB Z N

BB -

2017 2016
i —ERF
Profit attributable to equity RARERIFE ARG R
holders of the Company (F#%&7T)
(HK$ thousand) 60,330 61,098
Weighted average number BEITE AR T
of ordinary shares in issue (Fi%)
(thousand) 2,359,216 2,356,372
Basic earnings per share SIREARZF]
(HK cents per share) (EFMBN) 2.56 2.59
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #& B EH|EMEE

11 SRER @)

11 Earnings per share (continued)
(b) #58

(b) Diluted

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting
the weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding to assume conversion of all dilutive
potential ordinary shares. In 2017, the warrants
are assumed to have been converted into ordinary
shares. The number of shares calculated as below is
compared with the number of shares that would have
been issued assuming the exercise of warrants.

BREERNERRBRITRE B
Pz i P8 - ABRRAE#EE
EERRYCOELBMAE - R=F
—tF RBEERRCABRER
B o TXHFTEMG 2B BE 2R
AR ERAITEM AL TT 2D
BEEITHE -

2017 2016
i —E-RF
Profit attributable to equity RARERIFE ARG R
holders of the Company (F#8T)
(HK$ thousand) 60,330 61,098
Weighted average number BEITE AR T
of ordinary shares in issue (Fi%)
(thousand) 2,359,216 2,356,372
Adjustment for: AT SIEFE -
— Assumed conversion of —RERREFTEL R
warrants (thousand) (F4) 11,647 -
Weighted average number of ARETEEREERTN 2
ordinary shares for diluted LimpR T8 (TR
earnings per share (thousand) 2,370,863 2,356,372
Diluted earnings per share BREE RN
(HK cents per share) (FRB) 2.54 2.59

Diluted earnings per share for the year ended 31
December 2016 is equal to basic earnings per share
as there are no potential dilutive shares in issue for
the year ended 31 December 2016.
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12

116

REMBRRME

Dividends 12 B2
2017 2016
—E—+tF —E-RE
HK$'000 HK$’000
FHET FHTT
Interim dividend paid, of HK0.3 cents 2R EIME -
(2016: HKO.2 cents) per ordinary T%E®AZ0.375(L
share ZE—RF L 0.280) 7,094 4,713
Final dividend proposed, of HKO0.4 BOREBERHEMRE
cents (2016: Nil) per ordinary share &% %@ A%0.47%5 11
ZE—RFE) 9,459 -

On 19 March 2018, a final dividend of HKO0.4 cents per
ordinary share payable in cash in respect of the year
ended 31 December 2017 is proposed by the Board and
the amounts are not accounted for until they are approved
by the shareholders at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company. As the proposed final dividend
is declared after the balance sheet date, such dividend is
not recognised as liability as at 31 December 2017.

On 23 August 2017, the Board has declared an interim
dividend of HK0.3 cents per ordinary share payable in
cash, total of HK$7.1 million was paid in October 2017.

No final dividend was proposed for the year ended
31 December 2016.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #& B EH|EMEE

13 Property, plant and equipment 13 YP2E - HERRE
Electricity Furniture,
utility plant fixtures and Motor
and others  equipment vehicles Total
BRERR B #E
Hit &L AE FoHy
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAET TAT BT THEL
At 1 January 2016 R-E-~&E-H-A
Cost B%N 1,345,858 1,007 1,113 1,347,978
Accumulated depreciation ZETITERRE
and impairment (306,932) (783) (1,066) (308,781)
Net book amount REFE 1,038,926 224 47 1,039,197
Year ended 31 December 2016 BE-_B—AE
+tZA=+-RALEE
Opening net book amount FUREZE 1,038,926 224 47 1,039,197
Currency translation differences [E e = (56,598) (15) (8) (56,621)
Additions NE 345 150 133 628
Depreciation nE (72,228) (64) (59) (72,351)
Closing net book amount FRIEEFE 910,445 295 113 910,853
At 31 December 2016 RZB—RE
+=A=+-A
Cost %N 1,268,186 1,060 1,040 1,270,286
Accumulated depreciation ZRETERE
and impairment (357,741) (765) (927) (359,433)
Net book amount REFE 910,445 295 113 910,853
Year ended 31 December 2017 BE-Z—+&
TZA=Z+—-RALEE
Opening net book amount FREFE 910,445 295 113 910,853
Currency translation differences ERREEE 68,789 31 20 68,840
Additions NE 504 305 295 1,104
Transfer from construction in progress B EE T2 873 8 - 881
Disposal & - (12) - (12)
Depreciation neE (69,926) (94) (48) (70,068)
Closing net book amount FRIEEFE 910,685 533 380 911,598
At 31 December 2017 R-B-+%&
+ZA=t-H
Cost BCAR 1,369,592 1,445 1,010 1,372,047
Accumulated depreciation RETERRE
and impairment (458,907) (912) (630) (460,449)
Net book amount REFE 910,685 533 380 911,598
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13 Property, plant and equipment 13 ¥)2E - HERRE @
(continued)
Certain bank borrowings are secured by certain of the A TIRITE I B A % B8R E 2900,800,000
Group’s property, plant and equipment with carrying L (ZZ—75F 1 900,900,000/ ) 2 & F
values of HK$900.8 million (2016: HK$900.9 million) W% - S REREERA (FTFE23) -
(Note 23).
14 Construction in progress 14 ®EIRE
Total
st
HK$'000
FATT
At 1 January 2016 RZE—XRF—H—H 1,055
Currency translation differences R ImE =5 (393)
Additions NE 6,657
At 31 December 2016 RZE—RF+=-A=+—H 7,319
At 1 January 2017 RZE—+F—H—H 7.319
Currency translation differences R ImE =5 1,735
Additions NE 29,282
Transfer to intangible asset EREEEEE (1,366)
Transfer to property, plant and equipment EREYE - BEREE (881)
At 31 December 2017 R-E—+F+-_/F=+—H 36,089
15 Prepaid land lease payments 15 ST HHER
HK$'000
FHTT
At 1 January 2016 R-ZE—RF—H—H 13,937
Currency translation differences R ImE =5 (756)
Amortisation 3] (1,092)
At 31 December 2016 RZE—ARF+=ZA=+—H 12,089
At 1 January 2017 R-E—tF—H—H 12,089
Currency translation differences [EHBE =R 910
Amortisation By (1,074)
At 31 December 2017 R-ZE—+F+-A=+—H 11,925
Certain bank borrowings are secured by certain of the ETRITEZ TR A LB EEES, 500,000
Group’s prepaid land lease payments with carrying values BT (ZZT—/N4F ¢ 8,700,000 T) 2 & T
of HK$8.5 million (2016: HK$8.7 million) (Note 23). FE 4 Hb T S/ HE R (f2E23) o
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16 Intangible assets 16 BILEE
Computer Concession
software right Total
SiKEMH YSETRE et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T FET FHET
At 1 January 2016 R=-ZE—-XE—HA—H
Cost BN 770 193,810 194,580
Accumulated amortisation REHEEE NORE
and impairment (528) (189,334) (189,862)
Net book amount R FAE 242 4,476 4,718
Year ended 31 December 2016 BE_-T—F
+TZA=t+—HLEFE
Opening net book amount FUREFE 242 4,476 4,718
Currency translation differences [& & =% (12) (242) (254)
Additions N=E 6 - 6
Amortisation #iE (39) (374) (413)
Closing net book amount FREEEFE 197 3,860 4,057
At 31 December 2016 R-E—XRE
+=A=+—8
Cost D% 753 182,544 183,297
Accumulated amortisation REHEEE NORE
and impairment (556) (178,684) (179,240)
Net book amount IREDFE 197 3,860 4,057
Year ended 31 December 2017 HBE—-ZT—+tF
+ZA=+—HLEE
Opening net book amount FYRMEFE 197 3,860 4,057
Currency translation differences [EX & =% 72 290 362
Additions NE 42 - 42
Transfer from construction HEEZTRE
in progress 1,366 - 1,366
Amortisation #iE (68) (367) (435)
Closing net book amount FREREEE 1,609 3,783 5,392
At 31 December 2017 No-TE—+8&
+=-BA=+—8
Cost (D% 2,251 196,979 199,230
Accumulated amortisation RETEEENORE
and impairment (642) (193,196) (193,838)
Net book amount BREFE 1,609 3,783 5,392
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17 Interests in associates 17 RBE AR 2R
2017 2016
—E—+tHF —E-RE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Group’s share of net assets AEBEEEEFE 931,364 878,111
The following financial information, after making THMBER (KABRNEREFR T Ee:t
adjustments to conform with the Group’s significant WE -8 ANEE A EEEEE AT (2
accounting policies, represents the Group’s aggregate BHEIEIFrTAT)ZEE - B WL
share of assets, liabilities, revenue and results of & W T
associates, all of which are unlisted, and is summarised as
below:
2017 2016
—E—+tHF —E-REF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Assets BE 1,546,092 1,465,060
Liabilities BB (614,728) (586,949)
Net assets BEFE 931,364 878,111
Revenue e 205,620 230,886
Profit for the year INE E R A 67,580 72,009
Particulars of the associates are set out on page 142. B N Al 2 FFIBENE 1428 o
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17 Interests in associates (continued) 17 REEE DR Z2ER (#)
Set out below are the summarised financial information for T A AN E BB N T 2 B RS E BT o
the associates of the Group.
Summarised income statement S F A
For the year ended 31 December HEt+-_A=1+—HIEE
CECIC HKC Wind Power CECIC HKE Wind Power CECIC HKC (Gansu) Wind
Company Limited Company Limited Power Company Limited Total
EEERENRE HEERENRE HEREER(HR)
(Rb)ERAR (RE)ERAT BAREERAR @i
2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016

T T S s st i S e
HKS'000  HK$000  HKS'000  HKS00  HKS'000  HKS00O  HKS'000  HK$000
TER ThRL TAR TR Tin TR TR TERL

Revenue W& 204,107 236,027 110,741 112,695 226,887 256,667 541,735 605,389
Other expense 2 Ex (38,889) (24,763) (17,007) (7.736) (9,706) (15,295) (65,602) (47,794)
Depreciation and amortisation 178 [ i (78,060)  (105,772) (46,053) (46.981) (80,255)  (102045)  (204368)  (254,798)
Finance costs - net BERE-FE (21.141) (26,465) (15,335) (19,146) (20,580) (25,994) (57,056) (71,605)
Currentincome tax expense  EEFTER T (22,830) (26,202) (1.918) (9.273) (20,437) (20,036) (51,185) (65,611)
Deferred income tax credit  EXHERES 6,561 6,673 - - 4,975 5,059 11,536 11,732
Profit for the year RERRT 49,748 59,498 24,428 29,559 100,884 98,356 175,060 187413
Other comprehensive H2ERA/ (58
income / (loss) IS (54084) 3045 (228%6) 74999 (56972 179206 (133.882)
Total comprehensive income ~ 2ERAEE 123,499 5414 54,884 6,733 175,883 41384 354,266 53,531
Dividends declared by BERRERRE
associates (27,257) (20,140) (7,450) (2,830) (48,257) (43,600) (82,964) (66,570)
Summarised balance sheet EEEERE®M
As at 31 December R+—A=+—H
CECIC HKC Wind Power CECIC HKE Wind Power CECIC HKC (Gansu) Wind
Company Limited Company Limited Power Company Limited Total
hERERENRE hERREENRE hERER(HR)
(EX)ERAT (BL)ERAA BHREERAT @it
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016

E-tE ZFAF ZE-tE ZER E-tE 3N ZE-tE ZENE
tZA=t-8 fZA=t-B fZR=t-8 fZR=t-R fZR=f-B fZA=t-B +ZB=t-B +ZA=t-H
HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$ 000 HKS'000 HK$000
TEx Thn TERL i Tz T T Tin

Non-current assets ERHEE 1,396,968 1,369,568 685,385 689,092 1430438 1418010 3513291 3476670
Current assets FEHEE 251,133 198795 119,021 74,372 183,011 103,678 553,165 376,845
Total assets LEBE 1,648,101 1568363 804,906 763464 1,613,449 1521688 406645 3853515
Non-current liabilities FRYAR 84,257 84,423 287,880 311,248 63,632 63,777 435,769 459,448
Current liabilities TEaE 563,734 539,183 101,736 66,975 532,986 49632 1198456 1,102,480
Total liabilities BEEE 647,991 623,606 389,616 378,223 596,618 560009 1,634,225 1561928
Net assets EEEE 1,000,110 944,757 415,290 385,241 1,016,831 961580 2,432,231 2291587
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17 Interests in associates (continued) 17 REEE DBl 2 xS (%)
Summarised balance sheet (continued) EEEERMMN &
The information above reflects the amounts presented in Ll ER R E R R RV BRE 220 E
the financial statements of the associates adjusted for any ¥ REEERIED 2ERAFERAREMS
fair value adjustments made at the time of acquisition. o
Reconciliation of the summarised financial information AREBERHEBES AN RFEEIESI 2T’
presented to the carrying amount of the Group’s interests BRI T BR

in its associates:

CECIC HKC Wind Power CECIC HKE Wind Power CECIC HKC (Gansu) Wind

Company Limited Company Limited Power Company Limited Total
THEERENRE hHRERAIRE hHERR(ER)

(&) ERAR (BH)ERAR BARERRAA &t

2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016

ZE-tE  ZE-F  CZE-tE  ZF-nF  ZE-tE  ZZ-5F ZE-tE  _IF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR Thn TR FiET AR Tin TAT Thn

At 1 January R-A-A
Opening net assets FEEEE 944,757 989,693 385,241 387 941 961,589 1,020204 2,091,587 2,406,838
Profit for the year TEEET 49,748 59,498 24,428 29,559 100,884 98,356 175,060 187,413
Other comprehensive Hu2ERA/ (BB
income / (loss) 13,751 (54,084) 30,456 (22,826) 74,999 (56,972) 179,206 (133,882)
Dividends &) (68,146) (50,350) (24,835) (9,433) (120,641) (108,999) (213,622) (168,762)
At 31 December RtZA=t-A
Closing net assets FREERE 1,000,110 944,757 415,290 385,241 1,016,831 961,589 2,432,231 2,291,587
Reporting entities' share in %~ BRAZER AL 40% 40% 30% 30% 40% 40% N/A N/A
Group's interests in associates  EERNBENE 2 A 400,044 377,903 124,588 115,572 406,732 384,636 931,364 878,111
=
18 Prepayments, trade and other 18 FANM - BRI K HALFE
receivables W=
2017 2016
—EB—tF —E-RF
Note HK$°000 HK$’000
ihr=s FET FHIT
Non-current FEFRED
Prepayments TR (b) 155,001 886
Other receivables E b pE U R (c) 11,410 17,302
166,411 18,188
Current TE
Trade receivables FEUR R SR (a) 17,176 53,150
Prepayments and FEAT 3 B E A R (c)
other receivables 100,554 25,169
117,730 78,319
284,141 96,507
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18 Pre

payments, trade and other

receivables (continued)

Notes:

(a)

The ageing analysis of trade receivables by the Group’s revenue

REMBRRME

18 %Ejj?\k - B BRI R EL A
WK ()
Wit -

(a) RER BAKERGZERRRE D ZRUERK

recognition policy at year end was as follows: BREQ AT -
2017 2016
—E—+tF —E-REF
HK$'000 HK$’000
FHER FET
Less than 30 days LH30H 17,176 18,740
More than 30 days and within 60 days HBAE30H{ER60H A - 1,088
More than 60 days and within 90 days 60 HER90H A - -
More than 90 days #3900 H - 33,322
17,176 53,150

The ageing analysis of trade receivables by invoice due date at year
end was as follows: (Note i)

RER - REZFH A S0 2 YRR DT
W (HEE )

2017 2016

—E—+tF —E—XF

HK$’000 HK$’'000

FHExT FExT

Less than 30 days LH30H 17,176 52,471
More than 30 days and within 60 days fBiB30H{ER60H A - 679
17,176 53,150

Note i:

The Group allows a credit period of 30 days to its trade customers.
Trade receivables that are less than 30 days past due are not
considered as impaired. As at 31 December 2017, trade receivable
of HK$17.2 million (2016: HK$52.5 million) were either performing
or past due less than 30 days. Included in this balance, HK$5.0
million (2016: HK$41.2 million) represented the electricity tariff
receivables due from the government which have to go through an
approval procedure before issuing invoices and invoices of these
related receivables were not issued as at 31 December 2017. As
at 31 December 2017, trade receivables of HK$2.1 million (31
December 2016: HK$4.4 million) were past due but not impaired. No
impairment has been provided for these receivables as the balances
are not in dispute and there is no indication that the amount will not
be collectible.
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Brat i

AEEREEFREFIRE AR ZEERE - @
H L HR30A 2 BMBRA T HEERE - K=
—t&+=ZA=+—8 ' EUIEF17,200,0007%
Jo(ZZF—7<4 : 52,500,000/ 70 ) O BT E
B 30H © fEZ AP + 5,000,000 T (=
T — X4 1 41,200,000 T ) iEEKBFEE
FHREERALEZMARBEN MR =F
—tF+ A=+ ARSHEERENEE
KAH - RZZE—tF+-A=+—8  BKE
#2,100,0008 (=T — X "F+=-A=+—8:
4,400,000 ) E @M HAB REE - AREHRT
HREMFH  TEFRBERAESEETIK
B - Ak 5 5 MR SRV R E B A
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18

19

124

Prepayments, trade and other
receivables (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(b) The balance mainly includes prepayments of HK$154,045,000
(2016: Nil) for purchase of wind farm’s equipment for the
construction work.

(c) Included in other receivables were input value-added taxation
recoverable of HK$18,375,000 (2016: HK$22,994,000) arising
from purchase of property, plant and equipment and dividend
receivables from associates of HK$78,462,000 (2016: Nil).

(d) The carrying amount of the Group’s prepayments and trade and
other receivables is denominated in the following currencies:

REMBRRME

18ﬁ§ﬁ‘EWE%&EME
WK ()
Hiat - (%)

(b)

(c)

EHRPREREEEETIRERRBERNBEEBRES
154,045,000/ 70 ( =2 —754F « #)FEM K °

ST A EL b FE U K A AT IR 3 TH 32 (B 7 18,375,000
BIL(ZZ—75F 1 22,994,000 7T) © TR AH
BEWME  #E REBEREREEARARES
78,462,000 TT(Z T —RF | ) °

AREEBMR - BUERA R ALK Z REE
AT FIERGHE -

2017 2016

—E—tF —E-RF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FTHExT FET

Hong Kong dollars BT 384 169
Renminbi AREE 283,669 96,258
Singapore dollars g 88 80
284,141 96,507

(e) All prepayments and trade and other receivables do not contain
impaired assets. The maximum exposure to credit risk at the
reporting date is the carrying value of each class of receivables
mentioned above.

A bank borrowing is secured by certain of the Group’s trade
receivables with carrying values of HK$4.4 million (2016: HK$43.5
million) (Note 23).

Short-term bank deposits

As at 31 December 2017, there was no short-term bank
deposits. As at 31 December 2016, the short-term bank
deposits were denominated in Renminbi. The interest rates
on the deposits were 2.6% to 3.3%, and had maturity 94
days.

19

(e)

P8 TR 70 T 8 M B R e L R MR I £ B 50
BAE -NBRENPEERBzESER LIS
SRR 2 R E -

SRITIE R Ty AN L EAR TE (B 4,400,000 T (= F
— 74+ 43,500,000 7T ) 2 & TR REER
R (KIzE23) ©

EHASR 1T 7K
MN_ZBE—+FE+-A=+—0H  HEESHIRER
TER - RZE—R"F+ZA=+—H &
BRI AN RBBEHE - TR ZFIENTF
2.6%%3.3% ' FHIA A94XK -
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20 Cash and cash equivalents 20 BERREEEY

2017 2016
et e
HK$'000 HK$’000
FET FAET
Cash at bank and in hand RITRFERS 132,357 125,518
Short-term bank deposits 2 ARRITIF 3K 167,703 75,186
300,060 200,704
2017 2016
—E—+tF —E-RF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FHBT

(a) Placed in banks in the PRC: (a) TFHAFEEIERT :
— denominated in Renminbi —AARBHE 90,052 82,104

— denominated in Hong Kong — B TTEE

dollars 36,820 36,816
— denominated in US dollars —AZETTEHE 2,602 4,874

(b) Placed in banks in Hong Kong: (b) B&FHREERET:

— denominated in Hong Kong — B TTEE
dollars 170,024 13,542
— denominated in Renminbi —AARBHE 416 63,249
— denominated in Singapore — AT IS LA
dollars 2 2
(c) Cashinhand (c) FHERD 144 117
300,060 200,704
The effective interest rates at the balance sheet date were NEE R EEMERNT
as follows:
2017 2016
—E—+tF —E-RF
HKS RMB HK$ RMB
BT AR® BT AR#
Short-term bank deposits RERITER 1.05%-1.81% - 1.51%  0.35%-3.6%
The short-term bank deposits of the Group have original AEFEZEHEAFES B A—F=
maturities of one to three months (2016: one to two BR(—ZE—XRE : —ZMAA) -
months).
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20 Cash and cash equivalents (continued)
Significant restrictions
Cash and short-term deposits of HK$129,474,000 (2016:
HK$123,794,000) are held in Mainland China and are
subject to local exchange control regulations, under which
the balances could not be exported freely out of Mainland
China. The repatriation of fund out from Mainland China is
possibly conducted by way of dividends or other means as
complied to the regulations.

21 Share capital

20 Be R RESEEY @)
B REEH
5“%3!#:5*%%%#35%%&&%@@%&
129,474,000 & 7L ( = & — XN F
123,794,000/8 7T ) 7E B 1& & H HNE E 35

E Bl ZSEH8TSERERPEK
o B BBk B EMBETREM AR
ﬁ%$lﬁﬁ

21 IR

Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each

ESREEIBTZEER
Number of shares HK$'000
BHEE FHET
Issued and fully paid: BEETREE
At 1 January 2016, R—E—X"F—A—H"
31 December 20186, —E-X&+-A=+—H
1 January 2017 rZZF—+F—H—H 2,356,371,843 23,564
Exercise of warrants (Note) 1TE R (3T 8,320,601 83
At 31 December 2017 RZE—+tF
+=-A=+—H 2,364,692, 444 23,647
Note: HaE -

On 19 May 2017, the Company issued 471,274,368 bonus warrants
(Warrant Code: 1677) on the basis of one bonus warrant for every five
existing shares of the Company held by the shareholders (“Bonus Warrants
1677").The holders of Bonus Warrants 1677 are entitled to subscribe
at any time during 19 May 2017 to 18 May 2018 for fully paid shares
at a subscription price of HK$0.230 per share (subject to adjustment).
8,320,601 new ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each were issued upon the
exercise of 8,320,601 units of Bonus Warrants 1677 for the year ended 31
December 2017.
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RZZE—+FHA +7LE| CARRRBERERENTR
A& 3R A B 1D AT B — 10 41 FI R AR 4 2% (RRARME B 5% -
1677)2%&%&6%?471 274,368 1) AL T R AERE ([ AT F

RIRIEFE1677]) - ALFIRREE 16771 B ABEN =
T—+tERATARE-_T—/\ERA+/\BHBIE
] BF R LA SR BB (B B AR AR 19 0.230 4 7o (7] T #H2) 326
BRBG BHE_T—tF+_A=+—BHLEFE"
8,320,601 % & A% EI1H0.0178 7T 2 ¥ & i 1% 74 8,320,601
AL RRAE E 1677 I TR BT o
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REMBRRME

22 Reserves 22 f##E
Share Exchange Retained
premium reserve earnings Total
B 178 EZF%E RE 2R st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHEIT FHEIT FHT
Balance at 1 January 2016 RZE—RF
—R—Bzi&H% 892,905 34,481 655,737 1,583,123
Currency translation differences EHHEER
- subsidiaries =N - (40,896) - (40,896)
- associates VN - (51,270) - (51,270)
Dividend paid BERRE - - (9,426) (9,426)
Profit for the year REF & H - - 61,098 61,098
Balance at 31 December 2016 RZZE—XRE
TZA=tT—Bz&#% 892,905 (57,685) 707,409 1,542,629
Balance at 1 January 2017 RZE—+5F
—A—Bz&E#® 892,905 (57,685) 707,409 1,542,629
Currency translation differences EHHEER
- subsidiaries —MEBAE - 55,446 - 55,446
- associates = VNG! - 68,637 - 68,637
Dividend paid ERIRE - - (7,094) (7,094)
Exercise of warrants 1R AR & 1,831 - - 1,831
Profit for the year REFRF - - 60,330 60,330
Balance at 31 December 2017 N+
+ZA=+—HBz&% 894,736 66,398 760,645 1,721,779
23 Bank borrowings 23 RITER
2017 2016
—ZE—tHF ZT—RF
HK$'000 HK$°000
FHET FHEIT
Non-current FETRED 351,335 383,018
Current Vi 88,931 82,414
440,266 465,432

Amounts of HK$259 million (2016: HK$303 million) of
bank borrowings issued at variable rates are secured and

7 8 259,000,0008 7T ( —F — N F
303,000,000/8 7T ) )2 B Fl| K 317 2 R 1T

guaranteed by fellow subsidiaries. BRE TEE - WAHRRWEB D RIEER -
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23 Bank borrowings (continued)

REMBRRME

23 RITERK @)

Notes: izt -
(a)  The maturity of bank borrowings at the balance sheet date is as (a) MNEERBTERZIHENAT :
follows:
2017 2016
—E—tF A
HK$'000 HK$'000
TR FET
Within one year —FR 88,931 82,414
In the second year - 102,761 82,414
In the third to fifth year E=FEZERF 197,157 233,903
After the fifth year hF® 51,417 66,701
440,266 465,432

(b) Bank borrowings are denominated in Renminbi.

(c) The effective interest rate for variable rate bank borrowings at the
balance sheet date was 4.90% (2016: 4.90%). The effective interest
rate for fixed rate bank borrowings at the balance sheet date was
6.30% (2016: 6.30%).

(d) Bank borrowings are secured by certain property, plant and
equipment, prepaid land lease payments and trade receivables of
the Group (Notes 13, 15 and 18).

(e) The Group had an undrawn borrowing facility amounted HK$509
million as of 31 December 2017 (2016: HK$53 million).

(f) The fair value of the fixed rate bank borrowings as at 31 December
2017 is HK$157 million (2016: HK$165 million). The carrying
amounts of the remaining bank borrowings approximate their fair
values.

(9) The exposure of the Group’s borrowings to interest rate changes
and the contractual repricing dates or maturity (whichever is earlier)
at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

(b)  RITEFAAREEE -

(c) TAIENRBITHFNEEDZERFXRA4.902
(ZE—"F 1 4.90F) - BEEF REITHRAL
HHZEBRFEA6.30E(ZT—/"F :6.30F) °

(d)y SRITERDUAEBETYE  WERSE &
15 S A B 3R K R UK BR SRVE AR (ME5E13 ~ 15 )%
18) °

() M-Z—+F+-A=+—8 A&EEZKEMN
3% B & %8 /509,000,000 7T ( —F — N4 -
53,000,000/ 7T) °

) RZZE—+F+=A=+—08  BEHRETE
2 X F1{E A157,000,00078 7T ( ZF — 7N 4F
165,000,000/ 7T ) © A T IRITHER 2 REEHEE
ATEEE -

(9) MBEPRAKEEFEHNETESH AR A
HEHEEBEHANIABUAREERE)WT ¢

2017 2016

—EB—+tF ZE—RF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FAET

6 months or less NEAA AT 157,836 151,733
6-12 months ANEtT=EA 129,546 151,733
287,382 303,466

24 Amount due to a shareholder
The amount due to a shareholder is unsecured, interest
bearing at 3.5% per annum over one-month Hong Kong
Interbank Offered Rate on principal amount and repayable
on demand. The balance is denominated in Hong Kong
dollars.
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25 BREFEBHER
BIEFEHBESITNT :

25 Deferred income tax liabilities
The analysis of deferred income tax liabilities is as follows:

2017 2016
—EB—tF —T-RE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Deferred tax liabilities: EERIEEE -
— To be recovered after more than — R+ —{E A& KO
12 months 24,630 22,966
— To be recovered within 12 months  — iR+ —1{& A Wik 8,142 8,552
32,772 31,518

The movements in deferred income tax liabilities during
the year are as follows:

REER  EEAEHABZESHOT

Fair value

adjustment

arising from
business Withholding

combinations tax Total
REEKEH
ZAFEAR AR st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FHETT FHET FHET
At 1 January 2016 R-E—XE—H—A (1,588) (31,484) (33,072)
Currency translation differences [E 3} & =% 46 1,685 1,731
Credited/(charged) to the FEHR=mERFTA (ZH)
profit or loss (Note 10) (Kta£10) 310 (487) (77)
At 31 December 2016 RZE—RF
+=—A=+—H (1,232) (30,286) (31,518)
At 1 January 2017 R-ZFE—+tF—H—H (1,232) (30,286) (31,518)
Currency translation differences [} & =48 (42) (2,131) (2,173)
Credited to the profit or loss FEERHERTA(XH)
(Note 10) (Hiz£10) 305 614 919
At 31 December 2017 RZE—+F
+=ZA=+—H (969) (31,803) (32,772)

7N £ B P £ 5 598 89,217,000 T (=&
— N4 1 95,717,000/ 7T ) ERIELE AT 15
& E 216160008 L ( ZF — XN F ¢
23,617,000/ 7L ) B LA S 4K 45 A 18 B3R
RBA - ZEREBIETEERAREY - #
86,432,000/ 7L (= ZF — 75 4F : 92,933,000
B2 REEBBIEREZE (=

The Group did not recognise deferred income tax
assets of HK$21,616,000 (2016: HK$23,617,000) in
respect of losses amounting to HK$89,217,000 (2016:
HK$95,717,000) that can be carried forward against
future taxable income. These tax losses have no expiry
dates except tax losses of HK$86,432,000 (2016:
HK$92,933,000) which expire at various dates up to 2022

(2016: 2021).
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26 Trade and other payables 26 FE{TERF R H AL ETFR
2017 2016
—E—+tHF T —RF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
Trade payables FERTER X 552 667
Payables for acquisition and EHBENREERME  HHERk
construction of property, Bl AN E
plant and equipment 30,232 57,471
Other payables and accruals HitvfE R R FERTE A 16,174 10,295
46,958 68,433
The ageing analysis of trade payables at year end was as NELER » FENERRZERDITWOT -
follows:
2017 2016
—E—tHF AN S
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FAT
Less than 12 months L+ —1E8A 53 185
12 months and more +=EA R E 499 482
552 667
The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade and other INEEE v FEBR S B At e 2 2 BRE EE IR
payables are denominated in the following currencies: NTEESIE :
2017 2016
—E—tF ZE—RF
HK$'000 HK$’000
FHET TR
Hong Kong dollars BT 2,427 2,428
Renminbi AR 44,485 65,967
Singapore dollars s T 46 38
46,958 68,433
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27 Commitments 27
(a) Capital commitments
Capital expenditure at the balance sheet date but not
yet incurred was as follows:

REMBRRME

RIE

(a) EAREE
REEHBERIERBAEELEZE ARH
T

2017 2016
—E—tF —E-REF
HK$'000 HK$’000
FET FAT
Contracted but not provided for 2 ET&MER BB H LR
capital expenditure in respect B 2 B EE
of renewable energy projects 503,166 8,648
Authorised but not contracted for EH#ERKRFE BELER
capital expenditure in respect  BH ZEARRLEIH
of renewable energy projects 100,514 -
603,680 8,648

(b) Commitments under operating leases
The aggregate future minimum lease payments
under non-cancellable operating leases in respect of
land and buildings were as follows:

(b) EREEHEIR N 2&IE
BIEA M LI KB T2 T A
BEEAREN 2 HERSBBNT

2017 2016
—E—+tHF —E-RF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
No later than 1 year —F R 429 364
Later than 1 year and —FRERLFR
no later than 5 years 250 629
679 993
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28 Related party transactions 28

The Group entered into transactions with the following
related parties for the years ended 31 December 2017
and 2016, in addition to those disclosed elsewhere in the
consolidated financial statements.

(a) Administrative services fee, which includes the office
overhead, and reimbursement of cost of internal
audit, legal and information technology department
of HK$1,106,000 (2016: HK$990,000) was paid to
HKC.

(b) Office rental of HK$595,000 (2016: HK$726,000) was

paid to HKC.

The above related party transactions are continuing
connected transactions exempt from the reporting, annual
review, announcement and independent shareholders’
approval requirements pursuant to Rule 14A.33 of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing
Rules”) on the Stock Exchange.

(c) Key management compensation
Key management solely represents directors of the
Company. The compensation paid or payable to key
management is shown as below:

REMBRRME

BEEBLRXZ

BE_ Ttk -_ZF—NR"F+-A=1+—
RIEFE @ BREaMBREEMEHMNE
oh - AEBRETIIEE TR L 2RS -

(a) mEBRRZATRREER &
ERAEZRERST - URENAE
B AR REAMBEBMAKRAE
1,106,000/ 7T ( ZZ —7< 4 :990,000
BIT) ©

(b) mEsEEL A= S595000
BIL(ZZT—NF 1 726,000/ 7T) °

FHEB SR P IREBRATES ETRA
(T ET3R8I]) F14A.331& BRI EEA B <F
EHARE  FEEX - A RELIRELE
HEZHEBERS -

() TEEEAE 2R
TEEBAREEAAAES - Of
RN EEERARZ BMBIIMT -

2017 2016

—EB—tF —T-RE

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHExT T

Salaries and other benefits ek EMmER 2,619 2,603

Directors’ fees ok 765 675
Pension cost — defined BRIREK A — EEBHRETE

contribution scheme 54 54

3,438 3,332

(d) As at 31 December 2017, the Group provided
guarantee to counter parties in respect of
credit facilities granted to certain associates of

HK$100,758,000 (2016: HK$106,714,000).
The transactions did not constitute a connected

transaction as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.
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28 Related party transactions (continued) 28 BABET X 5 (@)

(e) Interest expense payable on amount due to a (e) M —gRERERMNMNSHX
shareholder amounted to HK$6,169,000 (2016: HK$Nil). 6,169,000 TT(ZZF—/RF : ) -
On 23 January 2017, the Company entered into a RZE—tF—A=-+=H ' AQH
loan facility agreement with Creator Holdings Limited HAEEBBR AR (AR REM T
(a company indirect wholly-owned by Mr. OEI Kang, ERE2ERB ) LERBEHE
Eric), under which the Company might borrow up to B BEZE—-NF+_A=+—
HK$300 million until 31 December 2018. The terms B« &2 A A f& A & % 300,000,000
of the loan are set out in Note 24 to the consolidated BT o ERZIEREREE M B HRE
financial statements. FfE24 o

29 Notes to consolidated cash flow 29 RERERERMNE
statement

(a) Reconciliation of profit before (a) FrEBARMEEEMER
income tax to cash generated from T2 ¥R
operations
2017 2016
—E—tF —E-RF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FETT
Profit before income tax P15 1 A2t ) 70,314 64,980
Finance costs & AR 32,487 31,894
Finance income B HE LA (2,545) (3,612)
Depreciation and amortisation — #7& &4 71,577 73,856
Gain on disposal of property, HEME - WEBRRES
plant and equipment g 2% (43) (162)
Share of profits less losses of  JE{GHE & A 5% F 6 & 12
associates (67,580) (72,009)

Operating profit before working &E & & 2 F) 2 & 2% F

capital changes 104,210 94,947
Increase in inventories FEEM (2,589) (425)
Decrease/(increase) in trade and JEUER 7k K2 H ith UG ZUR 4>~

other receivables (3 hn) 62,828 (16,987)
(Decrease)/increase in trade and JET IR EMbEN R CRiL ),/

other payables 0 (2,200) 9,280
Cash generated from operations #& & 153 & 162,249 86,815
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29 Notes to consolidated cash flow
statement (continued)
(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising
from financing activities

REMBRRME

29 MEBEREXRM T @)
(b) MEETHELENEBEHER

Liabilities from
financing activities

RMETBBAME
Amount
Bank due to a
borrowings shareholder Total
EN—A
IRITIER IR R IE et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FAET FAET FAET
As of 31 December 2016 R -ZF—X4E
+=—A=+—H (465,432) - (465,432)
Cash outflows/(inflows) Baeid/ (RA) 60,798 (220,000) (159,202)
Capitalisation and RITEEBANERL
amortisation of upfront fee M - F58
for bank facility fee, net 730 - 730
Foreign exchange R E)FHE
adjustments (36,362) - (36,362)
Accrued interest expenses  JEEF BB - (6,169) (6,169)
As of 31 December 2017 ~ RAZT—+4F
+=—BA=+—8 (440,266) (226,169) (666,435)
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30 Financial instruments by category 30 ZRERIZE S 2emIT A

Loans and
receivables
BRRERR
HK$’000
FAET
Assets as per consolidated balance sheet BGRABEEBRFAIREE
31 December 2016 —E-X&+=-A=+—H
Trade and other receivables (Note 18) FEUBR N & HAb fE R (f 7t 18) 95,621
Short-term bank deposits (Note 19) REBRITIE R (et 19) 13,475
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 20) ReRBEZEW(MZE20) 200,704
Total st 309,800
31 December 2017 —E—+F+-_A=+—H
Trade and other receivables (Note 18) JE MG B 3k B EL A SR (B A 18) 129,140
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 20) ReEMREEEBM(H7F20) 300,060
Total #Et 429,200
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
R 8 R AR
JIfRzeRmEE
HK$°000
F&TT
Liabilities as per consolidated balance sheet ZGEEEREBERITAEE
31 December 2016 —E-XRFT+-_A=+—H
Bank borrowings (Note 23) IRITIER(H7E23) 465,432
Trade and other payables (Note 26) FEATBR SR R Eo A AT SR (M 27 26) 68,433
Total “RET 533,865
31 December 2017 —E—+F+-_A=+—H
Bank borrowings (Note 23) IRITIER(H7F23) 440,266
Trade and other payables (Note 26) FEATBR SR R Eo A AT 3R (M 27 26) 46,958
Amount due to a shareholder (Note 24) FE — R BRI (H5t24) 226,169
Total Bt 713,393
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31 Balance sheet and reserve 31 ARRIEEEBXRNFES
movement of the Company &)
Balance sheet of the Company KRR EEEER
2017 2016
—E—tF A
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
P FBT FHET
ASSETS BE
Non-current asset FREBEE
Interests in subsidiaries N GIENGIPE T 11,499 10,656
Current assets REBEE
Other receivables H b U 5k 307 181
Amounts due from subsidiaries R SNGIE S ] 1,407,580 1,308,784
Cash and cash equivalents RELBEEFED 169,121 21,958
Total current assets B EEMAEE 1,577,008 1,330,923
Total assets EEMBE 1,588,507 1,341,579
EQUITY =
Capital and reserves RARERTE AENL
attributable to equity EXRK#E
holders of the Company
Share capital N 23,647 23,564
Reserves e a 1,089,919 1,095,083
Total equity R 1,113,566 1,118,647
LIABILITIES af&
Current liabilities REBEE
Amounts due to subsidiaries JEF I B A B F IR 247,442 221,609
Amounts due to a shareholder  JEff— &R 1A 226,169 -
Other payables E MR 1,330 1,323
Total current liabilities BB EAEE 474,941 222,932
Total equity and liabilities ERRkEEHAE 1,588,507 1,341,579
OEIl Kang, Eric LEUNG Wing Sum, Samuel
=/ REHR
Director Director
E2 E2
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REMBRRME

31 Balance sheet and reserve 31 ARAEEEBERRRAESE
movement of the Company B (m)
(continued) -
Note (a) Reserves movement of the MizE(a) XA RIHEEE
Company
Other
Share  Exchange reserve  Retained
premium reserve (Note)  earnings Total
Hib
BDEE ELEE (M) REEF ok
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTAT TAT FET THET FAT
Balance at 1 January 2016 R-ZB—RE
—A—Bz#&# 892,905 28,473 98,709 106,137 1,126,224
Currency translation differences  [ER B 25 - (76,495) - - (76,495)
Dividend paid BERRE - - - (9,426) (9,426)
Profit for the year REERF - - - 54,780 54,780
Balance at 31 December 2016 AZE—RE
+tZA=+—BZ&#H# 892,905 (48,022) 98,709 151,491 1,095,083
Balance at 1 January 2017 RZT—+F
—A—Hz&#% 892,905 (48,022) 98,709 151,491 1,095,083
Currency translation differences [EH BB =% - 91,563 - - 91,563
Dividend paid BERRE - - - (7,094) (7,094)
Exercise of warrants 1T R 1,831 - - - 1,831
Profit for the year REZFF - - - (91,464)  (91,464)
Balance at 31 December 2017 ~ RZZ—+F
+ZA=t+—-Bz#H 894,736 43,541 98,709 52,933 1,089,919

Note: The other reserve of the Company related to an acquisition prior to
1 January 2001 and continues to be held in reserves.

—=F
—=

—tFFR

Bret : ARRzEMEHR-FT—F-F—HApZ—
RWBERER YRR ERHETD -
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32 Benefits and interests of directors 32 BEERTHARZERN R
and chief executive officer %

The remuneration of every director and the chief executive ZEERTHREHNENDOT
office is set out below:

For the year ended 31 December 2017 BE—_E—+tE+-_A=+—HILEE
Employer's
contribution
toa
Discretionary  retirement
bonuses* benefit
Name of Director EENE Fees Salaries* (Note 3) scheme* Total
BERar  BiRetE
we e (HaE3)  ZEEHF @zt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tan Tan Thr FER TEn
OEl Kang, Eric!" =il 75 1,128 9% 18 1,315
LEUNG Wing Sum, Samuel REZ 75 633 85 18 811
WONG Jake Leong, Sammy ElER 75 627 52 18 2
YU Hon To, David BEE 180 - - _ 180
TIAN Yuchuan BE/ 180 - - - 180
ZHANG Songyi REE 180 - - - 180
765 2,388 231 54 3,438
# The amounts represented emoluments in respect of services # HEeBARCETEAQNANEWEATNESE
provided in connection with the management of the affairs of the BHEEE R TIEHBREHED -

Company or its subsidiaries undertaking.
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32 Benefits and interests of directors 32 BEERTHARZERN R

and chief executive officer (continued) = (&)
For the year ended 31 December 2016 HE-_Z—R"F+A=1+—HLFE
Employer’s
contribution
toa
Discretionary retirement
bonuses* benefit
Name of Director BENS Fees Salaries® (Note 3) scheme? Total
WiERar  BReE
ik e (f33)  2EEHEH @5
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET FET FAET TET
OEl Kang, Eric!" =Rl 75 1,115 93 18 1,301
LEUNG Wing Sum, Samuel RER 75 620 104 18 817
WONG Jake Leong, Sammy HHEHR 75 620 52 18 765
YU Hon To, David aER 150 - - - 150
TIAN Yuchuan BE/I 150 - - - 150
ZHANG Songyi® FESP 150 - - - 150
675 2,355 249 54 3,333
# The amounts represented emoluments in respect of services # HeBAREREEANAKENBRARNER
provided in connection with the management of the affairs of the AREBR T RERG N -

Company or its subsidiaries undertaking.

Notes: Bzt
(1) Mr. OEl Kang, Eric is the chief executive officer of the Group (1)  EMEEBREEZITHRER
(2)  Appointed on 1 January 2016 (2) RZE—RF-—A—HEZE
(3)  Discretionary bonuses are determined on the performance of (3) MIBTEANRIEESTZRBET

directors
During the year, no housing allowance, other benefits and REERN BMEESHETESTBHESX
remunerations in respect of accepting office as director ek R - EMEMNEMe (=
were paid to or receivable by the directors in respect of —REBERER) c ANEERN BIEES
their services as directors (2016: same). During the year, TEEBEANASEMBARISESEmMIZMH
no emoluments were paid or receivable by the directors BB EZ I ERME(ZE—RF
in respect of director’s other services in connection with ESAER) °

the management of the affairs of the Company or its
subsidiary undertaking (2016: same).
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32 Benefits and interests of directors
and chief executive officer (continued)

140

(A)

(B)

(©)

(D)

(E)

Directors’ retirement benefits

During the year, no retirement benefits were paid
to or receivable by the directors in respect of
their services as directors of the Company and its
subsidiaries or other services in connection with the
management of the affairs of the Company or its
subsidiary undertaking (2016: same).

Directors’ termination benefits

During the year, no payments or benefits in respect
of termination of directors’ services were paid or
made, directly or indirectly, to the directors; nor are
any payable (2016: Nil).

Consideration provided to third
parties for making available directors’
services

During the year, no consideration was provided to
or receivable by third parties for making available
directors’ services (2016: Nil).

Information about loans, quasi-

loans and other dealings in favour of
directors, controlled bodies corporate
by and connected entities with such
directors

During the year, there are no loans, quasi-loans
or other dealings in favour of the directors, their
controlled bodies corporate and connected entities
(2016: Nil).

Directors’ material interests in
transactions, arrangements or
contracts

Save as disclosed in note 23 “Bank borrowings”
and note 28 “Related party transactions” to the
consolidated financial statements, the transactions
with HKC and its subsidiaries and in which Mr.
OEIl Kang, Eric was interested, no significant
transactions, arrangements and contracts in relation
to the Group’s business to which the Company was
a party and in which a director of the Company had
a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during
the year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #& B EH|EMEE

TENBLRIRBEE D
TRUSEERAUAREEMR REE
FEERTEYE 2 WBARRBERT -

33 Principal subsidiaries and associates 33

Listed below are the subsidiaries and associates which,
in the opinion of the directors, principally affect the result
and/or net assets of the Group.

Place of Issued
incorporation/ share capital/ Percentage of equity/
operation and Paid up Paid up registered
Name kind of legal entity Principal activities registered capital capital held
AMAL EEBBR BRATRE/BHIM fiisEs BEZMER
£ reERRR TEER &5 B
2017 2016
—E-tE —E-RE
Subsidiaries
HEAR
China Renewable Energy (Nanxun) Limited* Hong Kong/PRC Investment holding HK$1 100% -
HEBERR(ER)ERRA" &E/HE EEER 1B
China Renewable Energy (Services) Limited Hong Kong Human resources HK$1 100% 100%
management
TEBLRR(ER)BERAF B ANERER 18T
China Renewable Energy (Songxian) Limited* Hong Kong/PRC Investment holding HK$1 100% 100%
TEBERR(EH)ERRA" &E/HE REER 1B
HKC (Linyi) Holdings Limited* Hong Kong/PRC Investment holding HK$1 100% 100%
EERR (BN ERERRA! B/ HE REER 1B
HKE (Da He) Holdings Limited* Hong Kong/PRC Investment holding HK$1 100% 100%
ERMER(ON)EREBR R B/ REER 18T
HKE (Danjinghe) Wind Power Limited* Hong Kong/PRC Investment holding HK$4 100% 100%
ERMER(ERT)EEERAR Bk /HE REER 4B
HKE (Gansu) Wind Power Limited* Hong Kong/PRC Investment holding HK$1 100% 100%
ERMER(HB) ERERRA" &E/HE REER 1B
Hong Kong New Energy (Si Zi Wang Qi) Hong Kong/PRC Investment holding HK$2 100% 100%
Wind Power Limited*
EEMER(OF IR BEEERAR" Bk HHE REER 28T
Hong Kong New Energy (Si Zi Wang Qi Il) Hong Kong/PRC Investment holding HK$1,000 100% 100%
Wind Power Limited*
BEEMER(NTIE_M)REERARF B,/ REER 1,000/ 7T
Sinoriver International (Wind Power) Limited* Hong Kong/PRC Investment holding HK$20 100% 100%
FIIER(RE)FRAF" B/ HE RERR 20T
HKE (BVI) Limited* British Virgin Islands Investment holding US$1 100% 100%
ERMERBVVERAF" RRRAES REER e
HKE (Wind Power) Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands Investment holding US$1 100% 100%
EEMER(AE) EREBRAF HERUES REER E
HKE Danjinghe (BVI) Wind Power Limited* British Virgin Islands Investment holding US$1,000 100% 100%
EEMERERTBV)EFERAR" REELHES REER 1,000%7T
Sinoriver International Limited* British Virgin Islands/PRC  Investment holding US$1 100% 100%
FIERERAR" RERTES,/HE REER 1%L
APC Wind Power Pte Limited* Singapore Investment holding SGD10 100% 100%
s RERK 103 A0 7T
Asia Wind Power (Mudanjiang) Company Ltd.* PRC/Sino-foreign equity ~ Wind Power project in HK$100,000,000 86% 86%
joint venture Heilongjiang, the PRC
SHENEE(HAHT)ERRA" RE/RNEELE REERETIZEN 100,000,0007% 7
HEER
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33 Principal subsidiaries and associates 33

142

REMBRRME

TEMBARIRBEERT

(continued) (78 )
Place of Issued
incorporation/ share capital/ Percentage of equity/
operation and Paid up Paid up registered
Name kind of legal entity Principal activities registered capital capital held
MR, EEBBR BRITRABHEMR Figks, BREmER
A% rRERsR TEER BX B
2017 2016
“E-tE ZERF
Subsidiaries
KEAR
Hong Kong Wind Power (Muling) Co. Ltd.* PRC/Sino-foreign equity ~ Wind Power project in HK$150, 100,000 86.68% 86.68%
joint venture Heilongjiang, the PRC
ERRNEE(BE)BERAR)! RE/RINEELE RHEBETIZEN 150,100,0007C
RHEEA
BENERN T TEREERAR" PRC wholly foreign-owned Wind Power project in RMB 166,480,000 100% 100%
enterprise Siziwang Qi, Inner
Mongolia, the PRC
PESEBELER REEARENFERZ AR #166,480,0007C
EWLESEE!
BEEHERN T TEREERAR" PRC wholly foreign-owned Wind power project in RMB172,526,500 100% 100%
enterprise Siziwang Qi, Inner
Mongolia, the PRC
TENEBELE RPEARANFEEZ AR¥172,526,5007C
EWIE £
Songxian HKE Wind Power Limited* PRC wholly foreign-owned Wind Power project in RMB 149,000,000 100% 100%
enterprise Songxian, Henan,
the PRC
BHEEREERAA PESEEELE REEAHES AK#149,000,0007
EWEESEE!
Huzhou HKE Energy Limited** PRC wholly foreign-owned Distributed solar project RMB6,000,000 100% -
enterprise in Nanxun, Zhejiang,
the PRC
MM EREATRERAE REIEBECE RAEHIIEEL AR #6,000,0007T
AAARGRIRE
Associates
BEQT
CECIC HKC (Gansu) Wind Power PRC/Sino-foreign equity ~ Wind power project in RMB589,620,000 40% 40%
Company Limited** joint venture Changma, Gansu,
the PRC
REEAR(HR AN EEERAA" HE/THEELE RPEHHEESZ AR #589,620,0007C
BHEEREE
CECIC HKC Wind Power Company Limited** PRC/Sino-foreign equity ~ Wind power project in RMB545,640,000 40% 40%
joint venture Danjinghe, Hebei,
the PRC
RERERR BB (RIL) FRAFN RE/RINEECE RAETILERTZ AR #545,640,0007T
ENHEER
CECIC HKE Wind Power Company Limited** PRC/Sino-foreign equity ~ Wind power project in RMB323,260,000 30% 30%
joint venture Lunaobao, Hebei,
the PRC
RERERENEE (R ARRA" HE/RHNEELE MR B2 AR#:323,260,0007C
EWLESEE!
Remarks: it -
* Interest held by subsidiaries * EEEEARFEA
# Unofficial English transliterations or translations for identification # FEEAEXFENBIE - EMHBF -

purpose only.

China Renewable Energy Investment Limited |

Annual Report 2017



FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
HFEEE

2017 2016 2015 2014 2013
—E-tF X% -1 T-WmF ZT—=%F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR FiET FHT FET FHET

Consolidated statement of REEEBARE

comprehensive income
Revenue Wz 131,343 130,998 132,919 97,334 113,744
Profit before income tax F{S Bi A& F 70,314 64,980 45,021 14,883 33,990
Income tax expense FrSHs i (9,364) (6,834) (5,669) (1,922) (6,382)

60,950 58,146 (5,669) (1,922) (6,382)

Profit for the year REE A 60,950 58,146 39,352 12,961 27,608
Non-controlling interests S (620) 2,952 1,102 1,501 586
Profit attributable KRB ZEE ARG

to equity holders of il

the Company 60,330 61,098 40,454 14,462 28,194
Consolidated balance sheet  GABEBESR
Net current assets TREEEFE 64,685 147,590 106,346 194,337 69,001
Non-current assets FERBEE 2,062,779 1,830,617 2,005,566 2,188,493 2,324,548
Non-current liabilities eI (384,107) (414,536) (504,946) (623,970) (602,176)
Net assets including non- EEFERSE

controlling interests IR 1,743,357 1,563,671 1,606,966 1,758,860 1,791,373
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

T FEHMBHRE

2017 2016 2015 2014 2013
—E—tE  ZE-Rf CZE-RFf —E-@mF —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHT THT FHT FAT
Share capital BRA 23,647 23,564 23,564 26,564 26,564
Reserves =1 1,721,779 1,542,629 1,583,123 1,730,951 1,761,767
Non-controlling interests FEER = (2,069) (2,522) 279 1,345 3,042
Total equity B 1,743,357 1,563,671 1,606,966 1,758,860 1,791,373
Earnings per share BREN
- basic (HK cents) —EARCE) 2.56 2.59 1.72 0.61 1.20
Dividend per share BRRE
- attributable to the year —REE MG
(HK cents) (L) 0.3 0.4 Nil & Nil Nil
Return on total equity (note) — EzBEEIHRE (M) 3.50% 3.72% 2.45% 0.74% 1.54%
Note: btet -

Return on total equity represents the current year’s profit/loss for the year
expressed as a percentage of the closing total equity for the year concerned.
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